

Olivia couldn't deny that something real flared between them. Something more than sexual.

But if she kissed him, she had the sense that nothing in her life would ever be the same....

Dear Reader,

I'm thrilled to be writing one of the Harlequin Intrigue 25th Anniversary books. More Than a Man was a very special project for me. I love to write strong alpha males who are tortured by problems that most of us couldn't even imagine. Noah Fielding is one of those men. Then he meets Olivia Stapler, the woman who could be his soul mate. Nothing is more exciting to me than developing a passionate relationship for my characters against a background of suspense and danger. I hope their story gives you as much pleasure in the reading as it gave me in the writing.

Enjoy!

Rebecca York

REBECCA YORK

RUTH GLICK WRITING AS REBECCA YORK

MORE THAN A MAN



TORONTO • NEW YORK • LONDON

AMSTERDAM • PARIS • SYDNEY • HAMBURG
STOCKHOLM • ATHENS • TOKYO • MILAN • MADRID
PRAGUE • WARSAW • BUDAPEST • AUCKLAND

To Norman, who is always there for me.

## ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Award-winning, bestselling novelist Ruth Glick, who writes as Rebecca York, is the author of more than one hundred books, including her popular 43 Light Street series for Harlequin Intrigue. Ruth says she has the best job in the world. Not only does she get paid for telling stories; she's also the author of twelve cookbooks. Ruth and her husband, Norman, travel frequently, researching locales for her novels and searching out new dishes for her cookbooks.

Books by Rebecca York

HARLEQUIN INTRIGUE

706—PHANTOM LOVER\*

717—INTIMATE STRANGERS\*

745—BOYS IN BLUE

"Jordan"

765—OUT OF NOWHERE\* 783—UNDERCOVER ENCOUNTER 828—SPELLBOUND\* 885—RILEY'S RETRIBUTION 912—THE SECRET NIGHT\* 946—CHAIN REACTION 994—ROYAL LOCKDOWN 1017—RETURN OF THE WARRIOR\* 1072—SOLDIER CAGED\* 1089—CHRISTMAS SPIRIT 1150—MORE THAN A MAN\* **CAST OF CHARACTERS** Noah Fielding—What was his secret? Sidney Hemmings—Was the doctor Noah's friend or foe? Olivia Stapler—She was in trouble, and Noah could help. Thomas Northrop—Noah's chief of staff. Simon Northrop—Thomas's son had always mistrusted Noah. Pearson Stapler—Olivia's brother was her worst enemy. Gary Carlson—Wanted revenge on Noah because of his brother Eddie's death. Jarred Bainbridge—Would do anything to learn Noah's secret. Agent Barenson—Was he really with the FBI?

## **Contents**

Chapter One

Chapter Two

Chapter Three

Chapter Four
Chapter Five
Chapter Six
Chapter Seven
Chapter Eight
Chapter Nine
Chapter Ten
Chapter Eleven
Chapter Twelve
Chapter Thirteen
Chapter Fourteen
Chapter Fifteen
Chapter Sixteen
Chapter One
"We're too late. They're all dead."
The words drifted toward Noah Fielding as though they were part of a dream. Or a nightmare.
An all-too-familiar nightmare.
Other people spoke around him, the sounds reaching him in a confused babble.
As he hovered in a twilight zone between life and death, paralysis held him in a viselike grip. He couldn't move. Not even twitch a finger. He knew he wasn't breathing because a terrible weight pressed against his chest holding his lungs immobile. His limbs might have been sunk into cement.
Don't panic. You know you can get through this. Don't panic.He repeated the words over and over in his mind, fighting to ground himself.
A commanding voice cut through the shock and confusion around him.
"Get them out of there."
The order came from
Noah should know the man's name. He tried to call it up, but his mind had turned into a pool of treacle.

He felt hands on his body tug him. Someone grabbed him under the arms and pulled him from the experimental submarine, then laid him on the metal deck of the...

Again, he drew a blank.

He could feel hot sun on his face and the boat rocking under his body. More sensations.

"Get the doc."

"It's too late for that."

His mind struggled to make connections. What language were the men speaking?

Farsi? Eighteenth-century French? Russian?

As they spoke, the words fell into a recognizable pattern. The men were speaking English. Late twentieth century. Or maybe twenty-first.

Twenty-first century. Yes. That was the time period. He remembered that now. And he clutched at the fact.

Were they speaking of a doc or a dock?

A sudden coughing fit shattered his concentration.

All around him he heard excited exclamations.

"Fielding's alive."

Noah's eyes blinked open and he stared up into the face of...Ken Dupont. The doctor. The doc.

When Noah struggled to sit up, the man put a hand on his shoulder. "Don't move."

He tried to speak and was caught in another coughing fit as his lungs struggled to function again.

Someone else spoke. "When we lost communication, we thought you were all dead. How did you get the sub out of there?" Captain Sampson was asking the question, his voice sharp. He was the one who had given the orders before.

Noah focused on him. "I..." Again he started coughing, cutting off his explanation. But the whole picture was coming back to him now.

He was ninety miles off the coast of Grand Cayman Island, on a scientific exploration ship—Neptune's Promise. The mission was to test an experimental submarine called The Fortune.

This was the second day of diving. He and three other men had gone down into the 25,000-foot trench off the island. Everything had been fine, until Eddie Carlson had gotten over-enthusiastic and maneuvered them into a passage between two rock formations—where the sub had gotten stuck. They'd tried everything they could to get out. But the craft wouldn't budge and they were running out of air.

There was no other submarine in the area that could dive so deeply. Nobody who could rescue them.

When the rest of the crew had passed out from lack of oxygen, Noah had willed himself to stay conscious. He'd staggered to the controls and made one last desperate attempt to free the machine. He remembered silently saying a prayer to any god who would listen as he backed up and rammed forward, like the driver of a car stuck in snow. Apparently the maneuver had freed them.

After that, everything was pretty fuzzy. But he must have set a course for the surface, because the sub had made it up here. Only it sounded like it had been too late for the rest of the crew.

Damn. They were all good men. Dead because he'd dragged them down there with him.

He caught himself up short in the middle of the accusation. They'd jumped at the chance to crew the sub. They simply ignored the risks.

In the background Noah heard people talking. Talking abouthim.

"Something I didn't like about that guy."

"He thinks he can do anything he wants' cause he's got the big bucks."

"Probably hogged the oxygen."

He understood the need to assign blame. And understood that the rich, handsome adventurer, Noah Fielding, was a convenient target.

Still, he heard himself protesting, "No."

The captain's voice cut through the muttering of the crew, telling them to cool it until they had the full story.

Two men brought a stretcher and lifted Noah onto it. He knew it wasn't easy maneuvering his one hundred seventy pound, six-foot frame down the companionway, but they managed to do it without dropping him.

Below deck, he lay on the exam table in the infirmary, letting Dr. Dupont poke and prod him.

"You're in good shape. It looks like you were damn lucky," the medic said.

Noah pushed himself to a sitting position. "I've got an iron constitution. And that rebreather thing kept me going." His voice caught. "I'm just sorry it didn't save the others."

"Yeah." Dupont walked to the door and stuck out his head. "You can talk to him now."

Captain Sampson came in, his gaze hard. "Do you remember what happened?"

Noah struggled not to tense up. He had nothing to hide. Well, nothing that mattered to Sampson or the rest of the crew of Neptune's Promise.

"It got pretty fuzzy at the end. I was functioning on hardly any oxygen, so I don't know if I can be perfectly accurate. The Fortune wedged into a rock formation. After Eddie passed out, I was able to

shake us free."

"I thought you were just financing the expedition. I didn't realize you could operate the sub."

"I've picked up a lot of skills over the years," he clipped out, hoping that was enough of an explanation—and hoping he wasn't going to have to fight his way out of here. He knew it was natural for the men to resent his miraculous escape and his money. He was alive. The crew who had gone down with him in the sub were dead. But that wasn't his fault. All he'd done was survive.

NEPTUNE'S Promisereturned to George Town. As soon as the craft docked, Noah left the ship and headed for the luxury B and B where he was staying.

He knew the captain had already informed the men's families of their deaths. After closing the door to his room, he made condolence calls to the widows.

The deaths were like a raw wound in his gut. He couldn't bring the men back, but he could arrange to transfer a million dollars to each of the wives. At least that would make the next few years easier for them and their children.

Guilt gnawed at him. He and the crew had carefully gone over procedures, and the craft should have been safe. Maybe if he'd used another pilot, they would have avoided disaster.

Noah had liked Eddie Carlson, most especially his sense of humor and sense of adventure. Now Noah was second-guessing himself and thinking that the guy was too reckless to have been at the controls. If he'd stayed in open water, everybody would have come back alive.

Live and learn, he told himself.

Twenty minutes after he'd closed the door to his room, a two-man team from the local constabulary showed up. One was a brisk little dark-skinned cop named Inspector Dangerford. In his fifties and balding, he was accompanied by a younger, taller assistant named Sergeant Wilkins, who mostly let his boss do the talking.

Noah knew the inspector's type. Nice and polite—until he thought he had something on you. Then he'd get his sidekick to whip out the handcuffs and march you off to an interrogation room where you might or might not undergo some physical persuasion.

Noah had a lot of practice answering questions—hostile and otherwise. Dangerford asked a lot of them in his soft island accent, approaching each point from several different angles, but he couldn't shake Noah's story that he'd strapped on the rebreather and hoped for the best.

From the first, it was clear the cops were just on a fishing expedition, hoping Noah would make some kind of mistake and incriminate himself in the deaths of the other men.

But he stuck to his guns, repeating the same story over and over. He hadn't done anything illegal or immoral. He didn't know why he was alive and the other men were dead.

Strictly speaking, that was the absolute truth.

At the end of the interview, Dangerford asked him to stay in town until the investigation of the incident was completed.

Noah politely declined, and because he wasn't under arrest for anything, they had to back off.

When they asked for his address, he gave them the condo he owned in San Francisco. He wasn't there often, but he paid the security staff to maintain his privacy.

Although he'd planned to stay on the island for a couple of weeks, he felt a sudden urge to get out of the sun. Picking up the phone, he booked a flight to the West Coast with High Fliers, a company that sold shares in private jet planes to rich passengers who wanted to travel in comfort to various destinations around the world.

ASNOAH'S PLANEflew over Las Vegas, an interesting conversation was taking place in a studio apartment in a run-down part of the desert gambling oasis.

"You must be crazy." Olivia Stapler gave her brother a hard stare, struggling not to spit in his face after the hateful suggestion he'd made.

Pearson's response was a nasty smile. "If you don't do this, I'll tell Dad that you're working as a prostitute."

"That's a bald-faced lie!"

"What would you call it?"

"I'm working for an escort service."

His laugh was even nastier than the smile. "You expect him to believe that? An escort service in Las Vegas. He hated the idea of your coming here in the first place. Now he's going toknow you're wallowing in sin."

A sick feeling rose in her throat. Her dad was in a nursing home back in Paterson, New Jersey. After two strokes he was paralyzed on one side and barely functional, and he'd always favored her brother.

If Pearson said Olivia was a prostitute, her dad would believe it, and it would kill him.

After delivering his threat, Pearson softened his approach.

"And there's money in it for you, too. A lot more than you ever saw."

"I earned good money dancing," she shot back.

He made a snorting sound. "In a chorus line?"

"Yes! And I had a featured part."

"Well, you had to kiss all that goodbye. So you might as well get used to being a gimp."

The cruel gibe made her want to rush her brother and beat him with her fists. But he'd only start slapping her around, and she'd be in worse shape than she was now. From where she sat, it was too bad she'd focused all her energy on her dance career, but she'd been young and sure that she had what it took to make it.

While she was still in high school, she'd saved money from her after-school job at Macy's. As soon as she'd graduated, she'd bought a bus ticket to Las Vegas.

With her long legs and years of dance training, she'd been instantly hired by one of the smaller reviews on the strip. Six months later, she'd applied to one of the top shows and gotten in. Her boss had told her she was on the fast track to being offered a starring role.

That was then. Her reality was a lot different now, after a drunk driver had plowed into her in the casino parking lot.

She was still trying to pay off her hospital bills and her physical therapy bills. She'd even reached the point where she knew she should apply for food stamps. Then, at least, she could be sure of eating regular meals.

Pearson must have seen the defeated look on her face, because he visibly relaxed. "It's going to be easy. I got the idea from that guy who ran for president. The one who got caught in a hotel room in L.A. with his mistress."

"That was a longtime affair."

Pearson waved her to silence. "Whatever. The point is, some men have a lot to lose if they get nailed in the wrong bed with a blond looker like you. Let me tell you how we're going to work it."

As she listened, she clenched her fists, her mind scrambling for a way to thwart her brother's plans.

NOAH LANDEDat LAX and collected his luggage from the flight crew, then picked up his Lexus hybrid in the private lot. Once he was on the highway, he pulled his cell phone from the glove compartment, plugged it into the cigarette lighter and called home.

His man, Thomas Northrop, answered.

"I've landed. I'm in the car and I'll be there in two or three hours, depending on the traffic."

"We're glad to have you back." Thomas paused. His voice was sober when he began to speak again. "I'm sorry about what happened on The Fortune. I know you have to be grieving for those men."

"Yes, thanks," Noah answered. He and Thomas were old friends. Or at least as friendly as a man like Noah could get withanyone. "Anything I should know about?" he asked.

"You have four e-mails from that doctor—Sidney Hemmings."

"Is something wrong?"

"He's inviting you to a medical research conference in Las Vegas. He says that would be the perfect

opportunity for the two of you to meet. He's holding a complimentary place for you."

"Yeah, he mentioned it a couple of months ago. I'm still thinking about it," Noah answered. He'd been corresponding with Hemmings for fifteen years—first by mail and then by e-mail. The doctor was doing some of the most interesting work in the field of longevity and he was a presenter as well as an organizer of the international conference.

Noah was caught between his innate caution and his desire to meet the brilliant researcher face-to-face.

"I'll think about it," he said. He'd detected a subtle note of disquiet in Thomas's tone. "Anything else?"

His chief of staff cleared his throat, then spoke in a halting voice. "Simon is home."

Noah sucked in a breath. Simon was Thomas's older son. And in following long-standing tradition, he should have been the one to take over from his father. But Simon had never been an easy child to deal with, and in his teen years, he'd exhibited some mental instability that had evolved into paranoid schizophrenic episodes.

Noah had paid for his treatment at a very expensive private mental hospital in the Bay Area. With medication, he'd been able to leave the hospital and had been living in Half Moon Bay, working at one of the many garden centers in the town.

"He quit his job and came home," Thomas said. "I think he might be off his meds."

"Thanks for the heads-up."

"I'm sorry."

"Not your fault. We'll deal with it."

"He's been asking questions about you," Thomas continued. "Questions I won't answer."

"I'm sorry to put you in that position."

"As you said, it's not your fault."

They talked for a few more minutes about the young man as Noah drove north, looking with disgust at the brown haze hanging over the coastline.

By the time he reached Santa Barbara, the sky looked better. Continuing north of town, he turned off on a two-lane road that wound through stands of sycamores, live oaks and mounds of pampas grass.

It was a landscape he liked, a landscape he hoped he wouldn't have to abandon anytime soon.

He had a good chance of realizing that ambition, because the location of his home was secret. When he'd changed his name twenty years ago, he'd made sure that nobody knew where the man named Noah Fielding really lived. His mail came to a post office box. His bank was out of state. And he could handle transactions over the Internet. In fact, there were no clues leading to his current location, and he meant to keep it that way.

GARYCarlson arrived on Grand Cayman just after Noah had checked out of his bed-and-breakfast. Gary was the brother of Eddie Carlson, the man who had been piloting The Fortune when it had gone down.

Eddie and Gary had been close, and he was having trouble coping with his brother's death. He was also wondering why Noah Fielding felt compelled to transfer a million dollars to the widows of the men who had been in the submarine with him.

As soon as his plane landed, Gary went directly to the police station and tried to get the straight scoop on what had happened below the turquoise waters of the Caribbean.

The cops were sympathetic, but they wouldn't give him anything beyond basic information because the incident was still under investigation.

Next he talked to the captain and crew of Neptune's Promise, which was docked in George Town.

There were mixed reactions from the crew. Some thought the rich man who had backed the expedition, Noah Fielding, had sacrificed the other men to save himself. Others thought Fielding was just a lucky son of a bitch.

Whichever it was, Gary wanted to talk to him. But nobody seemed to have his address and nobody knew how to get in touch with him.

After thirty-six hours on the island, his anger and frustration building, he knew he wasn't going to get any information on his own. He wasn't a patient man under the best of circumstances, and he suspected his grief was affecting his judgment.

But he wasn't willing to drop the inquiry into his brother's death. Once back in Baltimore he looked up a local outfit he'd heard about—the Light Street Detective Agency—and hired them to tell him where to find Fielding.

PULLINGup at the entrance to his walled estate, Noah used his remote control. The gate swung open, then closed behind him as he drove toward the sprawling house.

The landscaping along the winding driveway took advantage of the dry climate, interspersing huge boulders with yuccas, cacti and native plants like manzanita. Rounding a curve, he caught sight of the house which was mostly one story but jutted up to a second floor in several locations.

Home.

It was based on the design of an ancient pueblo village that he'd seen long ago and admired for the simplicity of its lines. He'd drawn up plans and started building the house himself, on acreage he'd acquired years earlier while using a different name. It was the site of an old ranch that the family had never been able to make a go of. They'd been glad to unload it to the eccentric gentleman from San Francisco. Noah had found it the perfect solution to his need for privacy. An estate out in the dry, brown hills.

The first dwelling had consisted of five rooms, but he'd added on to it over the years, hiring local

workmen to help him with the construction. The house wasn't the only building on the grounds. He had a workshop, a lab, a stable, a number of storage buildings and a fully equipped gym spread out around the property.

Thomas must have been waiting for a signal from the gate because he stepped outside the front door and waited for the car to pull to a stop.

Noah slowed, studying the man as he walked toward the Lexus. He'd been with Noah for a long time, and now he was in his sixties. He still stood straight and tall, and his mind was as sharp as ever. But there were little signs that he was getting on in years, like his receding hairline and the sagging skin under his chin. He wouldn't be here forever, and Noah would have to face that sad truth sooner or later.

He pulled to a stop, put the vehicle in park and pressed the button to open the trunk.

Thomas stepped forward. "Let me help you."

"No need."

As Noah walked around to the trunk, he caught a flash of movement and looked up to see Simon appear in the doorway.

Moving slowly and deliberately, he approached Noah and his father.

"I've been waiting for you."

"It's good to see you," Noah answered evenly, as he studied the son of his old friend, trying to figure out how this would go. One thing he knew: he didn't like the look in the young man's eyes or the tone of his voice.

Simon answered with a laugh that made the hair on Noah's scalp prickle. "You can't fool me. You hate me."

"Of course not."

"You and my father. You've always been against me."

"Let's go inside and talk." And I'll contact the hospital and have them pick you up.

"You're hiding something from me."

"No. Let's go in and I'll tell you everything."

Hope bloomed in Simon's eyes, and Noah thought he had broken through.

But the moment passed. "It's too late for that."

Simon pulled a gun from under his jacket.

Thomas's eyes widened. "Put that away."

The young man aimed the weapon at his father.

"You don't want to hurt him," Noah called out.

The weapon swung toward Noah who was calculating his chances of disarming the kid before something bad happened.

As the three of them confronted each other, Simon focused on his father again.

"If you won't tell me what I want to know, then you're going to die."

As Simon raised the gun, Noah acted on instinct. Leaping forward, he pushed Thomas out of the way.

He heard an explosion, felt the impact of a bullet slamming into his chest. He crashed to the ground and as he lay in the driveway, another bullet made him jerk.

"Stop. For God's sake, stop." That was Thomas shouting at his son. Then he called out, "Help. Somebody help."

Noah's gaze swung toward his friend's voice, but it was too much effort to keep his eyes focused. Everything around him was dimming.

He heard running footsteps, then scuffling sounds.

"Get the hell off me." That was Simon. He started babbling threats, his voice fading as someone dragged him away from the bloody scene.

Thomas knelt over Noah. "I'm sorry. So sorry."

Chapter Two

Noah felt hands on his body and heard a babble of voices.

"Careful. Get him to his bed."

"He needs a doctor."

"Forget it! He's done for."

"It's not as bad as it looks." That was Thomas, calm and sure as always.

They laid him down.

"Leave me with him. I can take care of this."

The chaos faded into the background. Gently Thomas unbuttoned Noah's shirt. Now that they were alone, his old friend drew in a sharp breath.

Noah could imagine the horrible wounds the man was seeing. He had seen many like them over the years.

His lips moved, but no sound came out. He tried to cling to consciousness, but staying awake was

beyond his ability, and he drifted away to another reality. To a time long ago.

He was an eleven-or twelve-year-old boy named Edmond George, crying and wandering through a squalid little village. Everyone else was dead from the great pestilence. That's what they called it then. Not the black death.

He was weak from starvation when a group of friars came through the area, praying for the victims.

"A miracle. It's a miracle that God spared this boy's life," the leader of the group proclaimed as he laid his hands on Edmond's head.

They took him to their monastery and nursed him back to health.

His memories leaped twenty-five years ahead in time. He was a lean-bodied, dark-haired man who never caught the passing illnesses that plagued the rest of the brothers. And he was no longer an uneducated lout. He was a well-read man, versed in all the important disciplines of his time, highly respected by many in the monastery. Except for the ones who whispered that his health and good fortune came from the devil.

Those were violent times, even in the church. He was in line to be the abbot when a rival poisoned him. When he didn't die, the devil whispers became a chorus.

One night he fought off a savage attack and fled, bleeding from a host of stab wounds.

Staggering into an abandoned hut, he prayed to God for a favorable reception into heaven and waited to die. Instead, he awakened in the morning, amazed that he was still breathing and that the holes in his flesh had closed themselves. Another miracle.

He was alive. He didn't know why, but he felt a burning desire to stay that way. The monks had taught him scruples, but they had tried to kill him, too.

Quickly he realized that his situation called for desperate measures. With no money and no place in the world, he stole a horse from the stable at a nearby inn, then robbed the occupants of a coach that was making a rest stop along the road.

While the Earl of Bradford was relieving himself behind a tree, Edmond acquired the man's trunk full of clothing and also enough money to live on while he figured out his next move, which was to one of the Italian city-states.

With his classical education, his dark good looks and the political savvy he'd acquired at the monastery, he set himself up as an expert on religious artifacts, which he exported to England at very advantageous prices. He'd also acquired his first mistress and discovered the pleasures of the flesh.

His mind took another leap—this time skipping a hundred years.

He was Miguel Santana who had made a fortune in the wine trade and was one of the backers of a Spanish expedition to the new world. He'd funded three ships and a crew with the proviso that he traveled with the explorers across the Atlantic and then inland across a vast continent, looking for gold and trading with the natives they met.

The party found no gold and turned around, but Miguel Santana slipped away from the explorers and

stayed in the new world, where he eventually set himself up as an apprentice to an Indian shaman.

His mind bridged another wide gap.

He was Justin Glasgow, a rich San Francisco settler who had moved south and bought a piece of backcountry property in the hills north of Santa Barbara, where he'd built himself a comfortable estate. Then Justin had "died" and left the property to "his nephew," William Emerson, who had eventually passed it on to his own nephew, Noah Fielding, the man he was now.

He should have another twenty or thirty years before he had to change his name again.

As that thought settled in his mind, he opened his eyes. When he turned his head, he saw Thomas sitting in a chair beside the bed.

"How are you?" his chief of staff asked.

"I'll live," he answered, then barked out a laugh. "I always live."

"Is that so bad?" Thomas asked in a low voice.

"What's worse, do you think? Dying with everyone else when global warming or some man-made plague kills the population of the planet or still being here?"

Of course, there was no answer to the riddle. Just as there was no answer to the riddle of Edmond George or Miguel Santana or Justin Glasgow.

After seven hundred years on earth and millions of dollars spent on research, he still didn't know why he never got sick and his body was blessed—or cursed—with the ability to heal any injury.

He stopped thinking about himself as he took in Thomas's weary countenance.

"You look like you've been up for days."

"I'm fine."

"What did you tell the gawkers?" he asked.

"That Simon was using blanks. That the wounds looked worse than they really were."

"Did they buy it?"

"If not, they're keeping quiet about it."

Noah thought for a moment. "Maybe it might be a good idea for me to take up Dr. Hemmings on his offer to attend that New Frontiers in Longevity conference in Las Vegas. Getting away from the estate for a week or so might be prudent."

"Yes." Thomas cleared his throat. "Simon is back at Gray-field Sanatorium."

Noah blew out a breath.

Thomas continued with his explanation. "I, uh, bound him and confined him to his room before they got here to pick him up."

"That must have been...difficult for you."

"Yes, but it was necessary. When they got here, I told them the story about the blanks. They have him back in the locked wing and back on medication. He was sounding pretty confused. If we're lucky, maybehe will even buy the story that he didn't really want to kill anyone."

Thomas made a frustrated sound. "He's been obsessed with you for a long time. I used to catch him sneaking into the warehouses you have on the estate, looking through your memorabilia."

Noah laughed. "Warehouses packed with stuff I should have thrown out long ago."

"I understand why you want to keep things from your past. They're your continuity."

"Yeah, but someone may get the idea that I've been doing a brisk business in stolen Anasazi pots and Maya stelae. Maybe it's time for some housecleaning and some discreet donations to a couple of deserving museums."

Thomas shrugged. "Do you want some help?"

"I'll leave it until after the conference."

Thomas turned the conversation back to his son. "Simon was always jealous of our relationship. He always knew there was something special about you."

Noah nodded. "I'm sorry you have to go through this."

"Not your fault. The bad genes are just surfacing after all these years."

Noah pushed himself to a sitting position and winced as a healing scar pulled. "Stop. You don't have bad genes. Or at least no worse than anyone else. You've read the articles on what's happening to American kids. Simon's probably just a victim of pesticides or air pollution or heavy metals in the water."

Thomas nodded.

"You've proved you're my friend over and over."

"And you mine," Thomas said. "You've done so much for my family over the years."

The Northrop family had worked for Noah since the seventeenth century. Thomas's ancestor had arrived in the New World as an indentured servant, worked for a time on a plantation in Virginia, then escaped a cruel master. Noah had been on a trip east to find out how civilization was progressing on the coast. He'd been posing as a trapper when he'd saved Wade Northrop from a slit throat after the master had caught up with him, and he'd had the loyalty of the family ever since.

Thomas had been born right here on the estate. Noah had known him from birth, watched him toddle around the family quarters, tutored him at home until he was ten, then sent him to a top prep school, where he was already ahead of the other pupils. He'd earned a place at Stanford and graduated with honors. And he'd been in charge of Noah's estate ever since his father, Philip, had turned over the reins

to him.

"Maybe Jason can take on the responsibility," Noah murmured.

Jason was Thomas's second son. He was still a little young to be trusted with the family secret. They'd have to watch him and see how he shaped up.

Noah reached to adjust the pillows more comfortably behind himself and winced again.

"You should rest," Thomas said.

"I should get out of bed and go down to the lab to prove that story about the blanks."

When he heaved himself up and grabbed the bedpost to keep from falling over, he saw Thomas's lips firm. He knew the man wanted him back in bed. But he had far more experience with his recuperative abilities than his chief of staff. Hundreds of years of experience, and he knew that whether he rested or went back to work, the outcome would be the same. The only difference was in the level of discomfort. Maybe he was after discomfort—as payment for the miracle of his life.

JARREDBainbridge clenched his fist and waited for the spasm in his rib cage to pass. He had always had a high pain tolerance, which was why he was able to get through most days without a heavy dose of medication. At night, he let himself drift away in a narcotic fog and dream of a cure for the very nasty disease that had its hooks into him.

Multiple myeloma. A cancer of the bone marrow where malignant cells replaced healthy plasma-producing cells and left the patient weak and susceptible to infection.

Thirty years ago, Jarred had inherited the Bainbridge manufacturing fortune and had diversified into a host of other business ventures—from computer software to upscale dog food—to ensure the growth of that wealth.

Unfortunately, money hadn't kept him healthy. He'd done extensive research and he knew there was no cure for multiple myeloma—only stopgap measures, the most drastic of which was bone marrow transplant. Jarred wasn't willing to take that risk yet. He'd be letting himself in for more pain, with no guarantee he'd prolong his life.

He wanted a cure. He wanted to be healthy and vital again—like the eight children he'd fathered. None of them was worth a bucket of warm spit, as far as he was concerned. He was leaving each of them a million dollars, which they'd probably squander away in a couple of years. But he certainly wasn't leaving any of them control of his investments. That was going to various animal organizations, because animals made no claim to intelligence and they were at the mercy of their owners.

But he didn't plan to let his fortune go to the dogs until absolutely necessary and he figured his best hope was some new medical research—or some life-giving secret that only a few people on earth possessed.

When the pain gripping his ribs let him function again, he reached for the folder on his desk. It held worldwide newspaper articles and wire service reports that his clipping service sent him on a regular basis.

Most of it was routine stuff. A boy had been trapped in a storm sewer in Suzhou, China, and suffered hypothermia before rescuers reached him. He was expected to make a full recovery. A sailing ship had gone down in the Pacific, and the two-man crew had been rescued from a rubber raft after drifting for almost a month at sea.

But two articles were of particular interest. A man in Nairobi, Kenya, had been caught in a factory fire and been overcome by smoke. While being prepared for burial, he'd awakened and started asking for his wife and children. That incident was worth investigating.

And so was a story about an experimental submarine that had gotten fouled up in a rock formation at the edge of the Atlantic trough near Grand Cayman.

The research foundation running the operation had kept it as quiet as possible, but a small article had appeared in the local George Town paper.

The sub had been down long enough for everyone to die from lack of oxygen, but when the craft was brought up, one of the expedition members had miraculously revived. A guy named Noah Fielding.

According to the article in the local paper, Fielding had apparently financed the development of the sub, but he'd left the expensive craft on Grand Cayman and headed back to the States. Address unknown.

Jarred reached for his laptop and sent an e-mail to one of his special assistants, asking the man to find out everything he could about Noah Fielding.

Was the guy hiding some secret? A secret that could cure Jarred of his deadly disease.

Jarred had to know. He'd try charm and persuasion first, but if Fielding didn't want to talk to him, there were ways of getting the information out of him.

A man might escape death, but he couldn't escape pain—not at the hands of the right practitioner.

LASVEGAS REMINDEDNoah of the Middle Ages. Of course it smelled a lot better; you didn't have to worry about someone dumping garbage onto your head as you walked down the street, and penicillin was a reliable cure for the surge of syphilis. But life in this desert playground was reduced to basic human emotions. Desperate people risked a fortune on the roll of the dice or the turn of a card. And other people waited to pounce on their vulnerability.

He had encountered every one of these types before and he had experienced all the emotions they displayed. From love and triumph to desperation and despair. He'd tried to kill himself more than once. It had never worked, of course, and finally a French woman named Ramona had made him see the light. Maybe that was too strong a way to put it, but he knew she had changed him. When he'd met her, he'd lived too long and seen too much to feel anything but contempt for the human beings who thought they were better than slugs and worms.

Ramona had convinced him that humans had a core of goodness, and if he helped them expand that core, his generous spirit would be rewarded.

He wasn't sure how well he'd done in changing the equation for humanity. The world was simply too big and too complex for one man to make an enormous difference. At least where good was concerned. Evil

was another matter.

Still, over the last two centuries, Noah had poured money into various charities and had reached out to many individuals on a personal level.

He wandered through the casino of the Calvanio Hotel, watching old women with dyed hair, cups of quarters and glazed eyes trained on the spinning symbols of slot machines. He knew the odds on the machines, so he bought five hundred dollars worth of chips and won a thousand at blackjack, then quit while he was ahead.

He strolled toward the bar in the front of the building, where he could watch the dancing waters of a fountain in the artificial lake that fronted the strip.

As soon as he walked into the bar, he spotted a curvy blonde wearing a shimmery gold dress that dipped low over her cleavage. The short skirt revealed long, tanned legs. Her wavy hair brushed her shoulders, and her makeup enhanced her natural attributes.

She was well-proportioned and attractive but not beautiful. Yet something about her features drew him. Her eyes were light and set wide apart. Her face was rectangular, with a jaw that spoke of strength. But the haunted look in her eyes and something about the way she held her full lips told him she was in a world of trouble.

Could he help her? Did she want his help? And would starting something with her count as giving back to Ramona?

He'd loved Ramona and lost her two hundred years ago. She hadn't even lived into old age in normal human terms. She'd died of what he later found out was breast cancer before she reached her fiftieth year.

Her last days had been full of pain. Hers and his, as well. He'd wanted to flee the inevitable, but he'd stayed by her bedside, giving her what comfort he could and taking comfort, too. Since her death, he hadn't gotten close enough to anyone to fall in love.

The blonde sitting at the table looked nothing like Ramona, who had been a striking brunette. Yet some indefinable quality of this woman called to him.

The sudden attraction he felt toward her reminded him that he hadn't taken anyone to bed in a long time. If he got emotionally involved with a woman, leaving her would be painful, and if his emotions weren't engaged, then the sex was meaningless.

Sometimes he was lucky enough to find a middle ground.

While he was debating whether to cross the room, she glanced up and their eyes met. A smile flickered on her lips, only to vanish almost as soon as it appeared, the bleak veil descending again.

Even more intrigued, he started toward her, but the sound of someone calling his name interrupted him.

"Noah Fielding?"

He stopped and turned to find himself facing a portly man with wiry salt-and-pepper hair. He was wearing chinos and a slightly rumpled Hawaiian shirt.

The man's face registered confusion. "Sorry," he said, "I must be mistaken. The concierge said you were Noah Fielding, but you can't be."

"I am," Noah answered.

The other man shook his head. "You're sure?" He laughed and slapped his palm against the side of his head. "What kind of question is that? I'm Sidney Hemmings."

Ah. Hemmings. Actually, the man looked older than the picture he had on his Web site. Apparently vanity had frozen his image.

"We've been corresponding for years," the doctor continued. "I expected you to be my age."

Noah shrugged and called up his most innocent and open look. "I was pretty young when I became interested in your field. And I guess I age well."

"You certainly do. How old are you?"

Noah had a lot of practice in sidestepping that question. "Old enough to know better," he answered lightly.

Hemmings shifted his weight from one foot to the other. "Well, it's wonderful to finally meet you. Can I buy you a drink?"

Noah glanced toward the blonde. He'd come here to meet Hemmings, but at the moment, he would rather have a drink with her, which said something about the pull he was feeling. Still, he had no intention of being rude to a man he'd corresponded with for years.

"Of course," he said, leading the way to a table in the corner of the room.

OLIVIAwatched the man who had been standing in the doorway looking at her. He was tall like her, with dark hair and eyes and a trim athletic build. As she'd pretended not to study him, she'd fought off a zing of awareness. That attraction was unnerving, because she hadn't planned on being interested in anyone here.

It wasn't just a sexual pull, although that was certainly part of it. Strange as it might seem, when their eyes had briefly met, she'd thought maybe the guy was going to offer to help her.

Could he? Could anybody get her out of the mess that her brother had cooked up?

What if she went to the police? She sighed. They might believe her, but Pearson's scheme was hardly a big deal in a place like Las Vegas. The cops weren't going to protect her from him.

Her gaze flicked toward her brother, who was as far away from her as he could get in the room, watching the action.

For the hundredth time, she wondered what had turned him into the kind of man he was. They'd been raised by the same parents, yet somehow he hadn't absorbed their middle-class values. Instead, he was

completely selfish. Unfortunately, he also knew how to be charming, which fooled a lot of people, including Mom and Dad.

The only ray of hope in her present situation was that since his initial ultimatum, she'd been able to make him alter his plans slightly. When she'd pointed out that getting the escort service involved meant a written record of the men she was meeting, he'd seen the wisdom of working freelance.

So here she was, hating herself as she sat in the Calvanio Fountain Bar dangling herself like a tempting worm in front of a pool full of fish.

A sporty-looking man came in, spotted her and crossed the floor to her table, striking up a conversation.

She decided he didn't appear to be rich enough for Pearson's scheme. Or look like he had enough to lose by having his relationship with her exposed.

Maybe that was what she was going to tell her brother when he demanded to know why she hadn't gotten "friendly" with anyone this evening.

When the guy started chatting her up, she told him she was waiting for someone else and sent him on his way.

As soon as his back was turned, her gaze flicked to the man who had attracted her. He was still talking to the tubby guy in the rumpled shirt. Her man was dressed casually in jeans and a T-shirt.

As far as she could see, he wasn't wearing a gold chain around his neck. Or an expensive watch. He didn't seem like the type for jewelry. But something about the way he held himself gave the impression that he was well-off enough to fit in with Pearson's plans.

NOAHstruggled to focus on the conversation with Hemmings, when he really wanted to talk to the woman sitting half a dozen yards away.

"From what you've said, you're not a trained researcher. What got you interested in longevity research in the first place?" the doctor asked.

Noah went into one of his long-standing explanations. "I was in love with a woman who died very young."

"Oh, sorry."

"It was a tragedy, but she got me wondering about why some people have long lives and others don't. I thought if I got active in the field, that would be a kind of memorial to her."

"Admirable."

"How about you?"

Hemmings spread his hands. "I went to medical school, but I found out I didn't really like working with patients. So I took a job at the National Institutes of Health in Bethesda. And I found out Idid like research." He tipped his head to the side. "So what do you do when you're not increasing the life span of

rats?"

Although Noah had no formal education in the field, he'd had the time to do a lot of reading and experimentation on his own. In a lab building on his estate, he had rats that had outlived their life expectancy by fifty percent. While the experiment was interesting, it had brought him no closer to any answers about what made him different from the rest of humanity.

"I've got a number of businesses scattered around the country. Nothing very interesting," he said. "I'd much rather hear about what you've been doing lately."

It wasn't difficult to keep the researcher talking about himself and his work. Noah already knew most of it, but he sat and listened to Hemmings's stories, anyway.

When the doctor occasionally asked questions about Noah's background, he gave brief answers from the life story he'd written for himself.

According to his fictional biography, he'd lived in San Francisco with his parents who had both been killed in a boating accident. He'd inherited an estate from his uncle and had lived there for the past few years.

He'd situated himself so that he could keep an eye on the blonde. During the course of his conversation with the doctor, several men had come up to her, but she must have discouraged them because they ended up going away.

Noah could see that someone else was watching her, too. A man who'd been sitting along the far wall. He came over and spoke to her in a low tone, his face angry. What was that all about?

The doctor must have noticed he wasn't commanding Noah's rapt attention. Annoyance flashed across his face.

But he quickly recovered. Glancing at his watch, he said, "It's late. I should let you go to bed."

"Sorry," Noah apologized. "I put in a long day in the lab before I came here and I'm a little wiped."

They both stood. Hemmings reached out to shake his hand again. Noah automatically did the same, then felt a slight prick at the base of his thumb.

"What was that?" he asked.

Hemmings looked embarrassed. "Sorry. This damn ring of mine has a rough edge. It must have slipped around to the inside. Did I hurt you?"

"It's fine," Noah said, looking down at his hand where it was slightly scraped.

Of course, it would be good as new in the next few hours.

"Sorry," the doctor apologized again, then excused himself and hurried out of the bar. Noah stayed in the room, watching the woman still sitting at the table. Before he could stop himself, he picked up his sparkling water and walked across the room.

OLIVIA'Sbreath caught as the man she'd been watching walked over to her table. This was it, and she wished she knew what "it" was.

"I've noticed you sitting here," he said.

"I was waiting for a friend, but I guess he stood me up," she lied.

The guy looked like he didn't buy it, and she thought he was going to walk away.

Instead, he said, "May I join you?"

"Yes."

"My name's Noah Fielding."

"Olivia..." She hesitated for a moment before adding, "Stapler." She knew he caught the hesitation.

"Can I get you anything?" he asked as he sat down.

Up close he was very handsome and younger than she'd thought. He carried himself with a confidence that usually came from maturity, but his face was unlined and there wasn't any gray in his dark hair. She doubted that a man like him would go to the trouble of dyeing it, although one never knew how much a guy was stuck on himself.

A man like him? She wasn't exactly sure what that meant. When she realized she was waiting a long time to answer his question, she said, "You're drinking soda water?"

He looked at his glass and back at her before nodding.

"That sounds good."

"You don't want champagne?" he asked.

"It's not worth what they charge by the glass here."

He grinned. "I guess you know the ropes better than I do."

"Did you come here to gamble?"

"Everybody comes here to gamble. It's the standard vice. But my excuse is a medical convention in town."

"You're a doctor?" she asked.

"Just a hanger-on."

She tipped her head to the side. "What does that mean?"

"I'm an independent researcher. I like to keep up with the field."

Maybe he was also independently wealthy. She canceled that thought immediately. It didn't matter if he made big bucks, because she wasn't going to play Pearson's game.

"Which field?"

"Longevity."

"Oh," she answered, thinking how easy it would be to fall into the trap Pearson had laid for her and this man.

Suddenly, she felt like the room was closing in around her. "I need some air," she blurted.

"The hotel has a very nice garden out back."

She'd been thinking that she'd go outside alone and incur her brother's wrath later. But when she stood, Noah Fielding did, too, and she didn't protest as he walked beside her toward the back of the hotel.

Outside, the air was hot and dry, and the night sky was filled with a million stars. But no casino relied on nature for outdoor effects. The hedges and flower beds were illuminated by cunningly placed floodlights.

The garden was designed to please the senses. Annual and perennial flowers filled well-tended beds that bordered stone paths. Each plot held a pleasing mix of colors and textures, many of the blooms perfuming the air.

She inhaled deeply, glad to be out of the stale casino atmosphere. Trying to come up with something to say, she murmured, "I love the way they laid out the garden in a pattern. I guess they hired a fancy landscape architect."

"Maybe. But whoever did the design copied it from Versailles."

She tipped her head toward him. "Have you been there?"

"Several times."

No one else was outside, she noticed. The garden apparently wasn't as much of an attraction as the casino.

When she pressed her hands against her sides, he said, "What's bothering you?"

The direct question startled her. In her experience, guys didn't care about an attractive woman's personal problems.

"How do you know something is bothering me?"

"The way you hold your shoulders."

"Really?"

"Maybe I can help."

Could he?

Before she could reply, a man rushed from the shadows. He was holding a gun, which he pointed directly at Noah Fielding.

"I finally found you, you bastard," he growled. "Hold it right there."

Chapter Three

Noah cursed under his breath, and Olivia thought she heard him mumble, "Not again."

At the same time, he thrust her behind himself, putting his body squarely between her and the gunman.

"Move," the attacker said. "Both of you."

"Leave the lady out of this," Noah replied, his voice low and even.

In the part of her mind that still functioned rationally, she marveled at his calm. She had to stiffen her legs to keep from falling over.

"I'm giving the orders," the gunman said. "Hands up. Move to your right."

Somehow, she did what he demanded, but as she raised her hands, she was thinking there must be guards out here and security cameras. If guards came running, though, would they just get her and Noah shot?

"Take it easy," Noah said.

He was talking to the gunman, but his calm, even voice helped steady her as she moved to her right, into a rectangular space formed by a hedge and a wall that enclosed one of the luxury villas for the high rollers.

Noah tried to keep his body between her and the gunman as they stood facing each other in the little courtyard, but the man maneuvered them so that she was terribly exposed.

She glanced sideways at Noah. He wasn't even breaking a sweat. The other man was breathing heavily. Maybe he'd have a heart attack and drop the gun so they could escape.

"If you do anything to hurt this woman, you will be very sorry," Noah said, punching out the words.

"Her bad luck that she was with a scum like you."

She saw Noah clench the fists held above his head. He looked like he wanted to lunge at the gunman, and to hell with the consequences. Maybe he would have if he'd been alone. Instead, he took a deep breath and let it out slowly.

"Are you after my winnings?" he asked.

The man gave a harsh, nervous laugh that scared her as much as the gun. This guy was on the edge of doing something very foolish.

"You wish. You're going to pay a lot more than any winnings. You're going to pay for what you did to

```
my brother," the attacker bit out.

"Who is your brother?"

"You damn well know."

"Just tell me," Noah said, sounding weary.

"Eddie Carlson."

Noah sighed. "I'm sorry for what happened."

The man snorted. "Oh sure. You killed him."

"No."
```

"Then why is he dead and you're alive?"

Noah's jaw tightened, and she waited for him to say something devastating to the man. Something that would let him know for all time that his brother's death had been his own fault.

As she watched, Noah's expression changed. When he began to speak, his tone was regretful. "There's always risk with an experimental venture. It was damn bad luck that the sub got stuck in that crevice. I've had a lot of deep-sea training and I've done a lot of exercises that make me able to survive on much less oxygen than normal. It's the same kind of technique that a magician relies on when he's locked in a box underwater. The rest of the crew didn't have that training."

Apparently Carlson still wasn't convinced. "So you say. But if you're not guilty of anything, why did you give each of the widows a million bucks? That's three million dollars you gave away."

Olivia goggled. Three million dollars?

Noah spread his raised hands. "I didn't have to give them the money. But I felt a moral obligation because I funded the expedition and I felt responsible for the safety of the men who went down in the sub with me. Now you have your own moral obligation—to Eddie's children. Their father was taken from them in a tragic accident. You have to be the father he would have been. You have to do that, because he can't. And if you end up in jail for murder, what will happen to them?"

Long, tense seconds passed, then Carlson's expression changed, softened. Moments ago, the guy had been roaring mad, ready to avenge his brother's death. Now, apparently something Noah had said got to him.

When he lowered the gun, Olivia let out the breath she'd been holding.

"Thank you," Noah said.

Carlson answered with a tight nod.

Lowering his hands, Noah said, "Give me the gun."

Carlson hesitated, then handed over the weapon.

Noah took it and shoved it into his pocket. "I know you're grieving, and a grieving man sometimes does things he might regret later."

Carlson nodded again.

"I'm truly sorry. When I was asked to finance the expedition, I thought it was a good idea. I guess I should have planned better."

Carlson looked down at his hands. "I feel like a jerk coming after you. It won't bring Eddie back."

"I understand. You're hurting and you wanted to lash out at me because I'm still alive. I'm curious, how did you find me?" Noah asked.

The man sighed. "The Light Street Detective Agency. They're in Baltimore, my hometown. I couldn't find where you lived, but they saw that you'd registered at this hotel." Carlson swallowed hard. "Eddie always was reckless. Did he do something...that got you in trouble down there?"

Noah answered quickly. "No."

From the way he voiced the word, Olivia thought he was probably lying.

Carlson stepped back. "I'm sorry," he muttered.

"Go back home to Baltimore and stay out of trouble."

"I will. Thanks for keeping me from doing something really stupid." Carlson turned and hurried off, leaving Olivia trembling.

"What just happened?" she asked.

"A man was upset, and I made him realize that if he hurt me, he'd be going against his fundamental values." Noah put a hand on her arm. "I'm sorry you had to get involved in that. Are you okay?"

"I..." She couldn't hold her voice steady.

"Come here." When he pulled her against his body and wrapped his arms around her, she leaned into him as he stroked his hands up and down her bare arms, feeling the goose bumps that had sprung up on her skin. "You're shaking."

"I'll be okay." She was thinking that she'd just witnessed something extraordinary—with an extraordinary man, she silently added, as she closed her eyes and nestled against him.

Twenty minutes ago she'd barely known Noah Fielding, but they'd just been through the fire together and that was a shortcut to intimacy.

She was still trying to work her way through the terrifying experience. "He was mad as hell, but you talked him down. You've got a knack for reading people."

"Like I said, he was grieving. He just needed someone to point out that he has responsibilities back home."

"But you didn't say that the accident in the sub was his brother's fault."

Noah stiffened. "What makes you think it was?"

"I saw the way you reacted. You were itching to tell him what really happened, but you didn't."

He sighed. "What Eddie Carlson did isn't important now. The fundamental point is that I provided the money that got three guys killed."

"You were taking your chances underwater with them."

His hand on her arm tightened. "I really did have an advantage over them."

"So it was true—about that special training."

"Why do you think it wasn't?"

"Something..."

He looked around, as though he'd just realized they were standing in a public space, embracing and discussing a very private incident from his life.

After a few seconds' hesitation, he said, "Here's an interesting choice. Do you want to come to my room—or get as far away from me as you can get?"

"Why would I do that?"

"This is the second time somebody's attacked me in the past few days."

She caught her breath. "You're kidding."

"I wish I were."

"Do you attract trouble?"

He answered with a harsh laugh. "Not usually with such alarming regularity. I hope the planets aren't in some horrible alignment."

"You believe in astrology?"

"I've studied it. It's interesting. A way for men—" He stopped and shook his head. "A way for people to make some sense of their lives before modern science offered better explanations."

"A lot of times, modern science wars with superstition. I still cringe when I break a mirror."

He laughed. "You and most other people. Because we're still tied to our roots—to the prehistoric cave dwellers huddled around their fires, warding off the monsters in the darkness."

"Are you an anthropologist?"

"No, it's just another one of my hobbies."

She nodded, fascinated with him and at the same time thinking that walking away from him would be the smart thing to do. But she knew she wasn't going to be smart. Not tonight.

Instead, she walked with him to his room.

It was actually a luxury suite with a plush living room, a well-stocked bar and a bedroom beyond.

When he closed the door, she saw him let out a deep sigh, and she was pretty sure he was more shaken by his encounter with Mr. Carlson than he'd let on. As she looked at him, she wanted to make the hurt go away.

Reaching around him, she snapped the security lock and set down her purse on the long table beside the door. The purse contained a cell phone she was supposed to use to call Pearson just by pressing a button. However, if she didn't use it, he wouldn't even know where she was.

Yet her nerves were still jumping.

Noah Fielding had held her just a few minutes earlier, but that had been outside after the attack. This was in his private suite, where everything was different. Intimate.

Or had the feeling of intimacy come from the shared danger?

He must have understood that she needed a little time to sort out her emotions because he walked to the entertainment unit at the side of the room, put the gun in a drawer and turned on an audio channel of soft, slow music.

The sophisticated arrangement appealed to her. So did the man. When he turned, she gave him a small smile, then walked back into his arms.

They were almost the same height, which made him the perfect dance partner for her.

For just a moment, that made her sad. She would never dance again professionally because her leg no longer had the stamina. But she could dance for fun and she would get through her trouble and make her life over again.

He didn't pull her tightly against his body as he led her around the room in time to the music. His rhythm was flawless. He must be a natural dancer, she thought.

They didn't speak. She just let herself enjoy being with him. Enjoy his subtle scent. His firm touch. His masculinity.

And enjoy the dancing. She hadn't done it in a long time and she knew she'd have trouble with a complicated routine—even in ballroom dancing. But this was relaxed.

By degrees, both of them moved closer together until finally he held her tightly against his body, pressing her breasts against his chest.

Until then she'd felt a slow buildup of sensations. Now they gathered into a jolt of arousal.

She hadn't expected it. No, that was a lie. Noah Fielding was a very sexy man. She would have been surprised if she hadn't reacted so strongly.

With one of his large hands, he pushed back her hair and stroked his lips against her cheek, waiting for her to make the next move. All she had to do was turn her head and her lips would meet his.

It was her choice.

If she kissed him, nothing in her life would ever be the same. But how could that be? She didn't even know if she would see him again after tonight.

Still, something real had flared between them. Something more than sexual.

She sensed that he held his breath, silently waiting for her to make a decision about the two of them. She stayed where she was, her lips slightly parted.

Finally, because it was what she wanted, she turned her face, cupped the back of his head and brought his lips to hers.

The first mouth-to-mouth contact was undemanding, yet it was electric and rich with promise.

She heard herself make a small needy sound. Accepting her invitation, he increased the pressure of his lips on hers, then tipped his head first one way and then the other, changing the angle, changing the pressure and charging the moment with his powerful sexuality.

As the heat of the kiss flared hotter, he slid one hand down her body, pulling her hips against his erection.

The potency she sensed made her moan. When she found it impossible to hold still, she moved against him.

It had been a long time since she'd been with a man this way. A man who turned on every one of her senses. Long before her accident, actually. When she'd first come to Vegas, she'd enjoyed the attention men gave a woman they'd seen up on stage. Then she'd realized it was nothing personal. They wanted to seduce one of the glittering women who were hired for their looks and talent.

The woman would stay in Vegas, and they'd come home feeling like a conquering hero.

This was different. This man didn't see her as a trophy. His focus on her was very personal. She knew it from the delicate way his hands stroked her hips and from the way his mouth moved over hers.

As her insides turned liquid, she pictured the two of them naked on the bed in the next room. Him on top of her, their bodies intimately joined in the age-old dance of love.

The explicit image shocked her. She had met this man less than an hour earlier, yet she was ready to make love with him.

Breaking the kiss, she looked at him, seeing the dazed look in his eyes, and knowing he was affected as deeply as she was herself.

The knowledge should have been reassuring. Instead, to her utter horror, she burst into tears.

Olivia felt Noah stiffen. Leaning back, he stared down at her.

"Sorry. I'm so sorry," she managed to get out between sobs.

She wasn't any kind of delicate little doll a man could easily pick up, but he scooped her into his arms and carried her to the sofa, where he sat down, still cradling her against him.

"I thought..."

"My fault," she said between sobs.

Cradling her tenderly in his arms, he let her cry.

JARREDBainbridge had learned to trust his hunches. Still, the first report on Noah Fielding startled him.

As far as he could tell, the man didn't exist.

Well, he'd been on that experimental sub. A whole bunch of people had seen him, interacted with him. He'd financed the expedition, and he'd been staying at a bed-and-breakfast in George Town.

But within hours of being pulled from the sub, he'd left the island on a small, private jet. The plane had refueled in Chicago, then gone on to L.A. And that was the last anyone knew of Noah Fielding.

He'd vanished into thin air.

Had he gotten off in Chicago? Or had he gone on to the West Coast? Nobody knew.

Which meant the man had gone to considerable trouble to hide his whereabouts in a day and age when most people's movements were a matter of record.

If Fielding had his methods, so did Jarred Bainbridge. He picked up the phone and made a call to the security service he used. "I want to know where to find Noah Fielding. And I want to know it now."

NOAHcradled Olivia in his arms, rocking her gently. He'd been right; she was in some kind of trouble. He could tell she'd been holding herself together by strength of will. But she'd been through too much tonight to maintain her composure. That encounter with Carlson had scared her spitless. And her roiling emotions had sent her crashing into Noah's arms.

Well, maybe that wasn't fair. He had felt the powerful attraction between them right from the first, and he'd worried that he was taking advantage of her after the attack. Then he'd let his pleasure of holding her and kissing her take over.

The taste of her had been sweet and heady. So had her response to him. That was the most powerful aphrodisiac of all. He'd thought they were headed for a very stimulating session in the bedroom, until her emotions had taken another wild swing.

He bent to stroke his lips against her beautiful golden hair. He'd been intimate with thousands of women, yet this one stirred him as few of them had.

Once again he thought of how much she reminded him of Ramona, although the two of them looked nothing alike. But there was some innate facet of her personality that was the perfect foil for his own dark view of life. She might be in trouble now, but she would always try to find the good in every situation and every person.

He and Olivia Stapler could mean something important to each other—if he dared to let it happen. And if they did, he would lose her and it would take him years to recover from the loss. That was the risk he faced at this moment.

'Tis better to have loved and lost than never to have loved at all.

Alfred Lord Tennyson had said that in 1850, in a poem called "In Memoriam." Noah wasn't sure it was true. Tennyson had lived a normal life span. How many times had the poet known the pain of lost love?

OLIVIAstruggled to conquer the flood of emotions that had swooped down on her without warning. Finally she was able to stifle the tears.

Noah shifted her weight so that he could reach into his pocket and bring out a handkerchief, which he handed to her.

She stared at the folded square of white linen. "What kind of man carries a handkerchief?"

He laughed softly. "It's an old habit."

She blew her nose. "I guess chivalry isn't dead."

He shook his head. "One man can't keep it alive."

"But you try."

"It's too much of a responsibility."

The way he said it made her wonder if he wasn't half serious.

Before she could work her way through that, he asked, "Better?"

"Yes. Thanks."

She tipped her head to the side, studying him. "You're not like anyone I've ever met."

"Is that good or bad?"

"You know it's good."

He shrugged. "Few people have the insight to see the impact they make on others."

She laughed. "I did. When I was working as a dancer. I was talented, but it was pretty obvious men saw me as a sex object."

"They didn't look very far. There's a hell of a lot more to you than a pretty face and a great body."

"Thanks. But how do you know?"

"I'm a good judge of people. Where did you dance?"

"At one of the big hotels on the Strip."

"Why did you stop dancing? Did you get caught in the economic downturn?"

"No. I was on the fast track for a big featured role. Then a drunk driver in the parking lot ended my career."

"Ouch."

"In more ways than one."

"Did they catch him?"

She shook her head.

Noah gave her a considering look. "How do you know he was drunk?"

The question took her by surprise. "I just assumed...you know."

"I've learned not to make assumptions," he said, the words hard-edged.

The way he said it sent a little chill skittering over her skin. Could somebody have hit her on purpose?

But who? And why?

Who would gain from that?

Her brother's smirking face leaped into her mind. But she simply couldn't deal with thoughts of him deliberately setting her up. She shook them away and focused on Noah. "I'm finally back on my feet, but I won't be dancing professionally again. It's just too much strain for someone who injured a leg."

"You got workers' compensation?"

She shrugged one shoulder. "Yes. But it's run out."

He kept his gaze on her. "Before we were so rudely interrupted in the garden, you were going to tell me what's bothering you. I guess it was losing your job?"

She heard the question in his voice. And wondered how she was going to answer.

Chapter Four

Olivia struggled with a surge of emotion. The offer was so tempting. It would be such a relief to tell Noah Fielding the whole truth. Pearson had gotten her into bad trouble. Well, not as bad as it could have been, but bad enough.

She'd seen how Noah handled Eddie Carlson's brother. Maybe he could handleher brother, too. Make him back off from his dirty little plot aimed at rich guys who wanted to make sure that what happened in Vegas stayed in Vegas.

But the idea of admitting to Noah that she was involved in a shameful scheme to blackmail men made her chest tighten painfully.

She liked Noah and he liked her. What would he think if she told him that desperation and coercion had driven her to the edge of doing something criminal?

She took a breath and exhaled. Before she could give in to temptation, she said, "It's personal."

"All right."

The flat way he said it made her half wish she had the guts to trust him. But she simply couldn't do it. Maybe because it was too important for him to think well of her.

"I'd better go," she said.

He'd scooped her up as if she was light as a cloud. Now it was awkward climbing out of his lap and she felt even more awkward as she reached to pull down her tight dress and twist the skirt back into place.

He gave her a long look that made her insides quiver. Before she could change her mind, she turned and fled.

NOAHwaited until Olivia was out the door. He didn't know why she had become important to him, but she had, in a very short time. Hurrying to the door, he opened it a crack and watched her waiting for the elevator. When it arrived and she stepped inside, he hurried down the hall and pressed the button, hoping the next car would arrive quickly.

As he shifted his weight from foot to foot, he thought about running down the stairs. He was fast, but he wasn't a superhero. From the seventeenth floor, he would never make it before she walked out of the elevator lobby. Then he'd lose her in the crowded casino.

When the next car came, he leaped inside, startling a couple who looked like they'd gotten into something kinky on the rooftop observation deck.

By the time they'd exited on the eighth floor and he'd reached the lobby, Olivia was nowhere in sight.

So where would she go?

He thought about the guy who had been watching her in the Fountain Bar. Maybe he expected her to report in. Maybe she'd oblige him and maybe she wouldn't.

He headed toward the bar, which was also near the hotel's entrance onto the Strip. When he spotted

her, he breathed out a sigh of relief. Then he saw that she was talking to the guy in question, who wasn't exactly acting like her best buddy.

Noah's first impulse was to rush over to them and get into the middle of the conversation. He could make sure the man understood it would be dangerous to hurt Olivia. Anybody who did that would have to deal with Noah Fielding.

As his logical mind considered the consequences of such impulsive behavior, he wasn't sure the threat would have the desired effect. Olivia and the guy both presumably lived in Las Vegas, and Noah was only in town for a few days. He might frighten the man in the short-run, but that left a whole lot of time afterward when Olivia would have to deal with any local problems on her own.

Noah had had centuries of practice reading body language. He might have said his life had depended on it, but of course, death was not an option for him.

As he studied the pair, he was sure they knew each other well. Husband and wife? He clenched his fist, hoping that wasn't true. Not when she'd been so responsive in his arms.

Taking a deep breath to settle himself, he studied both their faces and noticed a similarity about their features. There was a definite family resemblance. The guy's face was a masculine version of Olivia's, but while Noah sensed an underlying honesty in her, the man came across as a slime.

It wasn't just his features. From the guy's posture, Noah would bet he wanted to get rough with Olivia, but he couldn't do it in a public place.

Confirming Noah's suspicion, the man looked around the hotel lobby. When nobody appeared to be watching the little drama, he made a grab for her arm. His fingers touched down on her skin, but her reflexes were excellent, and before he could latch on to her, she pulled from his grasp.

The attacker made a low sound as they stood confronting each other.

She raised her chin and met his gaze, although Noah could see she was making an effort to keep her lips from trembling. "Leave me alone."

From where he stood inside the casino, Noah was too far away to actually hear the words, but over the years he'd learned how to read lips.

"Remember what I said about Dad," the guy answered. "The wrong news about you could kill him."

The rejoinder confirmed that they were brother and sister.

She took a step back. "Would you really do that to a sick old man?"

"If I have to. Anything that happens will be on your head."

"You've got that wrong."

Ignoring her, he asked, "What about that guy you left with? Where did you go?"

"None of your business." She gave him a hard look. "As far as I'm concerned, this charade is over."

The brother's look could have withered a whole flower garden. Before he could come back with a retort, Olivia turned and marched out of the building.

She'd given as good as she got in the verbal sparring match, but that didn't solve her basic problem. Now that Noah knew about the hit-and-run accident, he could see the slight hitch in her gait. If she couldn't dance, how was she going to support herself?

And why was thathis problem? Noah asked himself.

His gaze shot back to the brother. Stapler, if that was his name, slapped his right fist into the palm of his left hand, hard enough for Noah to hear the cracking sound.

Noah waited with his heart pounding while the guy decided what to do. Finally, he shrugged and walked toward the casino, and Noah turned toward a slot machine, pretending that he was going to drop some quarters.

As soon as the man breezed past him, he made for the door and stepped into the humid night air—just in time to see Olivia heading along the front of the casino.

Maybe she was afraid the brother was going to follow her because she stopped and looked behind her, and Noah was glad that he was still in the shadow of the building.

She took a deep breath and let it out, then started down the sidewalk, heading in the direction of downtown.

It was easy to keep out of sight when he joined the crowd of people walking along the Strip, even after midnight. The chase became more difficult when she reached a cross street and turned left onto a route less traveled.

All the casinos along the Strip were relatively new. As soon as one got a little shopworn, a developer tore it down and put up the latest, greatest attraction to pull in the people who liked to gamble in a fantasy environment.

You could take your pick of exotic locales. Paris. New York. Italy. Ancient Egypt. The Arabian Nights. King Arthur's Court. Treasure Island.

But the buildings on the side streets hadn't undergone a similar restoration process. Especially in the older part of town.

As soon as Olivia left the brightly lit casino area, she disappeared into shadow, and Noah didn't know if she was still on the sidewalk. Then she stepped into a pool of light, and he saw her walking into an area of low-rise buildings. Some were motels, others apartments.

He followed her, keeping well back, wondering why he was compelled to stay on her trail. He'd just met her a few hours ago, and they hardly knew each other. But over the years he had learned to trust his hunches, so he kept going.

Las Vegas was a city of contrasts. By the time she was two blocks from the back of the casino, the neighborhood had deteriorated considerably. The buildings were run-down, the cars on the street were older models, many of them banged-up, and the sidewalk was littered with trash.

He was appalled at the idea of her walking in this neighborhood, but all he could do was follow. Finally she reached a set of stucco buildings that might have been called garden apartments if they had had any greenery around them.

When she turned in at one of them, he sped up. From the open air landing, grimy cement steps led up two stories and down to basement apartments. He didn't know which way Olivia had gone, but he felt a wash of relief when he saw her name on a mailbox. She was in 1A, which must be one of the lower-level units.

As he stood breathing in the dry desert air, he took in his surroundings. The buildings were separated from the sidewalk by a three-foot-wide strip of dark gravel. The doors to the units needed a good coat of paint, some of the treads were off the stairs and kids had spray-painted graffiti on some of the stucco walls.

Not a very attractive place to live, he thought. Probably she'd had a better apartment when she'd been working and she'd been forced to move here after she'd lost her job.

He wanted to knock on her door. And then what? Say that he'd followed her home? In her eyes, that might make him a stalker. Even if she were glad to see him, she'd probably be embarrassed for him to find out where she was living.

He stayed for a few more minutes, debating what to do. Finally he turned and walked back the way he'd come. He was going to be in town for several more days. Maybe Olivia would show up in the hotel bar again.

He knew her brother was trying to involve her in some kind of scheme that she didn't like. And she'd been embarrassed to talk about it with a stranger.

Even as he considered his next move, his saner self told him to back off. She hadn't wanted to involve him, and that should be the end of it.

Shoving his hands into his pockets, he returned to the hotel. He went directly to the conference center, where he registered for the meeting he was here to attend. Days ago when he'd studied the online program, he'd been interested in the lineup of speakers and topics. Now he had to force himself to look through the brochure and decide which sessions to attend.

After checking off some possibilities while he ate in one of the fancier restaurants, he called Thomas to find out how Simon was doing.

His chief of staff was optimistic, although it was still too early for the medication to have kicked in. At least the boy was where he couldn't get into trouble.

ASsoon as she'd gotten home, Olivia had drawn the drapes and put the chain on the door—not that either one of those measures would stop Pearson if he wanted to break into her apartment. She knew from experience that her brother could go into a fit of violence without considering the consequences until too late.

When she checked her answering machine, she found a message from the nursing home in New Jersey. Her heart leaped into her throat, and she called back immediately, even though she could hardly afford

the charges.

"This is Olivia Stapler. Mrs. Warren left a message about my father."

"Just a moment."

She waited with her tension mounting. Finally the nurse came on the line.

"I'm afraid Mr. Stapler is growing less aware of his surroundings."

"Can I speak to him?"

"I'm sorry. He probably wouldn't know who you are."

They talked for a few more minutes. Then Olivia thanked the nurse for calling and hung up, ashamed that she felt a sense of relief. If her father was losing touch with the world, that made it less likely that Pearson could tell him lies about her.

Which gave her more freedom than she'd thought she had.

As she shuffled through the stack of unpaid bills she'd set on the dining room table, she let her imagination take her into a little fantasy. Noah Fielding would marry her and whisk her off to his castle. And Pearson would be left to stew in his own juices.

What would Noah's house be like? He wasn't one of those guys who showed off his wealth with fancy clothes or fancy jewelry, but he'd quietly given away three million dollars a few days ago, which argued that he wasn't worried about money.

She'd bet he cared about where he lived. Maybe he had a horse farm in Kentucky or a mountain retreat in Colorado. Or he could live on a yacht. Yes, she could picture him sailing from port to port.

Did his accent give her a clue about where he came from? Maybe she could hear British undertones in his speech, but she wasn't sure.

Who were his parents? How had they raised him? Had they given him his old-world sensibility, or had he acquired his polish after he'd left home?

How old was he? Had he been married before? She should have asked him questions about himself.

She pulled herself up short. Why? She'd met him in a casino bar and she wasn't going to see him again.

The idea of his whisking her away like a knight on a white horse was very appealing, but unfortunately not very realistic.

Yet the two of them had seemed so compatible in the time they'd been together.

She made another sound of derision—this one directed at herself. Guys were always willing to take what a woman offered, she reminded herself. Noah would have made love with her if she hadn't gotten up and left his room.

Still, she knew that what had taken place between them was more than sexual. She'd been drawn to him

more strongly than she had been to any other man she'd ever met.

Fantasies about Noah Fielding won't do you much good, said an inner voice. You have to do something for yourself. She shook her head. As far as she could see, the only solution to her problem was getting out of town.

But how was she going to manage it? She'd already borrowed as much money as she could from some of her friends in the chorus line. But she still had some of her mother's jewelry.

On shaky legs she walked to the tiny bedroom, opened the top dresser drawer and got out the blue velvet jewelry box where she kept the few good pieces that Mom had left her. She carried the box to the bed, sat down and lifted the lid. Inside was a gold ring with a one-carat diamond, a gold charm bracelet and a pearl choker. All of them were precious to her, because they were all she had left of her mother.

Mom had died of a heart condition when she was still young, leaving Olivia and Pearson with their father. Maybe that was what had happened to her brother. He'd lost his footing when Mom had died. She might have, too, but she'd thrown herself into dancing and taking over the mother role in the family.

While Dad had appreciated that, it had seemed like Pearson had resented her trying to hold things together. Nothing she did was good enough.

At least they'd had Mom's insurance policy. Olivia had used her share of the money for dance lessons—until she'd discovered that Pearson was getting money out of Dad to start a retail business, which had gone down the tubes, of course.

She shifted her thoughts away from her brother and back to her own problems. The jewelry was her only source of cash. There were pawnshops all over Vegas. She'd get what she could for the family heirlooms and when she got back on her feet, she'd redeem them.

You're having another fantasy, said that wise inner voice.

Olivia knew that was true. If she pawned these pieces, she'd never see them again. Still, wasn't the important point that she needed to get out of town?

She shuddered. Leaving town was such a big step. Really, she couldn't take much with her. Maybe she needed to think about it for a few days.

But suppose Pearson came knocking at her door in the meantime?

NOAHmanaged to stick with the convention for the next day and a half.

Several thousand people, mostly doctors, were attending the meeting. Although it should have been easy for Noah to lose himself in the crowd, Hemmings managed to find him and sit with him at a couple of sessions on brain chemistry and cell regeneration.

"What do you think of the conference?" Hemmings asked as they filed out of the seminar room.

"You've done a great job of setting up the program."

The doctor looked pleased, and Noah found himself sucked into a half-hour conversation about the various professionals who were presenting papers.

The topicswere interesting, and Noah had attended a number of the sessions, but he wasn't learning more than he'd picked up from the journals he regularly read. He declined Hemmings's invitation to meet some of the speakers for dinner and went to the Fountain Bar. When Olivia wasn't there, he felt a spurt of disappointment—and alarm.

Once again, he told himself that Olivia Stapler's private life was none of his business. Still, she was the reason he didn't seem to be able to focus on the topics under discussion. Finally he gave up. Back in his room, he changed into jeans and a T-shirt, then got out his laptop and looked up her name in a private and very expensive database.

He found Olivia Stapler quickly. What he read matched the facts she'd given him, but it was only part of the story. Until four months ago, she'd been dancing in the popular show at a top Vegas hotel. After that, he found medical records and a notation that she'd been forced out of her former apartment for nonpayment of rent.

Clearly she was in financial trouble and had been putting off paying some of her bills. Her phone was about to be cut off and the electricity bill was weeks overdue. They'd shut that off that, too. Then she'd get kicked out of her apartment if she couldn't come up with the rent.

He went a bit further back into her life. The family was from Paterson, New Jersey. The father had been an auto salesman who'd lost his wife and struggled to hold the family together. Olivia had been an excellent student, but her grades had slipped after her mother's death. She'd taken dance lessons since she was ten, the star of the local recitals. And she'd come to Las Vegas a couple of years ago. Was the brother already here, he wondered, or had he followed her?

With a sigh, Noah looked up men with the same last name and finally came up with Pearson Stapler—the brother, who had a record of arrests and convictions. He'd done several jail terms for assault and robbery. No surprise, from the way he'd come across in the brief encounter with his sister in the lobby.

Noah wasn't sure exactly what Pearson had in mind for his sister, but it was obvious Olivia didn't like it.

As he read the background information on Pearson Stapler, Noah felt a knot of dread forming in his stomach. Unable to shake off the sick feeling, he knew he had to go to her apartment. Leaving the hotel, he retraced his steps toward her apartment building.

The closer he got to the run-down complex, the faster he walked, so that he was almost running by the time he reached the front of Olivia's building.

As he stood near the entrance, debating what to do, a woman came down the stairs and looked at him from the landing above, before descending to the mailboxes and opening one with a key.

After taking out the mail, she gave him an inquiring look.

"Can I help you?"

"I'm waiting for someone."

"I hoped maybe you were here to help that poor girl."

"That, too."

The woman walked up the stairs, then turned to look at him as he headed down. When he gained the lower landing, he heard raised voices coming from apartment 1A.

Quietly, he moved closer, listening to the argument on the other side of the door.

"I'm tired of you telling me what to do." The speaker was Olivia.

"You don't have a choice." That was a man, probably Pearson Stapler.

"The nursing home called. Dad's pretty out of it. He couldn't speak to me and he won't be able to speak to you, either."

"You bitch. You're giving up a chance to make some real money."

"I don't want that kind of money."

"Well, I do. And whether you want it or not, you're going to help me out."

"No."

"Listen, I never had a chance. You got all the breaks."

"That's bull. I made my own breaks by working hard. Get out of here. Now."

"You're going to be sorry."

The voices stopped, and he heard scuffling sounds from inside the apartment.

Quickly, Noah reached for the doorknob. It turned in his hand.

When he stepped into a dimly lit room, the two people inside were so focused on each other that neither one of them noticed he'd come in.

Olivia had backed into the kitchen, her hips pressed against the cabinets.

Her voice came out hard and clear as she said, "I swear to God, if you don't get away from me, you're going to be sorry."

Her brother laughed. "Oh yeah, and what are you going to do about it, Miss Gimp?"

"This." Reaching into the drawer next to her, Olivia took out a knife and held it in her fist. "Get away from me. Now."

The smart thing would be for the brother to back off. Instead he snarled, "You wouldn't dare," and charged toward Olivia.

She was desperate enough to slash at him with the knife, but it looked like she didn't really want to hurt

him, because the blade didn't come close.

He jumped back, just out of range.

"Get away from her," Noah shouted.

Pearson was focused on Olivia, but she raised her eyes in shock to stare at Noah.

The distraction gave Pearson the opening he needed, and he leaped forward. Twisting her wrist and taking the knife away from her, he held the top of the gleaming blade directly over Olivia.

## Chapter Five

With a sick feeling, Noah realized he had tipped the balance in the wrong direction. While Olivia was distracted, Pearson brought his arm down in a savage strike.

Her dancer's reflexes had her dodging quickly aside, and the knife would have missed her entirely if she hadn't slammed into the side of the cabinet. Instead, the downward arc of the blade tore through the fabric at the side of her blouse, and she screamed.

It happened in seconds.

When the brother raised his hand for another blow, Noah sprang forward and grabbed for the knife. The blade caught him in the palm. Pain lanced through him, but he ignored it, twisting Pearson's wrist with the other hand. Stapler screamed and dropped the weapon.

Noah kicked it away. It clattered across the floor and slid half under the stove.

"Go after someone your own size," Noah ground out right before he punched Stapler in the chin. The man grunted and went down with a satisfying thunk.

Noah snatched up the knife and shoved it into his belt, then raced toward Olivia who lay on the floor, a red stain spreading across her dress.

Still ignoring his own injury, he looked wildly around and saw nothing to stanch the bleeding from Olivia's wound. His only option was to pull off his T-shirt and use that. When his arms were out of the sleeves and his head was covered, he heard Olivia's frantic shout, "Watch out!"

Scrabbling feet told him that Stapler was up and moving. As Noah pulled his head through the shirt, smearing blood across the fabric, the brother came crashing into him, knocking him sideways. He fought to throw the man off him, but he felt fists pummeling his chest, his face. Then a punch to his kidney sent pain shooting through his back.

From the corner of his eye, he saw Olivia lift her leg and kick out with her foot, catching her brother squarely in the shoulder.

"You bitch."

Pearson's focus shifted as he lunged for Olivia. But Noah was already grabbing for him. Clawing his fingers into the back of the man's shirt, he heaved him across the room, where he landed with a whooshing sound. This time, he didn't get up.

Somewhere in Noah's consciousness, he heard a siren wailing. Ignoring it, he pulled the shirt off and hurried toward Olivia who lay wide-eyed on the floor.

"You're hurt," he said as he knelt beside her and pressed the fabric to her side.

"So are you."

"It looks worse than it is," he said, using an old fallback line. "You're the one who needs medical attention."

Before he could say anything else, two uniformed police officers pounded into the room.

The brother pushed himself up to a sitting position and turned toward the cops, spewing a bunch of bull that had Noah staring in amazement.

"Thank God you're here. My sister's hurt. This man broke in and attacked her. Watch out. He's got a knife. It's right there, sticking out of his belt."

"That's a lie," Olivia shouted. "Noah didn't attack me. It was my brother who did it. Noah got him off me."

Both cops drew their weapons. The one whose badge identified him as Clairmont looked from Noah to Stapler and back again. "Throw down the knife. Very carefully."

Noah pulled the bloody weapon from his belt and tossed it onto the floor, where it clattered across the tiles.

"Now both of you guys, raise your hands," Clairmont growled.

Shirtless, Noah turned and faced the cops, his hands in the air. His right palm was still bleeding, but the cut was already closing.

He'd been arrested many times over the years, and he knew that if you made the wrong move, you could get hurt. He wasn't worried about himself. But Olivia was injured, and he wasn't going to leave her twisting in the wind.

Speaking slowly and distinctly he said, "The woman on the floor is bleeding. I was trying to make a compress out of my shirt. She needs an ambulance."

The cop's gaze flicked from him to Olivia. "She doesn't look so bad."

Noah forced himself not to leap across the room and grab the guy. "How the hell do you know?"

Clairmont made a dismissive sound. "Women like her are resilient."

"Like what?"

The cop gave him a smirking look. "You know the kind."

Noah's hands clenched. He wanted nothing more than to punch the cop, but that would only get him

arrested and then he wouldn't be able to help Olivia.

The cop spoke into the microphone attached to his collar, calling for backup and an ambulance.

"Arrest him," Stapler spat out, repeating his lie. "He came in here and started attacking my sister."

Noah kept his own voice calm. "It's just the opposite. If you talk to the woman upstairs, you'll find out that Stapler arrived before I did and started beating up on Olivia."

Clairmont looked like he might be persuaded to Noah's point of view. Then the other officer stepped forward.

"Not so fast. We've gotten reports on the two of them. They've been hanging around the Fountain Bar at the Calvanio. They're up to their eyeballs in some kind of dirty scam and we're going to find out what it is."

Noah heard Olivia gasp. He gave her a reassuring look, wondering exactly what he was going to say now, but he'd learned over the years that ideas came to him when he was in the midst of a crisis.

"It's not Olivia's fault," he said, then gestured toward the man on the floor. "Her brother, Pearson Stapler, is trying to blackmail her."

"Oh yeah? What's she done?" the second cop asked.

Noah was instantly sorry he'd put it in those terms. "Nothing," he spat out. "But her father is in a nursing home. Pearson's been threatening to tell him a pack of lies about her, just like he's lying now."

Olivia gaped at him. He was sure she wanted to ask how he knew that piece of information, but he gave his head a small shake, telling her to keep her mouth shut until the two of them could speak privately.

She was smart enough to take the silent suggestion.

On the other hand, the brother was dumb enough to keep digging himself deeper into a hole. "I saw you leave the bar with her," he shouted. "She went up to your room for some fun and games, and you just met her!"

Noah kept his own voice mild. "You may have seen us the other day, but I guess you didn't see us before. She and I are old friends." Addressing the cops, he said, "I'd appreciate it if you could cut her some slack. She's been hurt."

"That's bull! Tell me where you met her before," Stapler bellowed.

The cop turned to him and snapped. "Button it up, buddy. We've got to sort this out."

The brother looked like he wanted to strangle Noah for interfering with his plans, but Clairmont hoisted him off the floor, cuffed him, then patted him down.

After taking care of Pearson, he advanced on Noah. "Put your hands behind your back."

He hated going to the police station shirtless. But he figured that Olivia needed the shirt more than he did.

Teeth clenched, he let the cop cuff him.

Two more officers hurried into the room, and Clairmont explained the situation, then added, "The two guys are going down to the station. The woman's going to the hospital, under guard. We'll reassess her status after she sees a doctor."

One of the newcomers grabbed Stapler's arm.

Noah's gaze shot to Olivia. "It's going to be okay," he said, wondering if he was lying. Then he switched his attention back to the cops. "I'm registered at the Calvanio Hotel. I'm also registered at the Longevity Conference being held there. You can check me out with Dr. Sidney Hemmings. He personally invited me to the conference."

"You a doctor?"

He was tempted to say that he was a philanthropist who gave millions to medical research, but he knew it was better to maintain his low profile. "Just a private researcher," he answered.

Clairmont snorted. "A hanger-on."

"No!"

Before Noah could say anything else, they hustled him out of the room. His last glimpse of Olivia was of her white face as Clairmont crouched beside her.

AT LEASTthey hadn't booked him, Noah thought as he looked at the palm of his hand. The cut had been a quarter-inch deep. Now it was only a thin white line. In the next few hours it would be gone entirely.

Nobody had asked him about the injury. Probably they'd all assumed it was Olivia's blood on his shirt.

They'd left him to wait in an interrogation room at the downtown Las Vegas police station and they'd even given him a white T-shirt. He'd said again that he was registered at the hotel and the conference. He'd asked them to run his driver's license and he'd given the same address that he'd given to the cops on Grand Cayman. His San Francisco condo. It was a legitimate address. It just wasn't where anybody was likely to find him.

They'd taken the information and told him to wait.

Early in his checkered career, he'd gotten into some interesting scraps. Like the time he'd succumbed to temptation and let the nobles of a small European country set him up as their king. For a few glorious years, he'd enjoyed lording it over the locals, taking his pick of the kingdom's wealth and its women. He'd been enjoying himself too much to realize that one of the dukes was setting him up to lose a nasty little war so that the duke could take over the throne.

Noah had ended up sneaking out of the kingdom in the middle of the night, leaving his mistresses and most of the royal treasury behind.

That had been an important lesson. He'd decided that his best strategy was to live as a member of the upper-middle class. He'd shunned positions of power until the medicine man of a Native American tribe had designated Noah, alias Eagle Feather, as his successor. He'd counseled the tribe against going up against the soldiers in the area, only to see a troop of cavalry swoop into camp and kill everyone in a horrendous bloodbath. Of course, the outcome would have been the same for the tribe if they'd decided on an attack, but they would have taken a bunch of soldiers with them.

The troops had left Eagle Feather for dead, along with the rest of the men, women and children who had just wanted to live their lives on their ancestral lands.

Noah had recovered, of course, and slipped into the soldiers' camp, where he'd quietly slit the throats of fifteen of them before he'd gotten the hell out of there.

After that, he'd cut his hair, stolen some clothing from a cowpuncher and built up his capital as a card shark in a bunch of two-bit western towns. A couple of times, he'd been shot by a sore loser, but he'd always survived the attack and gone on to kill the would-be assassin.

Those were the bad old days of the Wild West, when the law was on the side of the strong and the ruthless. Life was supposed to be more civilized in twenty-first-century America.

As the rule of law asserted itself, Noah had enjoyed a period of peace and prosperity. As much as possible, he'd lived his life out of the spotlight, but modern technology had made life more difficult for him again.

With the advent of surveillance cameras and computer databases, everything was on record and it was harder to keep the details of his life away from prying eyes, like the Las Vegas Police Department.

Although he knew a camera had to be noting his reactions, he couldn't sit still in the hard wooden chair pulled up at a scarred table.

As he paced back and forth, he thought about all the mistakes he'd made in his life. Olivia was likely one of them.

But he couldn't get her out of his mind.

Was she in the hospital or had they discharged her and brought her down here?

She'd been through some tough times in the past few months, and she'd survived better than most people could. Another woman would have sunk into depression and given up. She'd hung in and tried to figure out a new direction for herself. Too bad her brother was determined to screw with her life.

As he paced back and forth in the small room, he glanced at his watch again, wondering how long they were going to let him stew. Wasn't an hour long enough for them to look up Stapler's record and verify that he was a petty criminal?

He was about to bang on the door in frustration when it opened, and Clairmont stepped in. A man in a rumpled summer-weight sports jacket and dark slacks was with him.

"This is Detective Waterford," Clairmont said. "He'd like to ask you some questions."

Noah nodded. He wasn't about to say nice to meet you. Instead, he demanded, "What's happening?"

"I thought you could tell us," Waterford answered.

Noah's nerves had been stretched tight as he'd waited for someone to interview him. Or tell him he was free to go. Now a new surge of tension zinged through him as he and Waterford stared at each other. Two men, sizing up each other.

Only Waterford had been watching him on the monitor, and Noah was seeing the detective for the first time.

Still, he had an advantage the cop couldn't know about. In his long life, Noah had been in this situation many times. And he understood that at the beginning, you rarely knew which way to jump. You just had to feel your way carefully through the shark-infested waters and hope you didn't get bitten.

"I know the brother has a record," Noah said.

"Uh-huh."

Noah looked into the detective's narrowed, dark eyes. "Do you want to know something specific?"

"The brother says he cut you. Let's see your hand."

OLIVIAhuddled on a padded table in the emergency room. The cubicle was chilly and she was shivering in the thin hospital gown they'd given her hours ago.

Apparently Mrs. Litton from upstairs had confirmed that Pearson had arrived first and threatened Olivia. She'd added that he'd been to the apartment before and made trouble. While Olivia had been in pain, a detective had asked if she wanted to press charges against Pearson. She hadn't—for a lot of reasons.

Finally the medical staff had gotten to her. Somebody was going to have to pay the bill, she knew, and she wondered where she was going to scrape up the money.

Or did they consider her a charity case? Did they have charity cases in Las Vegas? Probably, because it was a town where people could lose all their money on the turn of a card, then get into a fight over the loss and end up badly hurt.

She pressed her face into her hands. The painkillers they'd given her were making it hard to think. What should she do when she finally got out of here?

She still hadn't pawned the jewelry. Maybe she'd have to use the money to pay the hospital bill.

And what about Pearson? He'd been so mad at her because she wouldn't run the scam with him again.

A sick feeling welled up inside her when she thought about what she'd already done. They'd tried his scheme once, to her everlasting shame. Or half done it, because she hadn't been willing to actually go through with everything she was supposed to do.

She'd gone to a man's room. Not at the Calvanio. Another hotel on the Strip. But when the guy had reached for her, she'd ducked out of his embrace. Pearson hadn't known she'd gotten cold feet and had

barged in anyway.

The guy had laughed at their stupid plan, and they'd gotten the hell out of his room. But what if he'd gone to the cops? What if she was already in more trouble than she could imagine? The police claimed they knew she and Pearson were up to something.

Again she thought about Noah Fielding. He'd showed up at her apartment to rescue her, and she couldn't help wishing that he'd walk through the door now.

Then she brought herself up short. He'd already gotten hurt trying to help her. She couldn't pull him any further into her problems.

NOAHshrugged, then held up his hands, palms outward. "He made a swipe at me. I guess my reflexes are better than his."

Waterford stared at Noah's palms and said, "Where did the blood on your shirt come from?"

"From Olivia. I was trying to stop the bleeding from the wound in her side when the brother attacked me. It was a pretty wild few minutes. I can believe Stapler doesn't have all the details right."

The comment was followed by stone silence.

Noah understood the technique. If the other guy stopped talking, you were likely to jump in with a comment to fill the empty space. So Noah ordered himself to relax while he waited out the detective.

Before either one of them could break the stalemate, another man appeared behind Waterford.

Noah couldn't hide his relief when he saw Sidney Hemmings.

"The police contacted the hotel to see if you were registered at the conference," the researcher explained. "I told them you were. When I found out that you'd gotten into some trouble, I figured you might like to see a friendly face."

"Yes. Thanks."

Waterford jumped into the conversation. "You're free to go."

Finally!

"Where is Olivia Stapler?" Noah asked the question that had been stewing inside him since he'd first arrived at the station.

"She's still at the emergency room, as far as I know," the detective answered.

"And the brother?"

Waterford shrugged. "When I talked to her, she wouldn't press charges against him."

Noah stared at the detective. "Why not?"

"Maybe she's afraid of the consequences or maybe she wants to give the jerk another chance."

Noah bit back a curse, thinking that Pearson Stapler could be waiting in the parking lot to jump her as soon as she walked out of the emergency room door. And Noah had better get there before it happened.

"Where can I get a cab?" he asked.

"I can give you a ride," Hemmings offered.

"Thanks." Noah looked at Waterford again. "Which hospital?"

"Las Vegas General."

"I appreciate this," Noah said as they climbed into Hemmings's rental car.

"No problem."

When they pulled away from the police station, Noah breathed out a sigh. He was finally out of the clutches of the cops, yet he had a gut feeling that this wasn't over.

Hemmings spared him a look as he drove. "Were you hurt in the scuffle?" the researcher asked.

"I'm fine," Noah snapped, then apologized. "I'm sorry. I'm kind of on edge."

"What happened? I don't know anything other than that they were asking questions about you and that you were at the police station."

Noah apologized for dragging Dr. Hemmings into his mess. Then he explained, "I met Olivia Stapler at the hotel. I've been worried about her, so I went over to her apartment. I came in just as her brother was assaulting her."

Hemmings sucked in a sharp breath. "Good timing. What did he do to her?"

"He cut her with a knife. When the cops showed up, the brother started spewing a bunch of lies about who did what to whom. Which is how I ended up at the station. Now I want to find out how Olivia is."

The researcher looked like he wanted to ask more questions, but he pressed his lips together.

When they arrived at the hospital, Hemmings pulled up at the emergency room door.

Noah jumped out and looked around, trying to spot Stapler. When he didn't see the bastard, he turned back to Hemmings. "Thanks for the ride."

"I don't want to leave you alone."

"I can handle this," Noah said in a firm voice. Without waiting for an answer, he ran to the door.

Inside, he hurried to the reception desk. "I'm looking for Olivia Stapler," he said.

The receptionist consulted a clipboard in front of her. "She's in the back."

"What's her status?"

"I can't give out that information, sir."

"I'd like to see her."

"Family only, I'm afraid."

"I'm her fiance," he clipped out, then wondered where that outrageous idea had come from.

The woman eyed him. Maybe he looked desperate and worried enough for her to take pity on him, because she picked up the phone on her desk and made a call. A few minutes later, a nurse led him into the treatment area.

He found Olivia sitting on a table inside a small room. She was wearing a hospital gown, and he could see from the bulge under the left side that they had bandaged her wound. He could also see her breasts through the thin fabric of the gown. Her nipples were puckered from the cold, clearly standing up against the fabric.

He dragged his gaze away from her chest as she looked up at him. Her eyes seemed clouded, but they cleared when they focused on him.

"Noah?"

"How are you?" he asked.

She waited a moment before answering. "Not too bad." She raised one shoulder. "They gave me something for the pain."

"Can you leave?"

"I think so." Her expression turned confused. "What are you doing here?"

"I wasn't going to just abandon you."

AFEW minutes ago, Jarred Bainbridge had been stopped dead. Now he was back on track. Noah Fielding had apparently gotten into some trouble in Las Vegas, and there was a police write-up on the case, which Jarred had accessed.

But the police report was less interesting to him than the private information he'd just acquired. Apparently Fielding's hand had been cut in a fight with a guy named Pearson Stapler. Then miraculously, the wound had disappeared.

So what did that mean? Did Fielding have some secret formula that healed him? Or was the story about the hand bunk?

Jarred wanted to see for himself. In fact, he was eager to repeat the experiment—perhaps with some kind of deeper cut that would be harder to miss.

Until a little while ago, Fielding had been cooling his heels at the downtown Las Vegas police station. According to a contact in the police department, when they'd let him leave, he'd gone straight to the hospital to see about Stapler's sister.

That sounded like a good place to scoop him up.

So how should he do it? He could use his contacts in the police department or he could use a private contractor.

After considering his options, Jarred reached for the phone and gave the orders.

NOAHwatched a wealth of emotions chase themselves across Olivia's face.

"I'm sorry I got you into trouble."

"Not your fault."

"Of course it was!"

"Let's not argue about it," he said gently.

She swallowed hard. "I thought when they took you away, I wouldn't see you again."

"They held me for a while. Then they let me go. I got here as quickly as I could."

He stepped toward her, wanted to pull her into his arms. She looked fragile, but he needed the reassurance of touching her.

Slowly he took another step and another. When she didn't draw back, he reached for her.

She moved easily into his embrace, her head coming to rest on his shoulder, a sigh escaping from her.

He felt her trembling. Maybe he was trembling, too. When she lifted her head, he lowered his, and their lips met.

A small sound escaped her. He hoped it was an invitation, because the need for more intimate contact suddenly filled him. The first touch of his mouth to hers sent sensation surging through him like a volcano of emotions.

He angled his head to taste her lips, sipping from her, drinking in the wonderful taste of her. He remembered the last kiss, remembered the out-of-control passion. He wasn't going to let that happen now, not when she was in the emergency room after being treated for a knife wound. He swore that to himself.

Yet he couldn't make himself lift his mouth, couldn't stop his hand from stroking her shoulders and arms.

As he touched her, erotic images assaulted him. He pictured her opening her legs for him where she sat on the side of the table. He pictured himself unzipping his pants and entering her as he stood in front of



story of his life? The story he hadn't told anyone but Thomas in over a hundred years.

Before she could say anything else, he asked, "Your brother cut you. Why didn't you press charges against him?"

She gave him a pleading look. "I was in shock when they brought me here. I couldn't think straight, and that policeman was pressing me to have Pearson arrested." She looked at him helplessly. "I needed time to decide whether it was the right thing to do."

He stared at her. How many people would have given that bastard the benefit of the doubt? But Olivia's goodness had made her stop and think before she charged her brother with assault.

"He could be waiting outside for you," Noah pointed out, keeping his gaze steady on her.

She caught her breath. "I didn't think of that."

"Because you're too moral. You're going to let me protect you."

"Moral? I did something..." Her voice trailed off.

"We'll talk about it later."

"I don't feel good about it."

"Later," he repeated. "The quicker I get you out of here, the better." He gave her a long look. "You need some clothes to wear. Wait right here. Don't let them send you back out front."

"I might not be able to—"

"Stay here. Tell them I'm coming to pick you up. I'll be back as soon as I can." He turned and hurried back toward the waiting room. When he looked through the door, he saw Hemmings sitting on one of the chairs. And Detective Waterford was just walking in the door like he owned the place.

Chapter Six

Noah ducked back around the corner, hopefully before Waterford saw him. Was the cop looking for him or for Olivia? And why?

He'd like to know exactly what kind of mess he'd stepped into, and now he wondered if he should have let Olivia confess whatever was bothering her.

Still, in the absence of that information, he knew something for sure. His plans hadn't really changed. With Olivia in no shape to be interrogated, he was getting her out of the line of fire before the detective started in on her again. And before her brother could take another crack at her.

He hurried down the hall, opening doors, seeing nothing she could wear. He was out of the emergency room and into the hospital proper when he came to the gift shop. At this time of night, it was locked, but when he looked through the glass, he saw what he needed.

After glancing around to make sure nobody was watching him, he stepped to the door, gave the knob a hard twist, and rammed his shoulder against the door. He was stronger than he looked, and over the

years he'd learned techniques for getting into places where he had no business being. The lock wasn't very effective. After twisting the knob open, he stepped inside and headed for a rack of Las Vegas General Hospital T-shirts. To change his appearance a little, he took a navy one of those for himself.

He found a plain yellow blouse for Olivia that opened down the front so she could get into it easily. He also took a running suit that had the hospital logo.

He scribbled a note saying what he'd appropriated and left it with more than enough money under a ceramic crock on the counter. Mission accomplished, he sprinted back to the room where he'd left Olivia.

When he shot back through the door, she looked up in alarm.

"Sorry I scared you." He crossed to her. "How are you feeling?"

"I'm still spacey."

"Can you walk?"

"I think so."

She eased off the table and stood on shaky legs. Noah looked toward the door, thinking Waterford might come in at any minute. To make sure they didn't collide with the detective, he took Olivia's arm and helped her walk several doors down the hall, to an empty cubicle.

She looked exhausted from the short trip, so he told her to sit on the table while he changed his shirt and stuffed the white one in a trash can.

Then he turned back to her. "You've got to take off that gown."

Her brow wrinkled. "I don't have a bra on."

"I know."

"Oh right," she murmured, apparently remembering that he'd found that out for himself.

This time when he touched her, he tried to stay all business as he untied the fastenings and eased the gown off her shoulders. But his fingers burned when he touched her bare back. And when he carefully pulled the garment off her body, the sight of her high, firm breasts made him draw in a quick breath.

Glancing up at her face, he saw her staring at him intensely.

He managed to give her a crooked grin, then helped her put the arm on her bad side through one sleeve. She winced.

"Sorry."

"It's okay. I think I'm going to have a little trouble dressing for a few days."

They got the other arm through the sleeve, and he stepped back, relieved to have broken the contact.

His voice came out low and thick when he asked, "Can you button it?"

She raised her left arm and lowered it to her side again. "Sorry. I don't think I can maneuver very well."

Bending again, he clamped his lower lip between his teeth as he pulled the fabric over her breasts, then fastened the buttons, trying not to touch her as he worked. But her shallow breathing told him she was just as aware of him as he was of her.

The next task was getting the pants of the running suit on her, and he was thankful that she was still wearing panties.

She braced her hand on his shoulder as she pushed first one leg and then the other into the pants. When she was finally dressed, he realized he'd forgotten something.

"Damn!"

"What?"

"Your shoes," he muttered. "I don't want to go back for them. Can you walk barefoot?"

She nodded.

After checking the hallway, he led her out of the cubicle and toward the main part of the hospital.

When he heard someone coming up rapidly behind him, he turned, expecting to find that Waterford had figured out they weren't leaving the way they'd come in.

Instead it was another man, dressed in a business suit who had his arm down by his side, partially concealing the gun in his hand.

Noah looked from the man to Olivia. She was in no shape to run. And what good would it do them? They might as well be in a shooting gallery, if blasting them was what the guy had in mind.

"FBI. I want to talk to you."

Noah had seen enough federal agents to be sure the guy wasn't one of them. Not when he was coming at them with a weapon in his hand.

"What's your name?" he asked.

"Agent Barenson."

"You have ID?"

"You don't need to see it."

Olivia's eyes had gone wide.

Noah gave her a quick, reassuring look, then turned back to the man with the gun.

"What can I do for you?" he asked as he stepped forward, putting himself between the gun and Olivia.

"We should get out of the hallway."

"Okay."

"Walk ahead of me. Both of you."

Noah still didn't know whether the guy was after him or Olivia. Or both of them.

As they walked down the hall, his mind was coming up with plans and discarding them just as quickly. It didn't matter whether he got shot. But it mattered a great deal what happened to Olivia.

She shuffled along beside him.

"Hurry up," Barenson growled.

"I'm sick," she whispered.

Noah knew she must be frightened out of her mind, yet he was pretty sure she was deliberately slowing down the gunman, and when he gave her a sideways glance, he saw her lips were firmed.

She also looked to the side, and their gazes met. He knew she was trying to tell him something and he wanted to shout at her to stay out of the way. Too bad he hadn't developed telepathic capacities over the past few hundred years.

"Turn right," the fake agent ordered.

They turned, taking a side corridor.

"Stop here," Barenson said.

They were standing in front of a door that said "Supply Closet."

Their captor tipped his head toward Olivia. "Open it. Then step inside."

She walked to the door and reached for the knob, but her hand wavered.

"I'm too sick," she whispered. "I think...I'm going to faint." Then she toppled to the side.

Barenson cursed and swung toward Olivia.

Taking advantage of the chance she'd given him, Noah spun around, grabbed the guy's head and slammed his face into the wall.

The gunman gasped as he went down.

Recovering instantly from the bogus swoon, Olivia pushed herself up.

"Can you open the door?" Noah asked.

"Yes." She turned the handle. Noah grabbed the guy by the shoulders and shoved him inside, where he

lay unmoving on the floor next to a pile of cardboard boxes.

Noah turned on the lights, revealing shelves lining the walls. They were filled with various disposable hospital goods. "Get inside."

After stepping through the door, which Noah closed behind them, Olivia stared wide-eyed at the attacker. "Who is he?"

"Probably not an FBI agent named Barenson. You don't recognize him?"

"No."

"Thanks for helping fake him out."

"I didn't know if you figured out I was going to try something."

"I did. And I was thinking you could get hurt."

"Better than whatever he was going to do."

"Yeah." Taking a chance on staying another sixty seconds, Noah knelt and rifled through the man's pockets. He had no ID of any kind. But in the breast pocket of his suit, he did have a hypodermic needle full of something. Careful not to dislodge the cap, Noah pocketed the hypo along with the gun. Another gun, he thought, to go with the one from Pearson.

"We'd better get the hell out of here. He could have friends."

Opening the door a crack, he looked out. The hall was still empty. As he hurried Olivia toward the lobby, an uncertain look crossed her features, like she was coming out of a fog. "Shouldn't I check out? And...and...how am I going to pay?"

He laughed. "We'll worry about that later."

Once again, he was making and discarding plans. Hemmings might still be in the emergency room waiting area, but Noah didn't want to go back that way.

In the lobby, he was still trying to figure out what to do when a cab pulled up at the front door. As a white-haired man got out and shuffled toward the building, Noah walked around to the driver's side and asked if the cabby could take another fare.

"Where to?"

He hadn't gotten that far. After thinking for a minute, he named a small luxury hotel, the Royal Crescent. It was off the Strip, and he'd stayed there a few years earlier when he'd wanted a quiet location in the gambling town.

After he'd given the address, he went back for Olivia and helped her into the backseat.

When the cab pulled away, he let out the breath he'd been holding. He hadn't been sure they could really make their escape, but here they were. On the run from Lord knew who.

Olivia leaned her head on his shoulder as the cab headed across town.

When they arrived at the hotel, Noah helped her out of the cab and into a seat in the lobby while he registered. Because he always carried a couple of IDs with him, he checked in as Noel Feldman. Too bad he'd registered at the Calvanio as Noah Fielding, but he hadn't wanted to confuse people, like Hemmings, by using an alias.

After whisking Olivia into the elevator and into their room, he tucked her into bed. Then he went out to the well-stocked bar in the living room and poured himself a bourbon.

A New World liquor. He didn't usually drink, but he figured he deserved a couple of shots.

After taking a long swallow of the fiery liquid, he sat down on the sofa and sipped more slowly.

He had sprung Olivia from the hospital and gotten the two of them away from a gunman in the hallway, but he wasn't kidding himself. They weren't going to be safe until they got out of town.

And maybe not then.

He set down the glass on the coffee table and leaned his head back, thinking that his life had taken some very unsettling turns in the past few days. He'd been bombarded with one mess after another.

That sometimes happened. Events swirled together to surround him in good fortune or bad. But in the game of his life, the odds were better than at the Las Vegas casinos. His experience gave him an advantage. Seldom did he encounter a situation that was totally new.

So what was going on now?

And how did Olivia fit into the balance?

He was strongly attracted to her and he wanted to help her. But he couldn't deny that she was causing some of the problems. First, there was her brother. The two of them were up to something that he still didn't understand. Then the guy posing as an FBI agent named Barenson. He could have been after her, although Noah's gut told him that he'd been the target.

Which made him remember the hypodermic needle. He brought it out and looked at it, wondering what it contained. Too bad he didn't have access to a lab here. With a sigh, he went into the bathroom and emptied the syringe into the sink. Then he flushed the needle and kept the barrel, hoping he could analyze the residue later.

He wished dealing with Olivia was as easy. He wanted to make sure she was all right, but then what?

Meanwhile, he still had his own problems to deal with.

Unfortunately, he had to go back to the Calvanio. His belongings were expendable, except for his laptop. It had too much information stored on it. Of course, the hard drive was password protected, but someone with computer skills might be able to break into it. The gun in the drawer was another problem. He didn't want someone stumbling onto it and wondering why he had it.

It flashed into his mind that he might call Sidney Hemmings and ask him to take care of the computer. But that presented a number of complications. Hemmings would have to get permission to enter his

room. Even if they could manage that, Noah wasn't perfectly sure that he trusted Hemmings. And certainly not with the gun.

Noah walked back to the bedroom and saw that Olivia was still sleeping. He didn't want to wake her, but he couldn't just leave her alone. Nor could he write a note because she might wake up and panic before she saw the message.

He eased onto the bed and lightly stroked her cheek. She made a small sound and stirred in her sleep. When he slid his finger to her mouth and traced the curve of her upper lip, her eyes opened.

As he'd anticipated, her eyes went wide with panic until they focused on him. He saw her struggling for calm as she took in the darkened room.

```
"Where are we?"
"The Royal Crescent Hotel."
When she tried to sit up, she winced.
"You're hurting."
"I guess we left the hospital without any pain medication."
He cursed under his breath. "I was so busy getting you out of there that I didn't think about that."
"It's okay."
"No, it's not. But I can do something to help."
"What?"
"Have you ever tried hypnosis for pain?"
"Does it work?"
"Yes. But first I need to tell you something. I woke you up because I have to go back to the Calvanio
and pick up my laptop."
She caught her breath. "Is that safe?"
"If I'm careful."
"But—"
"I'll be fine. I'll be back in a half hour. Meanwhile, let's take care of your pain. Look up at the line
```

When she'd done as he asked, he began to speak to her in a slow, even voice. "You're very relaxed. You're going to a place where you'll be very relaxed and comfortable. Where is that?"

where the wall meets the ceiling."

She answered immediately. "The ocean. I love sitting and looking at the waves. We lived near the ocean

when I was a little girl."

"Good. You're at the ocean," he continued in a mellow, reassuring tone, confident that she would follow his lead. "You have a nice comfortable chaise longue in the sun, but you're not going to get sunburned. You're feeling warm and nice and safe. You're not in any pain. Do you feel any pain?"

"No," she murmured.

"That's good."

"Stay with me," she whispered.

"I have to get some things but I'll be right back," he answered.

When she moved restlessly on the bed, he went back through the steps of relaxing her, and she settled again.

He had made her feel better and it was tempting to take one more step. While she was in this state, he could ask her about the scam with the brother, and she'd tell him what was going on. But he didn't want to use hypnosis to force information out of her. He wanted her to trust him enough to tell him on her own.

So he only said, "You're going to sleep on your chaise now. With the warm sun making you feel so good. You won't feel any pain. You'll be very comfortable. And when you wake up, I'll be right here with you."

"Okay," she answered in a lazy voice.

He stood up, thinking that he'd forgotten more than pain medication. She should be on antibiotics, too.

He knew a doctor was on call at the hotel and he was pretty sure that with some extra money for the man's trouble, he'd be able to get the medication from him.

Taking the hypo and the gun, he left the Royal Crescent and walked back to the Calvanio. Thankful for the eternal twilight of the casino, he was able to slip through it and into the elevator. In his room, he quickly packed the clothing he'd brought, along with the laptop.

OLIVIAsmiled and tipped her head toward the sun. Noah had brought her to this beautiful, private beach, and...

Was he here with her?

Yes! That was the way she wanted it. The two of them were relaxing in the sun on a double chaise. A very comfortable double chaise. Almost like a bed, in fact.

She was wearing a very tiny two-piece bathing suit. Well, the bottom part, at least. She'd taken off the top to get a better tan. Noah was wearing a bathing suit, too. Not those big clunky trunks that American men wore. It was the skimpy European kind. She could see everything he had through the thin fabric. And she could see that he was hard.

As she stared at his erection, her insides turned liquid. They wanted each other and they were going to make love right out here in the sun.

He reached out to stroke her breasts, his fingers playing lightly over her nipples, sending shivers of sensation through her.

"You're going to make me explode," she gasped. "Just like that."

He gave her a knowing look. "That's the idea, sweetheart."

She grinned back and rolled toward him, then winced.

Something was wrong. Her ribs hurt.

When her eyes snapped open, she saw that she wasn't on a sunny beach at all. She was in a bed, in a darkened room.

Oh Lord, where was she?

Panic threatened to choke off her breath, but she struggled for calm.

Memories surfaced. Noah had brought her here after the hospital.

Gritting her teeth, she pushed herself up. She might be having sexual fantasies about him, but he had taken her to this hotel because he was being kind to her.

She sat for a moment, catching her breath, trying to be honest with herself. There was something about Noah Fielding that she couldn't define. He was different from any other man she'd ever met. He had a steadiness and a confidence about him that she envied. And he knew so much. Really, she was sure that she had only scratched the surface of what he was. There was a depth to him that she wanted to explore, and a firmness of resolve she hadn't encountered in a long, long time.

She'd been physically attracted to him right from the start, and she could fall hard for the guy, if she let herself. The problem was, she wasn't any good for him. Maybe if she were still dancing and felt good about herself, she could pretend she was his equal, even though she wasn't. He was obviously educated and doing well, and she needed to find some way to support herself while she finally went to college. Then there was that mess with her brother. No, it wasn't meant to be for her and Noah.

She gathered up a handful of the top sheet, trying to bring the past few hours into focus. He'd done something to her mind—hypnosis she guessed it was. Then he'd gone out, thinking she'd stay asleep while he was away.

He'd be coming back soon, and she had to get out of here before that happened. Otherwise, she'd let him talk her into what she wanted so desperately.

Gritting her teeth, she pushed herself off the bed and wavered on unsteady legs. When she looked down at herself, she grimaced as she saw that she was still wearing the mismatched blouse and pants Noah had given her in the hospital.

At the time, she hadn't questioned him about them. But where had he gotten clothing at that hour of the morning? Surely the gift shop wasn't open, so had he...stolen them?

Yes, probably that was it. Which just proved her point about being no good for him.

She staggered across the room and made it into a sitting area, then found that she was completely winded.

Gripping the arms of the chair, she thought about how she was going to get out of here. She needed shoes. This was a high-priced hotel. Maybe they provided guests with slippers.

The question was, did she have the energy to go back into the bedroom and look for them?

AFTERstuffing Pearson's gun in his bag and checking the room to make sure he hadn't left anything important, Noah hurried back to the Calvanio's registration desk where he checked out a day early. He also left a sealed envelope with a note and more than enough cash to pay Olivia's emergency room bill. The clerk added a stamp and put it into the outgoing mail.

Noah had just pocketed his copy of the hotel bill when his luck ran out. As he turned away from the desk, he saw Detective Waterford walking rapidly toward him.

"I'm glad I caught up with you," the cop said.

Noah could think of several rejoinders, none of which contained the same sentiment. Instead, he was imagining a hole opening up in the floor under the man. He could drop to the depths of hell and Noah could be on his way.

The cop zeroed in on his suitcase and computer bag. "Are you leaving?"

"Yes."

"Let's find a quiet place to talk."

Noah shrugged and followed the cop to a seating area at the side of the lobby, but both of them remained standing.

Neither of them spoke, and Noah waited, determined not to break the silence by asking what the man wanted.

"Ms. Stapler left without checking herself out of the hospital."

"Uh-huh."

"She was in no shape to get out of there on her own."

Again, Noah waited.

"Someone took some clothing from the gift shop. And someone bashed up a local thug."

A local thug. Interesting. Noah only shrugged.

"Were you involved in any of that?"

Noah shifted his weight from one foot to the other. "What makes you think so?"

"Deductive reasoning. And the T-shirt we gave you was found in the trash can several doors down from where Ms. Stapler was being treated."

"I'm in a hurry," Noah said.

"To get to the airport?"

Noah wished he'd kept his mouth shut. Instead of answering, he went back to the silent technique.

"Do you know where Ms. Stapler is?" Waterford asked. "She owes the hospital for her treatment."

Honesty forced him to say, "I mailed them some money."

"Where is she?"

"She's resting at another hotel."

"Which one?" the detective demanded.

"I'd rather not say."

Waterford kept his gaze on Noah. "We need to know her location."

This time it was impossible to keep silent. "Why? Are you charging her with something?" he asked.

"The brother has been mouthing off. He's threatening to kill her, if he can find her."

Chapter Seven

Noah felt the blood in his veins turn to ice as he struggled not to give away his reaction. He had met a lot of women in his life and he'd come to care about some of them. Nobody in a long time had affected him the way Olivia Stapler did.

He wanted to turn around and run back to the Royal Crescent, but if he did, Waterford was going to follow him, and he'd lead the cop straight to her.

As they stood facing each other, Noah ordered himself to think this through. Cops were allowed to tell you anything they wanted, whether it was true or not. Which meant that Waterford could have dropped that story about the brother because he wanted to question Olivia about the scam she and Stapler had been working.

Even if the brother had made the threat, it still might not be true. The jerk could have simply been letting off steam.

Noah could see the detective was watching him carefully. For a split second, he thought about trusting the guy. He could tell Olivia's location, and the cops would give her protection.

As soon as the notion surfaced, he dismissed it. Trusting this guy was not a smart move.

"Thanks for the information," he said, then glanced at his watch. "I've got a little time left. I think I'll get in a couple of last licks at the tables."

"You can play the slots at the airport," Waterford said.

"I hate slots. I'd rather play a game where judgment counts for something." Quickly he turned and walked into the darkened casino. It was early in the morning now, but the lighted signs on the machines still flashed their come-hither call and the sound of coins dropping into the slots made a clanging background noise. A siren sounded and lights flashed as someone won a jackpot. A man and woman holding cups of change plowed toward the cashier, and Noah dodged around them, heading for the poker tables. After ducking around a pillar, he looked behind him.

Waterford had entered the casino but didn't look like he knew where his quarry had gone.

Noah plunged farther into the noise and confusion of the card-playing area, watched a few moments, then headed for an exit—this time into the garden where he and Olivia had encountered Gary Carlson.

That seemed like a decade ago, or maybe Noah's life was passing at lightning speed. Certainly it had felt that way since the diving accident off Grand Cayman.

Circling through the garden, he made it to the sidewalk again and took off along the side street. Only when he'd rounded the parking lot of the next casino did he head back in the direction of the Royal Crescent, constantly alert for Waterford or anyone else following him.

He got back to the hotel in record time and took one of the elevators to the fifth floor. As he let himself into the suite, he allowed relief to flood through him. But when he charged into the bedroom, it was empty.

His next stop was the bathroom, but Olivia wasn't there, either.

Although she had vanished, the sink felt warm, telling him she'd very recently run hot water.

She couldn't have been gone long.

He dashed out of the suite again and took an elevator to the lobby. Improvising, he said to the desk clerk, "I was expecting my fiancee to be here. We were supposed to go out together. Did you see which way she went?"

"I believe she turned left," the clerk said without missing a beat.

"Thanks."

Noah exited the building and turned left, praying that he would somehow find Olivia—before her brother did. Or the cops.

As he jogged down the street, he studied every woman he saw. None of them was Olivia, and he felt his throat constrict with worry. He was just about to acknowledge defeat when he finally spotted her. He uttered a little prayer of thanks. She hadn't gotten very far, only a couple of blocks from the hotel. Obviously winded, she was huddled on one of the benches provided by the city at bus stops.

He was about to call out to her when a battered silver Honda zipped by him, then screeched to a stop beside the bench.

Noah didn't know who it was, not for sure. Still, his heart was in his throat as he watched the driver's door open.

His worst suspicions were confirmed as the brother barreled out of the car, raced around the vehicle and started yelling at Olivia.

"Got ya, you bitch."

"Get away from me."

"In your dreams." As he shouted the last words, Stapler grabbed Olivia and tried to drag her toward the car.

Noah knew she was weak and in pain, but she grabbed on to the bench as Stapler struggled to pull her toward the car.

Get off her, you bastard,he silently screamed as he ran toward the pair, praying she could keep from getting dragged into the vehicle long enough for him to get there.

Fueled by determination, Noah put on a burst of speed.

Finally, between pants for breath, the words shrieking inside him burst from his lips. "Leave her alone."

He was less than half a block away, and both Stapler and Olivia jerked toward him. He could see the shock on Olivia's face and the determination on the brother's.

When Stapler redoubled his efforts, Noah knew that he had to get there in the next few seconds or it would be all over.

He had never run faster in his life as he flew toward the car. His lungs were burning and he could feel the pavement pounding the bottoms of his feet through the soles of his shoes.

The effort was wasted.

Stapler lifted Olivia off the ground. As Noah watched in sick horror, the brother managed to throw her into the car and slam the door, then run back to the driver's side.

Get out. You can get out, Noah screamed inside his mind.

But she must have used up all her strength in the fight, because she didn't open the door.

PEARSONslammed Olivia against the car door, stunning her and jarring her injured side. Her vision swam and she fought to catch her breath.

When she fumbled for the door handle, he slapped her, then stepped on the accelerator.

"You want to get killed? Go ahead and jump," he taunted.

Her body ached and her head throbbed as she stared at him through eyes that stung. "Why are you doing this?"

"Because you lied to me. You never had any intentions of helping me, did you? The one time you went upstairs with a guy, you screwed up."

Unable to play games with him any longer, she whispered, "That's right."

"You bitch. You were always a bitch, weren't you, even back home with Pop, when you were pretending to be oh-so-nice."

"I worked to make a home for the two of you. I cooked dinner. I kept the house clean. I did the laundry. You didn't help."

Ignoring her protest, he plowed ahead. "All you cared about was your damn dancing."

"That's not true. Let me go."

"And you got what you wanted, didn't you? Pop loved you. He never loved me."

"Is that what this is about?"

"Shut up."

He flicked her a look, probably thinking he had her under his control. He might be her brother, but he'd resented her all these years. Maybe he'd even forced her into his wild scheme because he wanted her to get in trouble with the law. Never mind what happened to him.

Now he had her in his clutches, and the look in his eyes made her blood run cold. But she had always been a fighter and she wasn't going to let him win.

She had to get away and even if she made him wreck the car, that would be better than whatever he had in mind for her.

She wanted to close her eyes, but she was afraid to take them off Pearson as she huddled against the door, gathering her strength.

NOAHkept running after the Honda, his eye never leaving the vehicle. He wanted to howl in anger and frustration, but he couldn't waste the breath on anything besides running.

The brother had said he'd kill Olivia. Well, he had her and he could take her anywhere and do whatever he wanted.

The thought kept Noah running.

As the car sped straight up the street, Noah almost gave up hope of catching them. Then, as he

watched, it jerked to the right and then to the left.

Noah tried to imagine what was happening. Was Olivia grabbing the wheel?

He didn't know for sure, but he could tell she was doing something.

"Yes!" he shouted, redoubling his efforts as he watched the vehicle weave from one lane to the other. Another driver swerved to the side, honking loudly as the Honda barely avoided a collision.

The car lurched into oncoming traffic, straight into the path of a truck, and Noah's heart leaped into his throat. At the last second, it jerked out of the way of the two-ton truck, but overcompensated and jumped the curb. A pedestrian leaped out of the way as the Honda plowed across the cement. The car came to a stop, but not before it bashed into a trash can and dragged the container down the sidewalk.

Noah was ten yards from the car when the passenger door opened and Olivia rolled out. The brother came crashing out of the driver's side and barreled toward her, murder in his eyes.

Noah reached him first, spun him around and delivered a right hook to his jaw. As he had in their previous fight, the bastard went down.

Noah rounded the car and knelt beside Olivia. "Are you all right?"

Her lips moved but no words were spoken. She looked dazed.

"We've got to get out of here." Lifting her up, he carried her back to the car, set her gently on the front seat, then climbed behind the wheel. The engine was still running, and all he had to do was turn the wheel and back up to disengage the trash can.

The vehicle made a rattling sound but kept moving.

Noah took his eyes from the wheel long enough to look at Olivia. "What did you do to make the car swerve like that?" he asked.

"I started hitting him." She'd found her voice.

"Good."

"He was yelling and cursing at me."

"But you kept him from driving straight."

She heaved in a breath and let it out. "I guess I should have pressed charges."

"Yeah."

He turned down a side street and circled back toward the hotel.

"When I went back to the Calvanio for my stuff, I ran into Detective Waterford. He said your brother was telling people he wanted to kill you. When I rushed back to the Royal Crescent, you were gone."

"Sorry," she whispered.

"How did he find you?"

She made a snorting sound. "It was just blind luck! He was driving around and spotted me."

He swallowed around the lump in his throat. "Why did you leave?"

"I..." She spread her hands.

"Why?" he pressed.

She kept her gaze straight ahead. "You've done too much for me already, and I figured I was only going to get you into trouble. It looks like I was right."

He ignored the last part and said, "I haven't done nearly enough. I'm getting you out of town. I'm taking you where you'll be safe."

"He'll come after me. Then you'll get hurt, too."

"He won't be able to find us. And you'll be safe—if you're under my protection as my wife."

Her head jerked toward him and she stared at him, wide-eyed. "What did you say?"

"I said, you're going to marry me."

"I—I can't marry you."

"Of course you can."

She leaned back against the seat, her eyes closed. "You could be making the worst mistake of your life."

He laughed. "You'd be surprised at some of the mistakes I've made."

"Like what?"

"We'll talk about it later," he answered, wondering exactly what he was going to say. He could give her plenty of incidents, like the time he'd led a group of insurgents into battle against an overwhelming force. They'd had right on their side, but he was the only one who had survived. He thrust that memory away. He wasn't going to tell her about that, even if he changed some details and changed the century.

He tightened his hands on the wheel. More lies. That was the central tenet of his life. Lies.

Could he have something better with her? After keeping his own counsel for years, he longed for an honest relationship, even if he couldn't have it yet. But if he told her the truth, it would change the way she thought about him, and he wasn't ready for that.

He hadn't been paying attention to his driving and he hit the brake hard when the car in front of him stopped for a red light.

Beside him, Olivia made a sharp sound, and his gaze shot to her. Her skin had turned pale and her brow was covered with sweat.

"You're hurting."

"I'll be okay."

"As soon as we get back to the hotel, I'm getting you a doctor." And a minister, he silently added. Well, maybe not a minister, but someone who would marry them. In this town, that shouldn't be a problem.

She'd go along with it, because Noah Fielding usually got what he wanted.

He pulled up at the hotel entrance, where the doorman was obviously shocked to see a car with a caved-in bumper at the Royal Crescent.

"Have this put in valet parking," Noah said as he stepped out and hurried to the passenger door. "And call the house doctor. My fiancee got a little bashed up."

As the doorman scurried to obey, Noah helped Olivia out of the car. She winced as she stood, then wavered on unsteady legs.

Noah glanced around, half expecting Detective Waterford to come popping out of the shadows like a jack-in-the-box. But the detective apparently hadn't found their hideout.

They made it to the suite without incident, and Noah eased Olivia onto the bed.

A few minutes later, the front desk called to say Doctor Turnbull was on his way up.

"I understand you wanted a physician right away," he said when Noah opened the door. The way he said it conveyed the definite impression that the speedy service was going to be expensive.

Sticking to the medical issues, Noah said, "My fiancee was cut. And then she was in a car accident. I'm afraid she hasn't done the original wound any good."

"Cut?"

"Her brother attacked her with a knife," Noah clipped out, making it clear that he didn't want to get into a long discussion about the incident. "She's resting in the bedroom."

Taking the hint, Turnbull crossed the sitting room.

When the door opened, Olivia turned her head toward them, and Noah could see that she was ready to slide off the bed and bolt, although he knew she couldn't get very far.

"This is Doctor Turnbull," he said in a soothing voice. "He's going to examine you and give you some medication for the pain."

The doctor asked him to leave while he did an examination. When he opened the door again, Noah tried to read his expression.

"How is she?"

"Pretty good, under the circumstances. But she needs to mend. No more excitement. I've already given

her a painkiller. I can leave a prescription for more with the concierge, and also for an antibiotic." "Thanks so much." "And my fee will be included in your hotel bill." "That's fine. Thanks again," Noah said. He could tell the doctor wanted to ask some questions about the knife incident, but Noah had no intention of answering them. Instead, he ushered the man out of the suite so he could hurry back to Olivia. JARREDBainbridge picked up the phone and spoke to one of the men who did special jobs for him. "Did you get him?" "Negative." "What the hell happened this time?" "After he assaulted Lex, he took the woman out of the hospital and disappeared." "Left town?" "We don't know." "Find him." "If he's in town, we will." "Check the airports. And the car rental companies." He thought for a moment. "How did he get to the hospital? How did he leave?" "We're working on that." "And canvass the other hotels." "We're already on that." He considered the female angle. "What about the woman?" "She signed into the emergency room as Olivia Stapler." "Did you check her address?"

"Call me as soon as you know anything, and see what you can find out about her. And the brother. Maybe he'll turn out to be useful."

"Yes. She hasn't been back."

Jarred set down the receiver very carefully so as to avoid the temptation of throwing the instrument across the room. Once, he would have indulged in such behavior. Now he had to be careful about his

bones.

Noah Fielding had disappeared again, which meant that he had something to hide. But he couldn't stay hidden forever, not from someone with the massive resources of Jarred Bainbridge.

And perhaps Fielding had made himself vulnerable. If he'd gotten Olivia Stapler out of the hospital and taken her with him, she must be important to him. That might be the way to get him to talk about himself when they finally scooped him up, which was simply a matter of time.

OLIVIAwas only half-asleep, but she kept her eyes closed. She could sense Noah in the doorway looking at her. They should talk, but she didn't know what to say to him.

He stayed where he was for long seconds, then stepped back and closed the door.

She could hear him in the next room, talking on the phone. Later she heard a soft knock at the door, then the murmur of voices in the sitting room. Minutes later he came back into the bedroom.

Feeling like she couldn't hide from him any longer, she opened her eyes.

"How are you?" he asked softly.

"Better. Who were you talking to out there?"

"The clerk in one of the shops downstairs. She brought you some things to wear. I thought we'd have the wedding ceremony in here and you could wear this."

Wedding ceremony? So he'd been serious.

He stepped away from the doorway, then came back with a white nightgown. It had spaghetti straps and lace edging the bodice. The matching robe was also trimmed with lace.

She drew in a quick breath. "These are beautiful."

"They suit you." He shifted his weight from one foot to the other. "Probably not the wedding dress you always dreamed of, but I think it'll do under the circumstances."

Olivia kept her gaze on the man who seemed determined to change her life. Her mind was muzzy from the medication the doctor had given her, but she needed to hear some things from Noah. "You're serious about getting married?"

"You don't want to?" he asked in a gritting voice. "If you think it's too crazy an idea, I'll back off."

Olivia kept her gaze steady as she replied. "At my apartment, before Pearson came over, I was having fantasies about you marrying me and whisking me away from here."

He seemed to visibly relax. "Good."

When he eased down on the bed beside her, her eyes searched his. She wanted to ask him a million questions, but she didn't know where to start. Not when she was half out of it on painkillers. He had

secrets and he was more than he seemed on the surface. She knew that much.

But there were some things he couldn't hide from her. He had a basic integrity that showed in every action he took and he seemed determined to keep her from harm.

Still, she couldn't stop doubts from swirling in her mind, so she chose the question that might answer all the others.

"What am I to you?" she asked softly.

"You're a very sweet and appealing woman who's gotten into trouble you don't deserve."

"Sweet?"

"How would you describe yourself?"

"Tough."

"Yeah, you had to be tough to get away from your brother in the car. You did it, but now you've run out of resources," he added.

She nodded. "And you're the knight on the white horse."

He gave her a small smile. "You could say that."

"Why do you care about me so much?" she pressed.

"You remind me of someone I...lost."

"I remind you of her. But I'm not her. And you can't bring her back."

A look of resignation crossed his features. "I know." He reached out and took her hand. "But once we're married, we'll get to know each other as well as any man and woman, and we'll mean something important to each other."

Noah's words traveled through the haze that was her brain, sparking synapses until she finally understood. As her husband, he would be entitled to all marital rights and privileges—including sleeping with his wife.

Chapter Eight

"You want to marry me and have children?" Even her own ears couldn't discern what she heard in her voice. Was it shock or fear...or desire?

She was, however, able to read his expression. The regret was back in his eyes. "I can't have children."

"How do you know?"

He shrugged. "It's never happened."

"Did you have yourself tested?"

"No."

"So maybe it's not really true."

He switched the focus back to her. "Are children important to you?"

She took a moment to think. "I guess I always thought of them as something in my future. But I wasn't real serious about it. I was selfish. My career was more important."

"That's not selfish."

"What would you call it?"

"Honest." He cleared his throat and changed the subject, no doubt sensing her unease. "You know, you needn't worry about your brother anymore. I'm taking you where he can't find you."

"Which is where, exactly?"

"I have a ranch in California. Not a working ranch. But it's out in the country."

Touched by his concern, she decided right then to tell him everything. She made her voice firm. "Before we go any further, I have to tell you what happened. I mean about Pearson's and my scam."

"It wasn't your fault."

"I let him talk me into it."

"Because he was going to lie about you to your father."

Her brow wrinkled. "I remember. You said that to the cops, but how do you know?"

"I read your lips when you were talking in the lobby."

"You read lips?"

"It's not that hard." He shrugged it off and took her hand again. "Look, Olivia, you don't have to explain any—"

"No, I do." She squeezed his hand and took a breath. "Pearson said he got an idea from that presidential candidate who got into trouble for cheating on his wife." She raised her chin when she said it.

"You're not having an affair with a married man."

"But I worked for an escort service. That was enough for Pearson to call me a prostitute."

"Did you—" his voice hitched "—have sex with any of the men you escorted?"

"No." She shuddered. "I had to make it clear to some of them that that wasn't part of the package. But Pearson thought that if we could catch men in compromising situations, they'd pay us to keep quiet. He was going to burst into the room when I was with somebody. I...I said I wouldn't do it."

She didn't want to admit the rest, but she forced herself to tell him all of it. "He kept at me and at me. Finally I let a man pick me up, and I went up to his room. Then I hated what I was doing and I didn't..." She stopped and started again. "Pearson thought he'd find us in bed. He burst through the door, and the guy laughed at us." When she finished, her face was flaming.

He reached out and eased her into his arms, holding her gently. "It's all right."

"How can it be?" she asked in a small voice.

"You were brave to tell me all that when you thought I might change my mind about marrying you."

"You don't care that I let myself be talked into that scam?"

"I care. Because I know what it's like to be out of money and desperate. I know what it's like to be forced to do things that make your insides curdle."

She raised her face to him. "You do?"

"Yes."

"Are you going to tell me about it?"

A shuttered look crossed his features. "Now it's my turn to worry that you won't marry me if you know some of the things I've done."

"Tell me something you did that you're ashamed of. Maybe that will put us on a more even footing."

He sighed. "When I got kicked out of the community where I was living, I stole money and clothing to give myself a new start."

"You're not making that up?"

"No."

"What else?"

He sighed. "I took the identity of a dead man when the cops were after me."

"Noah Fielding?"

"No. I made up that name."

She gave him a considering appraisal. "How old are you?"

"Older than I look. I've had time to get into a lot of trouble."

"But you seem...so moral."

"Well, I changed myself. That woman I told you about helped change me. She taught me that anything can be forgiven, if you vow to go forward with a different set of values."

"Anything?"

"Yes. Stop beating yourself up. One little scam isn't so bad in the grand scheme of things."

She was about to keep arguing, but he shook his head. "Can we leave it at that for now? I'm not perfect. Nobody is. Everybody has done things that make them cringe when they think about it later."

She nodded, wondering if she was making a mistake. Her parents had had a happy marriage, until her mother had died. They'd given her a good model to follow, and she wondered if she could do as well.

When a knock at the door interrupted the conversation, her would-be husband looked relieved.

"I'd better get that," he said as he rose from the bed.

A few minutes later, he was back with three women.

"Let me introduce you to Sandy, Beth and Teresa," he said. "They're here to help you get ready. Sandy and Beth are practical nurses." He gestured toward a thin brunette and a chubby blonde, both of whom wore light green uniforms.

"And Teresa is a beautician," he continued, indicating the third woman, whose dark hair with silver highlights and a short black dress accented a beautiful face and a slim figure.

"Nice to meet you," Olivia murmured.

"I'll leave you girls—uh, women—alone," Noah said.

When he withdrew from the room, the three newcomers hurried over.

"He's a doll," Teresa said with a nod toward the door.

"Did he bring you here to get married?" Sandy asked.

"We met here."

"Lucky you!" Beth said. "That's the dream of every woman who works in this town."

Olivia nodded, knowing that was only a slight exaggeration.

"He says you were at the wrong place at the wrong time and got hurt."

She nodded, thinking that was a rather delicate way to put the facts. But then, Noah did have a way with words.

"Let me just have a look at your wound," Beth said. She and the other nurse guided her into the bathroom where they redressed the cut, then helped Olivia wash and put on the white gown. After that, Teresa helped her to the dressing table chair, where the beautician went to work on her hair and makeup.

Standing back, she gave her a studied inspection. "You look lovely."

Olivia eyed herself in amazement. She'd been injured only a few hours ago, but nobody would know it, unless they zeroed in on the bandage below her gown. Teresa had done a very subtle, very natural job with the makeup.

"I should take lessons from you."

"I'll leave you notes on what I used."

"Thank you. And thanks to you all," she said, looking around at the group. "I want to thank you so much."

An hour after they'd arrived, she was back in bed, propped against a mountain of pillows and wearing the matching robe over the gown. She was feeling like a queen, but her anxious gaze went to Noah when he came back in.

The look on his face confirmed that the women had done wonders with her.

"You look lovely," he said.

"Thank you."

While she'd been busy, he'd changed into dark slacks and a crisp white shirt that he must have gotten at the hotel shop.

Behind him was a short, balding man in a dark suit who introduced himself as Reverend Hartley.

The two nurses were the witnesses, and Teresa also stayed for the ceremony.

It was a very nontraditional wedding, with the groom sitting on the side of the bed holding the bride's hand.

Olivia tried to focus on the words Reverend Hartley was speaking. This was her wedding, one of the most important days of her life. Even if it was under very strange circumstances.

When Noah produced a ring, she could hardly believe her eyes. He must have gotten that in the hotel, too. Or maybe he'd had time to run out to a jewelry store. When he slipped it on her finger, she felt her whole body tingle.

There was kind of a strange moment when the preacher got Noah's name wrong. Then she remembered he'd registered at this hotel under a different name. But they got it straightened out and they were married as Noah Fielding and Olivia Stapler.

Were they really married?

She guessed she'd find out soon enough. And she'd find out what she'd gotten herself into.

He'd even ordered champagne and a small three-tiered wedding cake. When she saw the words "Noah and Olivia" on the top, entwined in a heart, she had to fight back tears. He'd gone to a lot of trouble to make this a memorable occasion—and it had to be for her. Unless he was a blatant sentimentalist.

All the guests had a piece of cake and a glass of champagne. Still feeling like the main character in a

Cinderella story, Olivia took a few bites of cake and a sip of the champagne. After a few minutes of small talk, Noah offered the rest of the cake and champagne to the wedding guests, who took the hint and left the bride and groom alone.

ASsoon as Noah had ushered everyone out, he came back to Olivia, who was looking dazed.

"I hope that wasn't too much for you," he murmured.

"It was...more than anyone has ever done for me."

He eased onto the side of the bed. "You sound like you're not sure that's good."

"It's kind of overwhelming."

He gave her a crooked grin. "I'm hoping you'll adjust to being pampered."

"That's not how I ever pictured myself." She ducked her head a moment, then looked back at him. "Do you have a cook at your ranch?"

"Yes."

"Will she teach me your favorite recipes and let me cook them?"

"Of course," he answered, wondering if Margarita was going to feel like her space was being invaded.

"Whatare your favorite foods?" Olivia asked.

"My favorites?" He thought for a moment, his mind ranging back over all the dishes he'd enjoyed. It was almost impossible to choose, but she looked so hopeful that he said, "Shashlik."

"What's that?"

"Like shish kebab but made the Greek way."

"You had it in Greece?"

"Um. And I like a good polenta with a fresh marinara sauce."

"And you first had that in Italy?"

"Yes. It's amazing how the Europeans have taken to corn."

"What do you mean?"

"Well, it's a New World plant."

"Oh, I never thought of that. You're so much more educated than I am," she whispered. "And well-traveled."

"Actually, I never graduated from college."

"Really?"

"I learned a lot from books. You can do that, too. And I can teach you a lot of what I know. Now that you don't have to worry about supporting yourself."

She sighed. "You're right. I never had the time to spend on myself. I mean when I wasn't practicing my dancing."

"We can study whatever you want and we'll travel together. I'll take you anywhere you want to go."

"To China?"

"Why China?"

"I got interested in it when the Olympics were in Beijing. The country seems so exotic."

Noah nodded. He still hadn't figured out how to talk about his background. But they'd deal with that. Reaching up, he brushed back her golden hair, thinking she looked so young and vulnerable. When she quivered, he prayed that he'd done the right thing.

He'd said he wanted to keep her safe, but he knew he was being selfish just the same. He had been alone for a long time and he knew this woman could end that loneliness for a time—unless he messed things up.

That thought made his stomach knot.

"This is our...wedding night." She glanced toward the window, then back at him. "Well, not night, yet. But we don't get to take full advantage of the moment."

"We will. I've had a lot of practice waiting for what I want." He leaned over and brushed his lips against hers. Then because he needed more, he pressed a bit harder.

When she made a small sound and opened for him, he tipped his head so that he could fit his mouth more tightly to hers, moving his lips in little nibbling motions.

Then he reminded himself that she was recovering from a very rough couple of days, and the doctor had said she needed to rest. Instead he had rushed her into a wedding ceremony. A wedding night was out of the question.

"I'm sorry," he murmured.

"About what?"

"Not letting you relax."

She lay back against the pillows, gazing up at him, and a smile flickered at the corners of her lips. "This is very relaxing."

He grinned back, then sobered as he dipped a finger under the edge of her bodice, stroking the tops of

her breasts.

She was his wife. It had been a very long time since he had taken that step, and now the need to make love with her surged inside him.

He couldn't do that, not when she needed to mend. But he couldn't stop himself from going a little farther. His gaze fixed on hers, he tugged at the elastic top of her gown. When she didn't flinch, he pulled the bodice below her breasts. The elastic cradled them and raised them temptingly toward him. He gazed down at her creamy breasts, crowned by her tightened nipples.

She stared up at him, her expression part shock and part invitation. He accepted the invitation, stroking his fingers over the peach-colored crests, then squeezing them gently, entranced by the sensual view. When he bent to swirl his tongue around one distended bud and suck it into his mouth, she sighed her approval. Before he realized her intention, she reached out to press her hand over the erection straining at the front of his slacks.

When she slid her hand up and down his length, he leaned back, enjoying her touch for a few moments before lifting her hand away.

"You can't," he whispered.

"I want to."

"I know. So do I. But we'll wait until you're better," he managed to say, even though he had pushed himself to the edge. Pushed both of them.

As he studied her flushed skin and accelerated breathing, he decided he didn't have to leave both of them in need.

Kicking off his shoes, he swung his legs onto the bed. Then, his focus on her pleasure, he dipped one hand under the covers, slipping under the hem of her gown and working his way up toward her most intimate flesh.

When he found her wet and swollen for him, he made a low sound of approval.

"Maybe we could..." she whispered.

"We're not going to do anything too strenuous. Just let me please you."

He bent to play with her breasts again, using his lips and tongue and teeth while he slid his hand into her folds in long strokes that dipped inside her, then moved upward to the point of greatest sensation.

He had a lot of experience pleasing women. And even though he hadn't been with anyone in years, he was gratified to find that he hadn't forgotten the moves. He listened to her breathing, judging her reactions, doing exactly what worked best for her, pushing her toward the point of no return.

When she came undone for him, he kept up the pressure, drawing out the pleasure of her climax—for both of them.

Her eyes blinked open and she stared at him, looking dizzy.

```
"That was...wonderful."
"I'm glad."
"What about you?"
"There will be plenty of time for me."
"I should..."
"You will. But not yet."
His heart was pounding and his body was on fire, but he eased down beside her, linking his fingers with
hers.
"I've never met anyone like you," she whispered.
I'm sure you haven't, he thought, but he only squeezed her hand.
He felt her relax beside him and wished he could do the same, but his body was still humming.
Closing his eyes, he tried to unwind. This was the start of something good—for him and for Olivia. For
the first time in years, he would have an intimate companion. Someone he could trust besides Thomas.
Or would it work out that way? For real intimacy, he'd have to let her past the barrier he'd erected
between himself and the world.
"What's wrong?" Olivia murmured.
"Nothing."
"Don't start off evading me," she whispered.
He was searching for an answer when the phone on the bedside table rang.
He fumbled the receiver out of the cradle.
"Mr. Feldman?"
He almost said no, until he remembered that that was the name he'd registered under.
"Yes."
"This is Harold at the front desk. You asked me to contact you if anything unusual occurred."
He sat up, instantly alert. "What happened?"
```

The desk clerk was saying, "Someone was asking if you were registered. Well, not by the name

squeezed it reassuringly.

Beside him Olivia pushed herself up, a look of alarm on her face. He kept his free hand on hers and



He thought about Fielding's strategy. He could have left, except that Stapler was injured, and she probably couldn't be moved easily. Which brought up another point. Fielding could have checked them into a dive, but he probably wouldn't have wanted to subject the woman to any place where she wouldn't be entirely comfortable.

"Go back to the same hotels and try again. Offer more money." He paused for a moment, thinking. "If possible, speak to different people than the ones you talked to the first time. Just a minute before you hang up," he said.

Reaching for the glass of water and the bottle of pills on the table next to his padded chair, he took some pain medication. His damn body was failing and if he didn't find a cure soon, he was done. Pushing away a feeling of desperation, he looked through his notes. "And talk to that research doctor, Sidney Hemmings, again. He might know more than he's saying."

OLIVIApushed herself up and winced, but Noah stopped her.

"You don't have to do anything. I'll take care of getting us out of here."

"I have to get dressed."

"We're taking a private plane. You can wear that."

"I want to have my clothes on."

He gave her an exasperated look, then seemed to check himself.

"I'm sorry. I'm upset about the call." He walked into the sitting room and came back with a couple of bags. Opening them, he dumped out a running suit. "This should be comfortable."

"Yes, thanks."

"I'll help you dress."

"I think I can do it."

"You're sure?"

"You've got things to do."

He nodded and picked up the phone again. As she gingerly pulled the gown over her head, she heard him talking, apparently to a company that flew executives around in private jets.

At first it sounded like he didn't like what he was hearing. Then he said, "How about for an extra fee?" After a few seconds, he answered, "Okay. Good."

Hanging up, he looked up, caught her naked and grinned. "Very nice." His expression turned regretful. "Except for the bandage."

She kept her eyes on him as she reached for the loose T-shirt that went under the jacket and pulled it over her head. He came over and helped her get her left arm through the sleeve.

"I get the feeling you have a lot of experience making quick getaways," she whispered.

"Yeah."

When he'd left the room, she sat for a minute staring at the door, fighting the feeling that she'd jumped from the frying pan into the fire. The worst part was that she was falling in love with Noah—even though she knew that he could hurt her badly.

Closing her eyes, she sat with her hands clenched, fighting the feeling that she was being swept down a raging river by a strong current.

Then she straightened her shoulders.

Noah was doing everything he could to get them out of town. She wouldn't hold him up. So she finished dressing, then looked in the bag for shoes. He'd bought a pair of running shoes for her that were just about her size, and flip-flops.

"The running shoes are a better choice," she heard Noah say from the doorway. "Easier for balance."

She turned to him. "But I can't get them on."

"I'll help you."

He knelt by the side of the bed and helped her put on socks and shoes.

When she was dressed, he left the room and came back with a travel bag, into which he stuffed the rest of the clothing he'd bought her.

"They'll call us when the ambulance arrives."

"Okay." She cleared her throat. "You think this has something to do with my brother?"

"I don't know."

"Who else has a grudge against you?"

Chapter Nine

Noah swallowed. "You mean besides Eddie Carlson's brother?"

"Yes."

"I think I...defused Carlson. I mean, he knows that I hated to see those men die and I wanted to provide compensation for their widows and children."

Olivia nodded.

Noah continued the analysis of his situation, trying to be as honest as he could. "There's the Las Vegas

PD. But I think that has more to do with you and your brother than with me."

Again she nodded.

"But we have to consider the incident in the hospital with the guy who claimed to be from the FBI. I think that either your brother did something we don't know about or someone is trying to get to me, and I don't know which."

"Pearson could have been involved in something."

"When I get home, I'm going to put the Light Street Detective Agency on it."

"You've worked with them?"

"No, but they impressed me—with the way they turned up my location. And I like the idea of hooking up with an organization I haven't used before."

"You made a snap decision about them—the way you did about me. You do that often?"

"I'm a good judge of character." He could have added that he wouldn't get involved with a detective agency without doing a background check, but that would lead to a discussion of whether or not he'd vetted Olivia.

"Could you—" She stopped.

"What?"

"I hate to create another problem."

"Just tell me."

She looked down as she spoke. "If we're leaving, could the Light Street Detective Agency get something from my apartment? My mom's jewelry. It's all I have left from her."

"Where is it?"

"In a dresser drawer. In a blue box."

"Of course I'll make sure it gets to you."

"Thank you."

His cell phone interrupted the conversation. It was the travel company, telling him the flight was ready, which led to a lot of activity. He had to check on the ambulance, pack the clothing that he'd bought for himself, hide the guns in his suitcase and make sure the oversized seat he'd requested was on board for Olivia.

Forty minutes later, they were at a private terminal at the airport.

"Don't we have to go through security?" Olivia asked.

"Not with this kind of flight."

"Okay."

He got her settled on the plane, then buckled up before takeoff. As soon as he could get up, he went forward to confer with the pilot about the arrangements for landing.

The convenience of air travel never ceased to amaze him. He'd spent so many years of his life traveling by foot, horse, cart, wagon train and canoe. Steamboats had been a tremendous improvement.

People today complained about waiting around airports and delayed flights. Instead, they should thank God they weren't on a wagon train traveling a few miles an hour across the desert. Or crammed into a small sailing ship crossing the Atlantic.

He'd come to Las Vegas through L.A., but this time, to avoid the large airport, they were landing in Santa Barbara.

He went back to the passenger cabin to see how Olivia was doing and found that she'd fallen asleep.

As he stood looking at her, his heart squeezed. He really had acted in extreme haste getting involved with her. Whisking her away. Marrying her. Had he done the best thing for her, or had he let his own selfish reasons sweep away good judgment?

He didn't know. And he didn't know how he was going to handle letting her in on his secret. In the beginning, he'd have to be cautious about how much he told her. Either way, it was going to create trust issues between them.

He sighed. Honesty compelled him to admit that he'd plunged into this marriage too hastily. The urgency had come from his own needs and he had nobody to blame but himself.

Turning away from her, he picked up his laptop. Of course, the restrictions on using his computer were not the same as they would have been on a commercial flight. After informing the pilot of what he was doing, he took a seat several yards away from where Olivia slept and began doing some research on the Light Street Detective Agency. By the time they were on their final approach to Santa Barbara, he was pretty sure that he was going to hire them. But an in-depth phone call to the agency would have to wait until they got back to the ranch.

As he made that decision, another thought flitted through his mind and he cursed under his breath.

He'd been so wound up with events in Las Vegas that he'd forgotten to alert Thomas. Knowing he was going to set a whirlwind in motion, he made a call to the ranch.

"Is there something wrong?" Thomas asked when he recognized Noah's voice.

"I ran into some trouble in Las Vegas. We'll talk about it when I get there."

"Okay."

Noah cleared his throat. "I'm bringing someone back to the ranch with me."

"Dr. Hemmings?"

Noah laughed. Hemmings was another detail that had slipped his mind. "No, actually, my wife."

"Your wife?" Thomas asked, his voice incredulous.

"Yes. Her name is Olivia. It's a long story and I'll tell you about it when I get back."

"Yes, sir."

He thought about the sleeping arrangements at the ranch. "She was injured. It might be a good idea to put her in a guest room for now."

Thomas agreed.

"I know this is a bit of a shock to you. It's a bit of a shock to me, too."

"Yes, sir. When can we expect you?"

"We're landing in Santa Barbara in twenty minutes."

"Twenty minutes! That doesn't give us much time."

"Can you send a car down to the airport for us? I guess the SUV would be best."

"I'll have Pablo leave right now. You may have to wait for a few minutes."

"We'll stay on the plane until he tells me he's in the parking lot."

"Very good."

He ended the call and looked up to see Olivia watching him.

"How are you?"

"Better. When I first woke up, I couldn't figure out where I was. There have been so many changes in the last few hours that I can't keep up."

"Likewise."

She kept her gaze on him. "Do you really want to put me in a separate bedroom?"

"Away from temptation—my temptation—until you're better."

"Iam better."

"We'll see." He took the seat next to her and buckled his seat belt for the descent.

Pablo must have left the ranch immediately and not run into much traffic because he was at the airport fifteen minutes after they landed. Ten minutes after that, they were on their way north.

Olivia watched the scenery change from urban sprawl to dry brown hills.

"You do live out in the country."

"I like my privacy," he answered, wondering how it was going to work for Olivia. "As soon as you're better, I'll take you to some of the clothing stores in town."

"Okay."

"And you might want to do some redecorating at the ranch. I'm afraid I haven't made much attempt to be stylish."

"You're sure you trust me with redecorating?"

"Of course," he answered, wondering what her taste was like. "Unless it's something really weird, I won't much care. But I know that women do."

Thomas opened the gate by remote control and he watched Olivia taking in his landscaping. She caught her breath when she saw the house.

"You approve?" he asked.

"It's perfect for the location."

"Thank you."

"Did an architect design it?"

"I did."

She gave him a surprised look. "Another talent I didn't know about. What else should I know about vou?"

"I guess we'll find out."

Thomas had lined up some of the staff, and Noah wished his majordomo had skipped the formality when he saw the overwhelmed look on Olivia's face as she was introduced first to Thomas then to Margarita, Caesar and Benita.

"Do you need to lie down?" Noah asked her when the staff had gone back to their work.

"No," she answered. "I just got here."

"Then let's go to the sunroom."

He led her through a dark and outdated living room to the glass-and-wood enclosed space that he'd filled with orchids and other plants.

She sat down on the chaise longue and looked around, wide-eyed. "You're rich," she whispered. "But I guess I knew that already."

He shrugged. When he saw Thomas hovering in the doorway, he hesitated for a moment. They'd have

to talk about what they were going to say. But until then, he knew his old friend was smart enough not to give anything away, so he motioned him in.

"Why don't you sit down, Thomas?" he said.

His chief of staff perched on the edge of a wicker chair.

"Sit," Noah said again, and the other man slung his body into the seat.

"Thomas is a friend of mine as well as the man who keeps the household running," he said to Olivia. "If you needanything, just ask him."

Thomas smiled at her. "It's a pleasure to meet you."

"And you, too. I know you're going to be an enormous help to me." Olivia cleared her throat. "I take it there hasn't been a lady of the house recently."

"True."

"I'll try not to get in your way."

"This is your home," Thomas answered. "I hope we can make you entirely comfortable here. Starting with something to eat. What can I get you?"

When her mind blanked out, Noah came to her rescue. "Some iced tea," he said. "And some sandwiches. Chicken or beef or ham?" He looked at her again.

"Fine," she answered, probably wondering how long it would take her to get used to this lifestyle.

JARREDBainbridge struggled to control his fury. After the screwup by the local guy he'd used, he'd sent a crack team to Las Vegas to round up Noah Fielding, but apparently the man was no longer in the gambling paradise.

"You say you found out what hotel he'd moved to, but he checked out?" he asked in a dangerously quiet voice.

"Yes, sir."

"Where is he now, do you think?" he asked, the question sounding almost conversational, but anybody who knew Jarred Bainbridge would be wary of his tone.

"Because he has a contract with a company that flies private jets, we're going through their records now and we'll be able to tell you where he went."

"According to the information he gave the Las Vegas PD, he has an apartment in San Francisco. But he might not have gone there."

"You have the address?"

"Yes, sir."

"When you figure out where to find him, I want a plan to bring him here," Jarred said. "And if I don't get results very quickly, you will be looking for a new job."

Ignoring the threat, his man said, "The woman is with him."

"And?"

"She was driven to the plane in an ambulance. She must be important to him. I believe there's a way to use her to get to him."

Jarred had been thinking along those lines, too. But he wanted some input. "What do you suggest?"

"We located the brother. He's a petty criminal and a bitter man. He blames her for his current troubles. He may have already tried to kill her. I believe we can have his full cooperation in getting her back, if we promise to turn her over to him. And I believe he is absolutely ruthless."

"Good," Jarred answered. He was feeling cautiously optimistic again.

OLIVIAgave Noah and Thomas a considering look. "So do I get some information along with the food?"

Thomas kept his expression neutral, but he shifted in his seat, and Noah was sorry he'd put his old friend into a delicate situation. Another reason why he should have thought through this whole scenario.

Thomas answered with a catalog of the estate's amenities. "We have a full gym. An indoor-outdoor swimming pool. An excellent library, including a collection of DVDs. The latest computer equipment. Satellite TV. A well-stocked kitchen. Horses and riding trails. And Maria, one of the staff, does my wife's hair. You can also avail yourself of her services."

"This is a very self-contained place," Olivia murmured.

"Yes. And if we don't have it here, we can get it for you." Thomas stood up. "I'll go tell Margarita to get started on the food."

When the man had left, Olivia looked at Noah. "Am I free to wander around?"

"Of course. But you probably shouldn't go into the labs alone."

"What labs?"

"They're across the courtyard from the main house. I have a number of experiments going. Some of them on longevity."

"Okay."

"I'm also fiddling with some electronics equipment."

She nodded, then leaned back and closed her eyes.

"Maybe after you eat, you should get some rest," he suggested.

Her eyes snapped open again. "Maybe you're right. But I'd like to sleep in our room, if that's all right."

"Yes. Yes, of course," Noah answered.

The food came very quickly, and he could imagine Margarita in the kitchen, cracking the whip to make sure they impressed the woman who was now Mr. Noah's wife.

While Olivia was nibbling on a turkey sandwich, he wolfed down a roast beef and a ham sandwich.

"Not hungry?" he asked.

"Maybe after I get some rest." When she started to push herself up, he helped her, then showed her down the hall to his room, trying to see it through her eyes.

It was very spartan and very masculine.

She stared around. "It looks like a monk lives here."

He laughed. "I did spend some time at a monastery long ago. It taught me lessons in simplicity."

"Is there anything you haven't done?"

"Not much." He shifted his weight from one foot to the other. "I know this has to be overwhelming."

"You have a gift for understatement."

He laughed again, then pulled the spread and cover aside. "I guess so." Remembering that her suitcase was in the spare room, he said, "I'll get your bag."

"I'd rather just sleep in one of your shirts."

"Okay."

Because it was chilly in the bedroom, he chose a soft wool shirt and brought it back to her.

She'd already pulled off her slacks and blouse, and he caught his breath as he took in her body again. This time the bandage over her knife wound seemed to only accentuate her tiny waist. His fingers itched to touch her smooth skin there, to trail downward to her...

He stopped his imagination cold.

Before he could start anything he shouldn't finish, he merely helped her into the shirt and into bed.

"We'll talk at dinner. What do you want?"

"I can have anything I want?"

"Pretty much."

"Barbecued chicken, potato salad, baked beans."

"Done. You sleep. I'll come and wake you in a couple of hours."

Glad to escape, he stepped out of the room and closed the door. He was out of practice living with anyone and he'd have to brush up his husband skills.

First he stopped at the kitchen to order dinner, which took longer than he expected because everyone wanted to congratulate him. They also wanted him to tell them about Olivia, so he told them she had been a dancer, then made his escape as quickly as possible.

Then he went to his office. After closing the door, he booted his computer, checked his mail and got the number of the Light Street Detective Agency in Baltimore.

A man named Hunter Kelley answered.

"This is Noah Fielding."

Kelley's tone immediately turned wary. "How can I help you?"

"Actually, I was impressed with the work you did for Eddie Carlson's brother. I'd like to hire you. Unless it's against the rules."

The man whistled through his teeth. "It's not against the rules. Just unusual for someone we've located for another client to turn around like that. What can we do for you?"

"I'd like to know who's trying to either kill me or capture me."

"Gary Carlson's back in Baltimore," Kelley informed him. "He says he doesn't have any further need for our services."

"I don't think it's him. This must not be my month, because somebody else has it in for me."

"You lead a busy life."

"I try not to. But things have gotten kind of...crazy lately."

When he started to elaborate, Kelley stopped him. "This is our public line. We have a secure computer hookup where we can set up a videoconference call. You can talk to several of our agents."

"That sounds fine."

"Can you wait until tomorrow morning? Or are you in immediate danger?"

"I'm back home, which is a pretty secure environment."

They made an appointment, and Noah got off the phone. Thinking he would check on Olivia, he went back to his room.

When she wasn't in her bed, panic seized him.

A noise from his closet sent him rushing through the door where he found Olivia pawing through his things.

As she looked up wide-eyed, a million thoughts rushed through his head—none of them good. He'd impulsively married this woman and brought her home—and now she was spying on him.

Chapter Ten

Olivia saw the instant mistrust in Noah's eyes and her stomach balled into a tight knot. Suddenly, she was seeing another side to this man whom she'd married in such haste.

"What exactly are you doing?" he asked in a voice that could have etched glass.

As she took in his tone and his rigid stance, she went cold all over, wondering if he was going to believe what she said. "I…" Her throat clogged and she had to start again. "The shirt you gave me must be wool. It's making me itch and I need something else to wear." She gestured over her shoulder. "You have all these expensive shirts. I'm looking for something I won't ruin…if I used it as a nightgown."

The tight expression on his face eased, along with some of the tension coursing through her.

She wanted to tell him that a husband and wife had to trust each other, but she wondered if it could be true in this case. Could he ever trust her? Or was he just not used to sharing his life with someone?

Feeling like she was rushing headlong into the unknown, she watched him stride into the closet, rifle through the contents and grab what looked like a perfectly good dress shirt.

"How about this one?"

She came from a family where clothing purchases were carefully considered, and your possessions carefully cared for. Well, that was how she'd looked at it. Pearson hadn't been quite so frugal.

"I'll muss it up."

"That's not a problem. We have very good laundry service here."

She accepted the shirt and started to unbutton the one she was wearing, but her fingers were too clumsy to accomplish the simple task.

When he reached to help her, their hands collided.

"Let me do it," he said, his voice suddenly thick.

"Okay."

She tried not to tremble as he unbuttoned the shirt, slipped it off her shoulders and put on a new one. Apparently he wasn't looking directly at her, and she felt his hand stiffen when he realized she'd taken off her bra after he'd left the bedroom.

His gaze dropped to her breasts, taking in the tight points of her nipples, then quickly closed the shirt,

covering her.

"You thought I was spying on you," she said in a voice that wasn't quite steady.

She saw him swallow.

"I wasn't. I'm not a spy. I'm just what I seem to be. No more, no less." She forced herself to add, "But now you're thinking you rushed into marrying me."

"It's hard for me to trust people."

"But you took a chance on me. That's a good start." She kept her gaze on him. "What can I do to make things right between us?"

"You're a very wise woman, with excellent instincts. Just be yourself. Don't do things or not do them because you're calculating how I'll react."

"Okay." She caught his hands and cupped them over her breasts. "I think I know how you'll react to this."

"I thought we agreed not to do anything now," he said in a gritty voice.

"You told me to trust my instincts. I want you. And I want to give back the pleasure you gave me."

And I want this to be a real marriage, she silently added. She wasn't sure what that meant in this case; she only knew that things hadn't started off very well between them.

They'd both rushed along on a course of action that would seem insane when examined closely. Now she wanted to make things normal. If they could be normal.

Reaching between them, she curled her fingers around his erection through the fabric of his slacks.

An exclamation hissed out of him.

"I likethat reaction," she whispered as she brought her lips to his.

"You're sure?"

"Very," she answered, then followed the assurance with the passion of her kiss.

When their lips finally broke apart, they were both trembling, and she had to hook her hands over his shoulders to keep from swaying dangerously.

"You need to get off your feet."

"That's a good plan."

He scooped her up and carried her back into the bedroom, then laid her on the bed.

Looking behind him, he stared at the open door and made a low exclamation.

"Be right back."

He crossed the room quickly and locked the door. While he was gone, she slipped out of the shirt, then pulled the covers to the tops of her breasts.

Turning, he gave her a warm look. "I think we can put this on a more equal footing."

Quickly he pulled off his shirt. When he reached for his belt buckle, she said, "Not so fast."

"Why not?"

"I want to look at you," she answered. That was true, but she was also a little nervous. "I like your chest. It's broad and muscular."

"I thought chest hair was out, judging from the guys I see in the movies."

"I like it. It looks masculine. And I like the way it feels."

"Against your breasts?" he asked, his voice sultry.

"Against my breasts. And my fingers," she answered, feeling her temperature rise as she spoke.

She hadn't thought she could get playful with this scene, but she found she liked it. And she could see he was enjoying himself. Slowly, he worked the buckle on his belt, then lowered the zipper of his slacks.

"Should I try to find some music to strip by?" he asked.

"The visuals are enough to push me to boiling point."

With a grin, he slicked his pants down his legs and kicked them out of the way, leaving him wearing black briefs. There was a confidence in his stance that she admired. He knew his body was in good shape and he didn't pretend otherwise.

"Nice." She swallowed. "Now I'd like to see the rest."

He grinned again. Then his expression turned serious as he pulled down the briefs and stepped out of them.

Her breath caught as her gaze fastened on his erection. It was large and firm and stood straight up against his body. In response, moisture gathered between her legs.

They hadn't touched each other, yet she was aroused. Very aroused.

"Your turn," he said. "Pull down the covers so I can see you."

"That's fair," she said, her voice going breathy.

She kept her gaze fixed on him as she grabbed the edge of the sheet and dragged it slowly downward, the fabric seeming to abrade her skin as it traveled down her overheated flesh.

The smoldering look in his eyes sent her temperature shooting up several more degrees.

Still, she held her breath until she heard him say, "Beautiful." You're so beautiful."

Their eyes locked as he walked toward her, then sat on the edge of the bed. Her whole body tingled as she waited for him to gather her in his arms.

Instead, he reached out to stroke her collarbone. The light touch sent a firestorm through her.

It grew more intense as he stroked her arms, the ribs on her good side, the indentation of her waist, the outsides of her thighs. Everywhere that shouldn't jolt up her need but did.

She moved restlessly on the bed. "Please," she gasped out.

"What do you want?"

"You know."

"Tell me."

"Touch my breasts. Between my legs."

The look in his eyes was enough to scald her as he lightly brushed the backs of his fingers against her nipples.

"Harder..." she begged.

"Like this?" he asked, turning his hands over and taking her between his thumbs and forefingers, squeezing gently, and then harder as he watched her reaction.

She surged toward him, then grabbed one of his hands, dragging it downward toward the throbbing place between her legs.

He obliged her, dipping into her folds, feeling the swollen wetness there.

"I need you inside me," she begged, reaching to close her hand around his erection, knowing that he wouldn't be able to hold back.

He made a sound low in his throat.

"Your injury isn't healed. I don't want to hurt you. Let's try this way." He helped her up, turning her to the side of the bed where he still sat with his feet on the floor.

She understood what he intended and straddled his lap. As she stood with her legs on either side of his knees, their eyes locked. Slowly, building the anticipation, she lowered herself, bringing his erection inside her.

They both gasped at the joining, and she surged upward, then came down on him again. Instead of allowing her to continue, he pressed his hands against her thighs, holding her in place.

His gaze stayed locked with hers. "I want both of us to remember this."

"Not much chance of my forgetting," she managed to say.

He let go of her thighs, and she moved again, frantic to bring them both to completion.

He reached down with one hand, stroking her sensitive core, while he used the other to play with her breasts.

The twin pleasures kindled an explosion that flashed through her, and she gasped as climax took her.

He cried out as he followed her, his face a study of intense awareness.

They clung together for long moments. Finally he helped her off his lap, then settled her in the bed again. Pulling up the covers, he lay beside her cradling her in his arms.

She snuggled against him, feeling safe and secure for the first time in...she couldn't exactly remember when.

"Well, we know we suit," he said.

"Suit?"

"I mean suit each other in bed." He turned his head toward her. "I guess that's a kind of old-fashioned phrase."

"Where did you pick it up?"

"I used to read a lot of eighteenth-century novels."

"Why?"

"One of my strange hobbies."

She nodded against his shoulder. He was quiet again, and she wanted to simply drift on the euphoria of the moment.

But he cleared his throat. "I know I'm not going to be the easiest guy to live with."

"We both want it to work."

"Yes." Now that he'd brought up the subject, she felt a question burning behind her lips. After dragging in a breath and letting it out, she asked, "Are you going to tell me your secrets?"

His voice stayed relaxed, but she felt his muscles stiffen. "What makes you think I have secrets?"

"Well, you wall yourself off from everyone on this estate."

"I have my reasons."

"Are you going to tell them to me?"

He shifted so that he was facing her. "Yes. But you're going to have to let me do it in my own way."

"Are you afraid that I won't want to stay with you...when I find out."

He swallowed hard. "Yes."

"That will never happen, Noah."

"What if I told you I was dying and I selfishly wanted to spend my last days with you?"

Alarm shot through her. "Are you dying?"

He sighed. "No. That was just an example of the kind of thing I'm dealing with."

"How could..." She stopped herself before she finished the question. What could be worse than his dying? He was going to have to tell her, but if he couldn't talk about it yet, she understood because she knew how hard it had been to tell him about Pearson's scam. "Okay."

"Okay, what?"

"I'm not going to argue with you. And I'm not going to pressure you. I just hope you decide to trust me sooner rather than later."

He breathed out a small sigh. "Thank you."

She settled down beside him and tried to relax. But her mind was churning now. All sorts of possibilities assaulted her. Had he murdered someone? She couldn't see him doing that on purpose. Maybe it had been a terrible accident, and now he needed to stay out of circulation so that the law wouldn't catch up with him. But if he had to stay out of circulation, why had he come to Las Vegas? And what about their recent run-in with the cops? They hadn't arrested him.

She struggled to make the disturbing speculations go away. Maybe he knew what kind of anxiety he'd created in her, because he began to stroke her again and kiss her and before long, they were back where they'd been a little while ago, hot and bothered and craving sexual release.

Only after making love a second time was she able to sleep. Wrapped in Noah's arms.

Noah woke her some time later. "I told the cook we'd be wanting dinner around now."

"Yes. Right."

"I can have it brought to the bedroom because you're obviously recuperating."

"I'd feel less awkward if we did what we're normally going to do. What's that?"

He laughed. "Sometimes I have a tray sent to the lab. Or to the library, if I'm working. But we can pick a place to eat."

"You have a dining room?"

"Yes, but it's not all that friendly."

"Well, what about a table in the library or the sunroom?"

He got out of bed. "Let's try the library." He reached for the phone on the bedside table and pressed one of several buttons, which apparently gave him the kitchen. It seemed like a kind of old-fashioned arrangement, but Noah modernized it.

"You'll have to show me the system," she said when he finished giving directions.

"Yes."

She watched him walking around, picking up clothing.

"I'm going to take a quick shower."

She looked down at her bandage. "I guess I can't do that yet. Or maybe you can help me take this off and put on another bandage after I wash."

"Yes."

The bathroom was large, but it felt awkward using it with a man she hardly knew.

Her husband, she reminded herself as he carefully removed the bandage.

"The cut's looking a lot better," she said, as she inspected herself in the mirror.

"Yes. I'll bring your suitcase. And I'll clear out one side of my closet."

"I hate to inconvenience you."

"I have things I should give away anyway. In a few days, we can drive into Santa Barbara and go clothes shopping."

"Thanks."

They walked hand-in-hand to the library, and she felt awkward again as a maid gave them a speculative look. Was that woman going to straighten the bed while they were at dinner and note the evidence of lovemaking? And so what? she asked herself. They were newlyweds. Of course they'd be making love.

Still, when she'd imagined being married, she'd pictured herself and her husband living in a little house alone, not surrounded by people who were noting their every move and talking about them in the kitchen. Because she had no illusions about that.

Noah Fielding was the center of attention on this estate, and that made her the center of attention with him.

The meal she'd ordered was delicious and she ate more than she'd expected. Just like that, she'd asked and been taken care of.

It was sinking in that she'd married a man who lived in a way that few people could match. And also that she was now living in a self-contained world.

"That was wonderful. I'm going to have to watch out or I'll gain weight on Margarita's cooking."

"She'd probably like to hear that."

"Of course." It felt strange at first to stop in the kitchen. But Margarita put her at ease. Could they turn out to be friends? Would she have any friends here? That was something else to worry about.

THEnext morning, before breakfast with Olivia, Noah kept his videoconference appointment with the Light Street Detective Agency.

"I appreciate your talking to me," he told the three men who sat around a long table.

One of them was Hunter Kelley, the guy he'd initially talked to. Also at the meeting were Sam Lassiter and Max Dakota.

"So you think you have a stalker?" Dakota asked.

"It's complicated," Noah answered, and he gave an account of the past week.

"You have been busy," Lassiter said when Noah finished.

"You agree that I've got a problem that I can't handle on my own?"

"Yes. We'd better start by finding out where the brother is. We'll also see if we can get a line on the guy who said he was an FBI agent."

"And Sidney Hemmings should be on the list," Lassiter added.

"Hemmings? He's been..." He'd started to say "a friend for years." But he couldn't actually be sure. Instead, he uttered his agreement.

"I think there's a factor we haven't figured out yet," Dakota said.

Noah concurred. "That's what I'm worried about."

"Do you want one of us to come out there?"

"No. Our security is excellent."

They talked for a few more minutes, during which Noah asked if someone could pick up the jewelry box.

"What should we do with it?" Hunter asked.

Noah gave them the address of his post office box in San Francisco.

"We'll have more information for you tomorrow," Hunter said.

"I'll call you in the afternoon." Noah was unwilling to give them his number. He liked these guys, but he

wasn't able to trust them fully. Not yet.

"WEfound out his home base. It's not that apartment in San Francisco. That's just an address he uses occasionally."

"Finally!" Jarred snapped. "Where is he?"

"On a ranch above Santa Barbara."

"Then go in and get him."

"It's heavily fortified. We can't touch him there."

"You mean you don't want to take the chance."

"You want somebody to get killed? You want the press all over this?" his informant asked.

Jarred didn't particularly care about the collateral damage, but he recognized that press coverage could be inconvenient.

"What do you suggest?" he asked, working hard to keep his voice calm.

"He can't stay there forever. He has to leave some time and then he'll be vulnerable."

"I don't have forever," Jarred snapped. "I'll give you five days. Then we go in."

NOAHcalled Light Street the next day from the office in his lab.

"It would be more convenient if we could call you," Hunter Kelley said.

"For now, let's keep it this way."

His new security contractors didn't argue about it.

"What have you found out?" Noah asked.

"The jewelry box is on its way. But that's the only good news. The brother has disappeared. The man posing as an FBI agent has disappeared. And Hemmings has disappeared."

Noah sucked in a sharp breath, trying to figure out what kind of scenario would produce those results. "You think they're all in the same place?"

"We don't know, but we're working on it."

Feeling unsettled, Noah went to find Olivia and discovered her talking to Thomas.

He paused outside the door to his chief of staff's office, listening to the exchange.

"I can see you're devoted to Noah's welfare," Olivia was saying.

"He...I mean an ancestor of his saved the life of an ancestor of mine. There's been a bond between our two families ever since."

"Do you have a son who will take over when you retire?"

Noah heard the sorrow in Thomas's voice. "My older son is ill. I'm hoping that my younger one can take the position."

Noah stepped into the room, noting Thomas's look of relief. "Your wife came to speak to me because she needs some things from town," the man blurted.

"What kind of things?" Noah asked Olivia.

A flush rose in her cheeks. "Well...underwear. I've been washing out the panties I have."

Noah thought for a moment, weighing his options. He didn't want Olivia to feel like a prisoner on his estate, but at the same time, he knew he had to be concerned about safety—until the Light Street people came up with some hard information.

Noah turned to Olivia. "We could go shopping. If you're up to it."

She hesitated, undoubtedly taking in his guarded expression. "Could you send someone into town to buy me.... And we'll put off the shopping trip for a few days?"

"I'll send Benita. She'll love the excuse to do some shopping."

"Thanks. It's probably good for me to get comfortable here and rest for a few days."

He nodded, thinking that she was being sensible, which relieved some of his anxiety. "Let's shoot for the beginning of next week."

"That sounds good."

Two days later, he was able to hand her the jewelry box and felt his heart squeeze when he saw how much pleasure it gave her to get back her mother's modest pieces.

He'd like to give her a six-carat engagement ring, but he knew that would be too overwhelming right now. That could wait, but every time he saw her watching him, wondering when he was going to trust her completely, he felt a pang of guilt.

By the end of the week, he knew she was feeling restless hanging around the house. Because he saw that she was getting her strength back, he told her that Pablo would drive them into town.

"Can't we just go by ourselves?" Olivia asked.

The suggestion was tempting, but he was still being cautious. "For now, it's better to have someone with us."

OLIVIAcouldn't help feeling a pang of alarm. He'd said they could leave, but she knew he was still worried. "Are you saying we need a guard?"

"Just a precaution," he answered, and she wondered if they should be leaving the compound at all.

"I'm not going to be locked in here," he snapped, then immediately softened his voice, "Sorry. We'll go to La Cumbre Plaza, the closest shopping center. Then let's have lunch out—somewhere on the ocean."

"That sounds like fun."

He gave it some consideration. "The Biltmore, I think. You'll love the view and the gardens."

Noah's Mercedes wasn't a stretch limo, but it was a large car with a window between the front and back seats. After giving Pablo instructions, Noah closed the window to give them privacy. It was another symbol of the life Olivia had stepped into.

"So why do we need a bodyguard?" she asked.

"I'm being cautious until..."

"What?"

"I asked the Light Street Detective Agency to check into the situation in Las Vegas. Your brother has disappeared."

She stared at Noah, trying to take all that in.

"They'll find out where he's gone."

"I hope he can't get to us here."

"I don't think so, but I'm not taking any chances. Let's talk about our outing."

An outing. Another old-fashioned term.

She stopped focusing on Noah's language. She was sure her brother was up to something unsavory and she wanted to hear Noah's thoughts. But she couldn't see how endless speculation would help. Instead, she tried to focus on the shopping trip.

"I'm not sure of the rules," she said as the big car reached the suburbs of Santa Barbara. "Like, uh, do I have a spending limit?"

"You can get whatever you want."

She smiled at him. "That could be dangerous."

"I'm betting that I married a levelheaded woman."

"I hope so." She reached across the seat and laid her hand over her husband's and said something she'd

been wanting to say for days. "I love you."

She saw the mixture of emotions that crossed his features. He looked stunned, happy, then a little sad.

"You didn't want to hear that?" she asked, thinking she'd like to hear those words from him.

"I'm hoping I'm worthy of you."

"How could you not be?"

"Maybe you'll think I rushed you into marriage."

A little twinge of dread shot through her, but she brushed it away. "You did, but that was lucky for me."

Again his face wasn't exactly sanguine. "I hope so," he murmured.

She'd given him the opportunity to tell her what was bothering him, but he didn't take it. Maybe the car wasn't a good setting. Maybe they'd get to it when they were sitting in front of the fire in the evening. Or in their bed. Yes, that was where they'd have the most privacy.

Instead of talking about Noah, they discussed details of the household, how she was settling in and what DVD they wanted to watch that evening.

When they arrived at an upscale shopping mall in one of the wealthiest communities in the United States, Pablo found a space close to one of the entrances, then followed discreetly behind them as they walked into one of the anchor department stores.

"Where are we going first?"

"Wherever you want. I want to see what you choose for yourself when you don't have to worry about the cost."

"Old habits die hard. I'll probably be looking for sales."

He shrugged. "That's not a requirement."

She led him to the lingerie department where she bought ten pairs of panties and a couple of bras. She could have been absolutely practical. Instead, she chose some skimpy little numbers that she knew would please him. When he saw her selections, he gave her a wicked grin and added four sexy nightgowns.

Then they went on to the sportswear department, where she picked out shorts, slacks and casual shirts.

"I'll have to try these on," she told him.

He looked around and found a chair. "I'll be right here. Come out and show me how the outfits look."

"Okay."

Pablo was still hovering in the background when she stepped into the fitting room area and found a cubicle. Just as she was hanging up the clothing she'd selected, the door opened, and she looked up in surprise as a man stepped into the room.

A couple of the hangers fell to the floor as she stared at her brother.

"What are you doing here, Pearson?" she managed to ask through a tight throat.

"You and I need to talk."

When she took in the hard look on his face, panic rose inside her.

NOAHkept looking expectantly toward the dressing room area. When Olivia didn't appear, he checked his watch, then looked toward the entrance again.

Olivia had been badly cut a little over a week ago. What if this trip was too much for her and she was in trouble?

He was just about to walk over to the young brunette at the sales desk when his cell phone rang, and he pulled it out of his pocket, thinking that it must be Thomas.

Checking the number, he saw it was out of the area and unfamiliar.

As soon as he made the connection, a man started talking. "This is Max Dakota."

"How did you get this number?"

"Your man, Thomas, gave it to us."

"You have my home phone, too?"

"Yeah, but that's not the important point. We know that Pearson Stapler landed at the Santa Barbara airport on a private plane a couple of days ago. I suggest that you get back to the house as soon as possible."

OLIVIAtried to duck around her brother, but she still didn't have her full strength.

Pearson grabbed her by the shoulder, his fingers digging into her skin.

"Get off me." She tried to call out to Noah, but Pearson swore and pressed a cloth to her face. That was the last thing she knew.

Chapter Eleven

Noah charged into the dressing area.

"Sir! Sir!" the clerk called after him. "You can't go back there."

"My wife has been sick," he shouted over his shoulder. "She may be in trouble."

Noah turned right, looking into open cubicles. Pablo turned left, doing the same thing.

In one dressing room a pile of clothing lay on the floor. And beside it was the purse that Olivia had taken shopping. He knew it didn't contain much, but he also knew something basic about the female sex. No woman left her purse lying around in a public place.

```
"Crap!"
```

Someone was calling his name, and he realized he'd never closed the phone.

As Pablo charged down the hallway toward him, Noah put the cell back to his ear.

"What happened?" Dakota asked.

"Olivia has disappeared from a department store dressing room." He cursed again. Cursed himself for being so stupid. He'd taken Pablo along as a precaution, but he hadn't really thought anything was going to happen in Santa Barbara.

"We'll be there as soon as possible."

"Anything could happen in five hours."

A clicking noise told him that someone was trying to contact the cell.

"Someone's calling me," he told Dakota.

"Do you recognize the number?"

"No."

"Answer it. Make it a conference call."

Noah pushed the button. "Noah Fielding?" someone said. He couldn't tell if it was a man or a woman, because the voice was electronically distorted.

```
"Yes."
```

"We have your wife."

Noah's heart stopped, then started up again in double time.

"If you want to see her alive again, you will do exactly what we tell you."

"Is this about money?"

"No questions!"

"All right."

"You will not contact anyone. You will go to the Santa Barbara airport, where someone will meet you. Go now."

"All right," he said again, then hung up on the second line.

Max Dakota was still there.

"What the hell do I do?" Noah asked.

"What they said, only we'll meet you on the way to the airport and make sure we can track your location."

"Meet me? How? You're in Baltimore and I'm in Santa Barbara."

"We were anticipating problems, so we sent Hunter Kelley out a couple of days ago. Go back to your car. Drive to the La Cumbre Road exit of the parking lot and stop. Hunter will get in the car."

Noah swore again, this time in admiration. He'd hired these guys because he knew they were good. He hadn't known just how good.

"We'd better get off. Hunter will give you further instructions."

Noah hung up, unable to suppress the sick feeling in his gut as he and Pablo returned to the car and followed Max Dakota's directions.

This could be about Olivia, but he didn't think so. Someone wanted him, and they knew how to get him. Was it a revenge thing—like with Eddie Carlson's brother? Or what?

Too many unpleasant possibilities swirled in his head.

The car slowed, and the lean, dark-haired man he'd seen on the teleconference call ran out from between two cars, climbed into the backseat and folded himself onto the floor.

"Keep driving toward the airport," Hunter said.

Pablo followed directions.

"I'm sorry to be meeting you under these circumstances," Hunter said.

"Yeah, but I'm glad you decided to come out here."

The other man nodded. "We're going to put a tracking device on you."

"If they're as thorough as I think they are, they'll find it."

Hunter laughed. "I don't think so. You're going to swallow it."

The idea had very little appeal, but he didn't see any alternative. Apparently the Light Street Detective Agency had made a lot of contingency plans.

Hunter reached into the knapsack on the floor beside him and brought out something that looked like a large capsule. He also produced a bottle of water, which he handed to Noah.

Noah held the pill in his hand. A lot of strange things had happened to him in his long life, but he had never imagined anything like this.

"Swallow it," Hunter said.

Noah did, feeling it travel down his throat.

"They may have put a tracker on your car," he said, "so you'd better not detour. I'll get out at the next traffic light. We won't try to communicate with you until we have a better idea of the situation, but we'll zero in on your location. And we'll be as close as we can get, ready to bust in and scoop up you and your wife."

"I hope," Noah muttered.

"We have a very good closure rate."

"All right." It was more than he should have been able to hope for, actually, given his own stupidity. He should have kept Olivia safe at the compound, but he'd been too arrogant for that.

"If we can send you a signal or a message, we will," Hunter said.

"How?"

"That will depend on the circumstances." Hunter looked up as the car slowed for a red light. "Got to go. Good luck."

He opened the door, ducked low and rolled out of the car, landing in the gutter. Then he scuttled away, and Noah hoped to hell that the escape hadn't been noted by whoever was calling the shots.

Pablo drove to the airport. "What should I do?" he asked.

"Go home and wait for me," he said, hoping that he'd be back—with Olivia.

He got out and watched Pablo drive away, then he shoved his hands into his pockets and stood on the sidewalk waiting. Moments later, a man approached him. It wasn't anybody he'd ever met before.

"Noah Fielding?"

"Yes."

"Your plane is waiting."

"Where's my wife?"

"No questions!" the man clipped out. "Come this way."

They walked to a van, and Noah felt his chest tighten. He'd thought they were flying out of the Santa Barbara airport. Instead, when he stepped inside the van, something slammed into the back of his head.

He woke up groggy, on the floor of an airplane, with the taste of dried blood in his mouth. When he explored his lips with his tongue, he found out he'd been cut, probably from his own teeth. That would

heal soon enough, but it didn't solve any of his other problems.

He didn't know how long he'd been out, but it wasn't just from getting whacked on the back of the head. He was pretty sure he'd been given something to keep him unconscious. And he'd bet they'd searched him. Luckily the transmitter was where they couldn't find it.

He tried to move his hands and found they were cuffed. His feet, too, were tied. Because he wasn't Houdini, he probably wasn't going to free himself. Instead, he tried to evaluate his surroundings.

The aircraft was small and of limited range, and if he craned his neck, he could see blue sky out the window. Which didn't prove much of anything, he decided.

He didn't bother speaking to the pilot or copilot because he was sure they weren't going to give him a progress report on Olivia's health.

His chest tightened. He never should have taken her into town. Not until the Light Street operatives told him it was safe, but he'd seen the questioning look in her eyes and he'd wanted to wipe it away—at least for a while. Too bad he hadn't tried the honest approach and simply told her the truth.

But their relationship was still so new, and he'd been afraid that she'd walk away from him.

He felt the shift in the plane as it angled down for a landing.

The runway was short but the pilots were skilled. They were on the ground shortly.

Noah tensed as he waited to find out what would happen next. The door opened, and he heard the pilot conferring with someone outside.

The man came back with a pistol in his hand. His companion untied Noah's legs.

"Get up."

When Noah pushed himself to a sitting position, one of the men grabbed his arms and hauled him to his feet.

"Where are we?" he asked.

"You'll find out what you need to know when you need to know it," the man growled. "Come on."

Outside, two more men were waiting, both of them armed with automatic weapons. Behind them was a desolate landscape. It looked like they were in the southwest, on a high mountain plateau.

Ahead of them, in a cleared area, was a small structure that might have been a modest vacation home.

What were they going to do, leave him out here and fly away?

Panic rose in his chest. "Is Olivia here?"

"Stop asking questions." To emphasize the order, one of the men backhanded him across the mouth, and he stopped trying to get information. He could rush them, but that wasn't going to help Olivia. He had to find out where she was.

His guards led him to the house, which turned out to be a sort of elevator lobby.

Great, he thought. One elevator going down into the mountain. It would be very easy to keep an attack team from getting in.

When the three of them stepped into the car, it carried them down several levels, into a structure that must have been carved out of the native rock.

They led him along a rockbound corridor lined with doors, then stopped in front of one. The taller of the two guards unlocked his handcuffs, then punched in numbers on a keypad. When the door opened, the man shoved Noah into a small cell.

There was a narrow bed along the wall, and as he stumbled into the room, he saw someone scramble to her feet.

Olivia!

The door slammed behind him as she rushed toward him. "Noah! Thank God, Noah," she cried out, then stopped when she saw the blood on his mouth. "You're hurt," she breathed.

"It's not bad."

He reached for her and she went into his arms, clinging to him with all the strength she possessed. He held her just as tightly.

"How are you?" he murmured, praying they hadn't been as rough with her as they had been with him.

"Scared."

"Did they hurt you?"

"No. What's going on?"

He stroked her back, her hair, taking comfort from the contact. "I don't know. How did they get you?"

Her hands tightened on his shoulders. "I was in the dressing room and my brother came in."

"Your brother? Your brother pulled this off?"

She shook her head. "I don't think so. I heard him talking to someone else."

"Okay. We'll figure it out."

"How?"

He laughed. "I don't think someone brought both of us here just to lock us in a cell. Eventually, they have to tell us what they want."

When he said the wordcell, she started to tremble, and he tightened his hold on her.

He made a harsh sound. "Forgive me for getting you into this." As he spoke, his lips skimmed her cheek.

"This isn't your fault," she answered.

He wanted to tell her it was, but he saw no point in insisting when there was something much more important he had to say. Emotions surged inside him as he said, "I should have told you before. I love you."

He felt her sharp breath. "You're not just saying that because you think we're going to die?"

"We're not going to die," he said in a gritty voice. Confessions flashed through his mind, but this wasn't the time for them. Instead, he said, "I married you because I love you. Only I hadn't figured it out yet."

"That means a lot. I guess each of us saw something we needed in the other."

"Yes."

She nestled against him for a long moment, then leaned away from him and managed a small laugh. "We're an odd pair. You were lonely, and I came along at the right time."

He shook his head. "Don't sell yourself short. It's a lot more than that. I was very lucky to find you. You have some very rare qualities. You're warm and generous. And you know what's right and what's wrong."

"But I..."

"No. That's why you gave your brother so much grief over the scam he wanted to pull."

She dragged in a breath and let it out. "You said this is about you. But it's about me, too. Somebody's given Pearson the chance to get even with me."

As she finished speaking, the door opened again.

Noah whirled to see the men who had brought him from the plane.

He eyed their guns as he put himself between the guards and Olivia, estimating his chances of taking them. It wouldn't do any good to rush them. He couldn't get out of this with brute force. They'd shoot him, and he'd be out of commission for hours. He needed his wits. And he probably needed the Light Street Detective Agency.

They knew where he was. Maybe they were already working on plans to get him and Olivia out of here.

Yeah, sure. Out of a fortress built into a mountain.

"Mr. Bainbridge wants to see you now," one of the men said.

Noah had never heard the name. "Who is Mr. Bainbridge?"

"You'll be talking to him directly. Come on."

Noah reached for Olivia's hand.

"Not her," the guard said. "She stays here."

Noah folded his arms across his chest. "Then I stay here."

"If you give us any trouble, we have orders to shoot her," the man said.

Noah's throat clogged. When he turned toward Olivia, her face had drained of color. "I'll come back as soon as I can," he said, even when he was pretty sure he had no say in the matter.

She answered with a tight nod, and he stepped out of the room with the men. When the door closed behind him, he felt his heart squeeze painfully.

Yes, he'd gotten her into this. And he was deathly afraid for her.

He thought again about going after the guards. It didn't matter if they shot him. Olivia was out of the line of fire now, but he still wouldn't recover quickly enough to do anything for her, so he retraced the route to the elevator.

This time, they rode to a higher floor.

When they stepped out, it was like stepping into another world—into the opulence of a five-star New York hotel.

The floor was polished marble, cut so that each huge block of stone mirrored another one along the corridor. The ceiling looked like it had come from a French palace. And fabulous antique chests and tables were arranged along the walls. Apparently Mr. Bainbridge was very rich and he liked to remind himself of his wealth.

"That way," one of the guards said, pointing to a doorway on the left. As he stepped inside, Noah took quick stock of his surroundings. The room was furnished with comfortable couches and more antique cabinet pieces. Heavy drapes were drawn along one wall, but Noah suspected there might not be real windows behind them.

Two men were sitting in the room facing a large flat screen TV which showed a view of Olivia huddled in the cell he'd just vacated.

The picture made his blood boil, and he turned to the men in the room. One of them looked frail and wasted, and Noah was sure he had never seen him before. The other was Sidney Hemmings.

Noah focused on Hemmings. "What the hell is going on? What are you doing to Olivia?"

The doctor ignored the second question and said, "After you left Las Vegas so precipitously, Jarred contacted me and asked if I could help find you. Actually, I couldn't. You've covered your tracks very well, but Jarred's operatives are persistent. You used a different name at the Royal Crescent in Las Vegas, but we confirmed through fingerprint evidence that Noel Feldman was you."

Hemmings smiled. "We've had some very enlightening discussions about you. You're quite an interesting man."

"And so you kidnapped me and my wife?" Noah asked, making an effort to keep his voice calm, when

he felt like his life was unraveling before his eyes.

"I apologize for the dramatics," the other man said. "I'm Jarred Bainbridge."

"I can't say that I'm glad to meet you."

Bainbridge gestured toward an easy chair. "Why don't you sit down."

"I'd rather stand."

"As you wish."

"What the hell is this all about?" Noah repeated.

"Yes, in your position, I'd want some information, too. All right, I'll get to the point. I'm dying of a very nasty disease. Multiple myeloma. I've been searching for a way to extend my life. You first came to my attention as the result of a newspaper article from the Cayman Islands."

Noah felt a chill ripple over his skin as he thought over everything that had happened over the past few weeks. How much of it had to do with Bainbridge?

Hemmings said, "When we met in Las Vegas, I was shocked at your apparent age. I used my ring to take a cell sample from you. Your cells have an amazing ability to regenerate themselves."

"A cell sample! That's an invasion of privacy."

The doctor shrugged.

"So you got involved in some kind of diabolical scheme with your new best friend?" Noah asked.

Hemmings lifted one shoulder. "As you know, I'm always interested in scientific research. Jarred has the funds to carry out research that would be beyond my scope. There's considerable benefit to me in joining him in this venture."

Bainbridge jumped back into the conversation. "Dr. Hemmings has come up with some very interesting theories about you."

"How helpful of him," Noah said through gritted teeth, then ordered himself not to let anger sweep him away. He had to understand these men. Bainbridge was no problem. He was a very rich man used to getting his way, and his illness was an unexpected blow, something he couldn't control. Yet he was trying desperately to change the equation. Unfortunately, it appeared he didn't care who got hurt, as long as his own purposes were served.

Hemmings was another matter. Noah knew he'd always been a tireless researcher. It seemed that Bainbridge had given him an opportunity to study a fascinating anomaly. Or was Bainbridge giving him a great deal of money for his assistance?

"Of course, I wanted to test the theories for myself," Bainbridge continued. "If Sidney's hypothesis is true, then I'll want to see how your remarkable recuperative powers can be transferred to me."

"They can't," Noah snapped.

"Pearson was very helpful in getting you here," the frail man said, ignoring the interjection.

"Where is he?"

"Dead. He served his purpose and he was too dangerous to keep around."

The offhand way Bainbridge spoke deepened the chill in Noah's flesh. And when the man continued, the chill sank all the way into Noah's bones.

The billionaire gestured toward the television set. "We watched that tender reunion between you and your wife. It was very enlightening. Now I'd like to find out what lengths you'd go to to save her if her life was in danger."

## Chapter Twelve

"Leave Olivia out of this," Noah shouted, then wished he'd kept his mouth shut when he saw the twisted look of satisfaction on Bainbridge's gaunt face. He had something in mind, something that made Noah's heart start to pound.

"I've been thinking of various dangers," he said. "We already know you survived without oxygen for hours in that drowned submarine. And I've found out that you were shot in the chest on your ranch last week with no lasting damage. But that leaves many interesting possibilities. What about fire? Can you survive that?"

Noah clenched his fists.

"We'll set up a little experiment—with Olivia—to find out."

"No!" Noah screamed, but he might as well have kept his mouth shut.

Bainbridge picked up a phone on the table beside him and spoke, but there must have been some kind of damping device on the instrument, because Noah couldn't hear what he was saying. And because he cupped his hand over his mouth, his lips were hidden.

Still, it took only a few moments for him to find out what order had been given. On the screen, the door to Olivia's cell opened, and two men came in. One of them held a gun on her while the other cuffed her hands in front of her. Then they led her through the door and out of the picture.

"Leave her alone," Noah shouted again. His gaze flicked to Hemmings, who was sitting rigidly in his chair, his face a stark mask. Did that mean he hadn't given his approval for this experiment, whatever it was? Could Noah use that?

He turned to Hemmings, but the doctor avoided his eyes.

"Come on," one of the men behind Noah said. He wanted to sit down on the floor and make them carry him, but he was afraid that he would only be putting Olivia in serious danger, so he went along.

Behind him, Bainbridge got slowly to his feet. Noah hoped the man was in pain. At least that thought gave him some small satisfaction.

Hemmings also stood, and they walked back to the elevator. Noah tried to focus on the layout of the underground building. There couldn't be only one entrance, could there?

That would be too dangerous.

But his heart was pounding so hard that it was difficult to focus on the details of his surroundings. They exited into a kind of reception area, with several doors and a large viewing window. Through it, he saw Olivia standing on a platform at the far end of the room. She was tied to a wooden post, and straw and wood were piled around her on the platform.

Straw and other flammable materials covered the floor between her and the door.

"The fire will start at this end of the room and move toward your lovely wife," Bainbridge was saying. "You'll have to run through it to get to her. Once you get there, you'll find a fire hose you can use to put out the flames."

"You bastard."

"I'm sure you'll disregard your own safety and do your best to save her," Bainbridge said. "Because you love her so much. Or were you telling her the truth?"

He pressed a switch beside the door, and a line of flames sprang up across the middle of the room. They leaped high, shooting ten feet into the air. And they were at least three feet thick.

Beyond them, Olivia gasped. When the fire started moving toward her, she began to struggle, trying to free herself from the post. But she was tied securely in place.

Noah threw the door open and bolted into the room. The fire continued to advance, getting wider as it crept toward Olivia.

"Noah!"

"I'll save you," he shouted, staring at the ten-foot wall of flames that now separated them. His only option was to run straight for the fire.

His clothing caught immediately, and the flames seared his skin, sending agonizing signals from his nerve endings to his brain, but he kept running, his goal was to reach the fire hose.

Olivia's screams echoed in his ears as he made his desperate dash. He could feel his flesh burning deeply now. The pain was incredible, but he gritted his teeth as he reached the fire hose, turned the cock and felt a rush of relief as water gushed from the nozzle.

He was enveloped by mind-numbing pain as he sprayed Olivia, sprayed the straw and wood around her, then turned to spray the flames licking at his feet.

Olivia's screams were still echoing in his ears as he fell over, into the fire.

WHENhis eyes blinked open again, he was lying in a bed with Hemmings and Olivia standing over him. He saw tears trickling down her face.

"You killed him," she whispered. "How could you stand there and let it happen?"

"No, he's already healing," the researcher said.

Noah dragged in a rattling breath, and both of their gazes shot to him.

"I'm sorry," he whispered, his eyes fixed on Olivia.

"Noah. Oh, Lord, Noah."

He raised his hand toward her, but it fell back on the bed. He still didn't have much strength.

"It's the secret I couldn't bring myself to tell you," he whispered. "I don't die. No matter what happens to me, I just come back to life. That's the damn secret."

She stared at him, and he knew she was having trouble taking that in. Who wouldn't?

Well, Bainbridge for starters. And Hemmings.

He turned toward the researcher. "What do I have to do to make sure you don't put her through anything like that again?"

The researcher's expression turned eager. "Cooperate with me."

Noah felt his stomach clench, but he kept his voice even as he asked, "How?"

"I want to do some tests on you. And I want to know everything you've learned about longevity."

"It won't help Bainbridge. As far as I can tell, I'm unique, so you'll be wasting your time. I can't even reproduce. I've never had any children."

"Maybe. But I'd like to find that out for myself. How long will it take you to recover?"

"Several days," he said, lying. He'd be functioning sooner than that, but he was hoping he could buy himself some time while he figured out how to get the hell out of here.

Hemmings nodded.

He gave the researcher a direct look. "If you want any kind of honest cooperation from me, do not lock Olivia in a cell again. I want her with me in comfortable quarters."

"Maybe that can be arranged," Hemmings said.

"It better be." He stopped talking and closed his eyes, partly because he needed to rest and partly because he couldn't cope with the wounded look on Olivia's face. He had lied to her, and she'd found out in the worst possible way. But maybe that was part of the fun of the experiment for Bainbridge.

After a few minutes rest, he said, "Where's our host?"

"Resting."

```
"I hope he's in pain."
"He is."
"Glad to hear it. Do you know what burns over ninety percent of your body feel like?"
Hemmings winced.
"Unendurable pain is often the consequence of not dying," Noah said.
"Maybe that can be controlled."
"I doubt it." He kept his focus on the researcher. "I want to be alone with my wife."
"All right."
To Noah's vast relief, Hemmings turned and walked out of the room. Noah took a deep breath before
shifting his gaze to Olivia.
"I asked to be alone with you, but that's a relative term. We'd better assume that anything we say and
do is being monitored."
"Yes," she whispered.
"Like I said, I'm sorry I got you into this. Bainbridge apparently thinks I can save his life." He paused for
a moment and thought about what he wanted to say, then stared at her with an intensity he hoped
conveyed his urgency. "But Hemmings is a brilliant researcher. And I've had years of experience in the
field of longevity. Maybe working together we can figure it out. So for now, I'll cooperate."
Olivia nodded.
Although afraid of her answer, he asked her, "How do you feel about me?"
"I don't know."
"Yeah, it's hard to wrap your head around my abnormality. It was hard for me."
"That woman you loved a long time ago. Did she know?"
"Yes. I told her."
"You trusted her enough," she said, her voice sad.
"I trusted you enough, but I was terrified that I'd lose you. I was just trying to figure out how to work
my way up to a confession."
"And she accepted it?"
"Yes."
```

Olivia nodded, and he knew she still hadn't made any decisions about what this meant for her. He wanted to swear to her that he'd rescue her from this outpost of hell on earth where anything could happen. But because he didn't want Bainbridge to know that was his goal, he couldn't say anything.

"Do you know why you've lived so long?" she asked.

"No. My family died of the plague in a little village in Britain. Monks found me as a boy wandering around, starving. They took me in, and I grew to adulthood and lived with them for a while—until some of the brothers started wondering why I didn't get sick. They tried to kill me. I survived. I've had a lot of lives. I'll tell you anything you want to know about them."

It was a relief to come clean with her, although he still didn't know what the future held for them. If—when—he got them out of here, he'd give her a divorce if that's what she wanted. And enough money so she'd never have to worry again. Then he would go back to his lonely existence.

They were still huddled together when Hemmings came back. "You're being moved to a guest suite," he said. "Near the lab. Then you and I can start talking about your research."

"We've been corresponding about it for years."

"Yes, but I want all the facts you didn't share," he said and there was something in his tone that made Noah wonder about his motivation. Could he be having second thoughts about Bainbridge's methods? Could he actually be stalling for time?

Too bad they couldn't be clear on that point.

"Can you walk?" Hemmings asked.

"I'd like a wheelchair," Noah answered, because he was still pretending that he was in worse shape than he really was.

"I'll show you the suite. Then I'd like to do a physical exam."

The suite was comfortable, although not as opulent as the sitting room where Noah had spoken to Bainbridge and Hemmings.

"I'll be back as soon as I can," he told Olivia. The look she gave him when Hemmings wheeled him away for the physical made his stomach knot.

WHENNoah and Dr. Hemmings had left, Olivia breathed out a sigh. Her insides were churning. She wanted to be with Noah—her husband—and at the same time, she wanted to be alone.

Seeing him fighting to save her life, even as flames enveloped him, had been the most wrenching experience of her life. She'd known he must be in agony. When she'd thought he was dead, she'd felt like her own life had ended.

Men had carried his charred hulk into another room and laid him on a table. When they'd let her go in, she'd been sobbing, thinking she was saying goodbye to him. Then his chest had moved as he'd sucked in a breath of air, and Hemmings had told her that Noah had remarkable recuperative powers.

His secret.

She understood why he'd kept it to himself, although she was pretty sure he'd been working up to telling her.

She knew exactly what it meant for the two of them. She would grow old and die and he wouldn't.

Or maybe not. Not if Bainbridge had his way and finished her off. Maybe the only way to prevent that was to help Noah figure out how to get out of here, because she was pretty sure that's what he was doing.

No doubt she was being watched, she thought, as she walked around the suite. The drapes were drawn, and behind them she found only a wall. There were two doors to the rooms, both of which were locked. There were also two bathrooms. One was fairly small, with a pedestal sink, a toilet and a shower stall. The other was larger, with a long vanity. When she looked under it, she could see an access panel to the plumbing.

Would they have cameras in here, too?

Stepping inside the bathroom, she closed the door and began looking through the drawers of the vanity, where she found some beauty supplies and a manicure kit.

Could she open the panel with it? And would armed guards come rushing in if she did?

She stopped and squeezed her eyes closed, fighting tears as the irony of the situation reached out and grabbed her. Yesterday she'd dared to embrace the happiness Noah had brought her. Today her dream of a normal life with him was shattered. She might end up going back to some kind of life on her own, where she'd try once again to dig herself out of debt and stay out of her brother's clutches.

She shuddered, hating to imagine that alternative.

She still loved Noah, and she had to give him her support—at least until this was over.

Deciding she had nothing to lose, she firmed her lips, crawled under the sink and used the nail file to work on the screws that held the panel closed. When she got it open, she found a space large enough to squeeze behind the pipes. In fact, she could see a kind of tunnel leading away from the bathroom.

Was she looking at an escape route? Even if she was, exploring it on her own was a bad idea. After loosely screwing the panel back again, she used the facilities, then went back to the bedroom to wait for Noah.

THEmedical complex turned out to be on the same floor of Bainbridge's little kingdom. Noah looked around, hoping for something he could use to help him escape.

Hemmings wasn't in a very chatty mood as he did the examination. Other than issuing orders, he didn't speak until he was finished.

"You're in excellent shape," he said then. "I don't think you need that wheelchair."

"You could be right."

"Put your clothes back on and meet me in the lab," he said. "It's just down the hall. And don't try to get out of here. The cameras will pick it up and the guards will go after your wife."

Noah gritted his teeth, knowing Hemmings was right.

When he was dressed, he found Hemmings in a state-of-the-art bio lab. He saw an autoclave, a fluorescent-activated cell sorting machine, tissue culture hoods, an electron microscope, biological safety cabinets, an incubator for growing and protecting tissue samples and a lot more specialized equipment. It was clear that Bainbridge had spared no expense in outfitting the facility.

Hemmings was sitting at a computer station at the end of the room.

"So was this lab here last week?" Noah asked.

The doctor looked up. "Partly. I had carte blanche to get what I needed."

"How did they get it in here?"

"You don't need to know that," Hemmings snapped. "Let's get back to you. How old are you?"

Noah shrugged. "I was born in the early fourteenth century."

Hemmings reacted with an exclamation of surprise. "I guess you've seen a lot."

"Too much."

"I can't tell you exactly when I was born. We didn't do much record keeping in my village."

He talked a little more about his background, hoping to establish some kind of rapport with the researcher.

"You should write all that down. And also your lab notes on your experiments," he said.

"I'd do better if I had my records."

"Maybe if I gave you access to this facility, you could reconstruct some of your observations," the researcher said. "Unfortunately, the door between your quarters and the lab is locked."

Noah stared at Hemmings. He'd like to know what the man had in mind. Was this his way of telling him about the door? He couldn't ask, so he said that he had reached his energy limit and needed to rest.

To his relief, Hemmings agreed.

An armed guard escorted him through the hallway and back to the suite, where he found Olivia pacing the carpet.

A wealth of emotions gathered on her face when she saw him. "I was starting to worry about you."

"I'm fine."

Before they could say anything personal, the door opened and two men came in, one of them holding a tray and the other a gun.

"Dinner," the one with the tray said and set it down on a table at the side of the room.

When they were gone, Olivia declined the food. "I'm not hungry."

Long years of practicality made him say, "But you'd better eat because we don't know when we get more food."

She answered with a little nod.

They sat at the table, both of them quiet as they picked at the steak, baked potato and green beans that had been delivered. Yesterday he and Olivia had been so warm and close. Now they might have been strangers, and he fought the fear that this was the emotional end of their marriage.

When Olivia finally spoke, her words confused him. "Come in the bathroom."

"What?"

"Maybe we can take a shower together," she said.

He stared at her, astonished that she wanted to get that close to him. Or maybe she knew that might be the only place where they could have some privacy.

He didn't object as she led him into the bathroom, closed the door and turned on the water in the shower.

Instead of taking off her clothes, she got down on her hands and knees and pointed to a panel under the sink. Then she opened a drawer and got out a nail file.

"That's very creative of you," he murmured, his admiration for her surging.

She met his gaze. "I want to...I mean, do you think they're watching us in here. I'd be embarrassed if they were."

"Let's assume we've got some privacy in here. At least that there's no camera."

He didn't know where they stood, but he couldn't stop himself from reaching for her and pulling her into his arms, holding tight.

"I love you," he said again.

She nodded against his shoulder, but she didn't wrap her arms around him and she didn't return the words.

He held her for a few moments longer because he needed the contact to steady himself. Finally he stepped away and started working on the screws, which she had obviously already loosened. When he removed the panel, he could see a tunnel.

He pointed inside, then pointed to himself.

When she gestured to herself, too, he shook his head.

She made a face but just handed him the small flashlight that was in another drawer. Nice of Bainbridge to provide it, but he supposed it was a necessity in a home that was completely inside a mountain.

He squeezed into the area behind the sink, then started crawling. It was a good thing he had the flashlight because he might have fallen down a shaft about twenty yards farther along the tunnel. There were metal rungs on the side. When he shined the light down, he couldn't see the bottom.

Another man might have worried about falling. He just started climbing upward, with the flashlight gripped in his teeth.

There were branch tunnels on what he figured was every floor. He might have done some exploring, if he'd had more time. But he and Olivia were supposed to be in the shower.

He was looking up, wondering how far he had to climb, when a voice spoke in the darkness.

"Noah, stay cool."

Chapter Thirteen

When he heard the disembodied voice, Noah almost dropped the flashlight in his mouth.

What the hell?

Struggling to retain the light, he clenched his teeth.

"This is Max Dakota from Light Street," the voice said. "You can't answer me, but I can speak to you. And I'm assuming you're picking this up. It's coming from the magic capsule you swallowed. In addition to the transponder, the capsule has a small transmission device inside."

The voice stopped, and Noah waited with his heart pounding.

After several seconds, the voice started again. "Sorry. We have to do this in bursts, so they won't figure out what's going on."

Yeah, right. Was this some kind of trick? The voice sounded like Max Dakota, but he couldn't be sure. And he was having trouble believing what the guy said.

Then he reminded himself that nobody could know about the capsule except the Light Street guys.

"We had to wait until you were alone to send a message. We have a schematic of the facility and we know where you are. We're in a helicopter within range of the facility."

The voice stopped again, and once more he waited in the darkness, his heart pounding.

Was he really in contact with the Light Street men? Or was Noah Fielding so desperate for help that he was making up voices in his head?

He clenched his fingers around the rung of the ladder. He'd lived a long time and had been in some tight spots, but he'd never made up imaginary friends.

In this case, the logical conclusion was that the Light Street operatives had figured out some very sophisticated technology. He'd like to talk to them about that, if he ever got the chance.

Max Dakota began speaking again. "We know you're in an access shaft that leads to the top of the mountain. The exit above you is on the roof of the facility. If you can get outside, we can scoop up you and your wife. But we need you to create some kind of diversion in there. Something that will have them running around so they're not aware of us swooping in for the pickup. We're hoping you can do that. We'll stand by."

## Okay!

He couldn't say it aloud, but he felt a surge of hope. Light Street was in position to get them off the mountain. Noah's job was to get back to Olivia and figure out how to screw up Bainbridge's security force.

Reversing his direction, he started back down the ladder, moving faster than when he'd climbed up, yet it seemed like a long way down. He kept scanning the darkness and finally he saw the light shining through the access panel where he'd entered the shaft.

When he scrambled back into the bathroom, Olivia was staring at him with a question on her face—a question she couldn't ask because she understood that Bainbridge's men might be listening.

He gave her a thumbs up sign.

"Wow. I feel good. That was a great idea about the shower," he said, hoping that anyone listening would assume they'd been fooling around. He ached to tell her what had happened with the access shaft and the communication from Max Dakota, but he couldn't take a chance on Bainbridge's men hearing the news.

He thought about the door to the lab. Hemmings had said it was locked, but Noah had had a lot of practice getting out of confinement.

"Wait here," he mouthed, then took the nail file through the bedroom to the living room of the suite.

When he looked around, Olivia was right behind him. He wanted her out of danger, but he suspected she wasn't going to cooperate.

Without too much trouble, he opened the door, and they both stepped into the lab.

Hemmings had told him the area was under surveillance. But would the guards be focusing on the lab when it was empty?

He didn't know, but he had to take the chance.

Putting his mouth to Olivia's ear, he whispered, "We don't have much time. Look for fire accelerants."

She nodded and began opening cabinets.

He ran back to a storage room he'd seen and started his own search.

OLIVIArummaged through the cabinets, glad to have something to occupy her mind. Since she'd found out Noah's secret, her thoughts had been in turmoil. Could she live with him, knowing that she would grow old and he would stay the same? Could she be happy with him under those circumstances?

She'd known he had a secret. Of all the things he could have told her, she never would have expected this. Not in a million years. And she still couldn't come to grips with it.

She clenched her teeth, angry with herself. She was all wound up with herself. But what about Noah? What was it like to live for centuries and lose the people you loved? You'd wall yourself off to avoid pain. Noah must have done that, yet he'd pickedher out of all the women he could have married.

Absorbed with her thoughts, she missed the sound of a lock opening. But when a door swung open to her right—not the door she and Noah had come through—she pivoted to face it.

Dr. Hemmings stepped into the room, a gun in his hand.

When she saw him, she went stock-still. So did the doctor.

"What are you doing here?" he asked in an icy voice.

She scrambled for an answer, knowing she had to keep the man's attention so that he wouldn't discover what Noah was doing.

Raising her voice so it would carry to the back of the lab, she said, "Mr. Bainbridge is setting up another experiment and he asked me to get some things."

Hemmings snorted. "If he were, he wouldn't involve you in the planning." He regarded her with narrowed eyes. "How did you get in here?"

"Through the door." Compounding her previous lie with another, she added, "Maybe I've switched sides, and you didn't get word. Call your boss and ask."

"He's not my boss!"

Her heart was pounding as she waited for Noah to realize they weren't alone. Finally, behind Hemmings, she saw a flicker of movement. It was Noah, creeping quietly toward the doctor's back.

Noah looked like he was about to leap at Hemmings, when the man must have sensed there was someone behind him. He whirled and fired.

She screamed as she saw the bullet strike Noah's shoulder, but his reaction wasn't that of a normal man. He kept charging forward.

And she knew Hemmings couldn't deal with Noah and her at the same time. Weaponless, she leaped on his back, bringing him crashing to the floor. The gun discharged again, but this time the bullet only struck the bottom of a cabinet.

Hemmings rolled one way and then the other, trying to dislodge her, but she wasn't about to let go.

Noah surged forward, grabbed the gun and kicked out a foot, slamming it into the doctor's ribs with bone-jarring force.

Hemmings gasped as Noah trained the gun on him.

"How do you like a little pain?" he growled. "Want another kick?"

"No. Please."

"Sit up. Hands behind your head," he ordered through clenched teeth.

Hemmings grimaced as he sat up.

Olivia's gaze swung between them. When she saw the blood spreading on Noah's shirt, she couldn't hold back a little sob.

"You're hurt."

He made a rough sound. "As we all know, I'll live."

"You're a priceless resource," Hemmings said to Noah. "Don't do anything to endanger this project."

"You think setting me on fire isn't endangering the project?"

"You recovered. Just like you'll recover from the bullet wound."

"Yeah, but you didn't know that for sure before you tried that human torch experiment."

Hemmings's voice turned desperate. "It was Bainbridge's idea! I couldn't change his mind."

"That's a convenient excuse."

"Listen to me. We can both be rich if you cooperate with him."

"I have all the money I need."

"Work with me!"

"Is that why you were being accommodating—to soften me up?"

Hemmings didn't answer.

"We're wasting time," Noah snapped. "Olivia and I have to get out of here."

Noah made a wide circle around the man, then handed the gun to her. "Keep him covered."

She took the weapon and held it in a two-handed grip, her focus on Hemmings. From the corner of her eye, she saw Noah run to the back of the storeroom again. He returned with two bottles and a pile of

towels.

"Alcohol and benzene," he said, as he began to pour the liquid onto the towels.

Olivia could see Noah move around the lab, his teeth clenched. He was turning on the five Bunsen burners on the tables.

"What are you doing?" Hemmings gasped.

"Starting a fire. Turnabout is fair play, don't you think?"

Hemmings eyed the gas jets. "This place is going to go up like a torch."

"Uh-huh."

As Noah lit one of the towels, Hemmings leaped up and lunged for Olivia. She was too stunned to shoot, but Noah must have been ready for the move. Once again, he used his foot, this time against Hemmings's back, slamming him to the floor again.

But the man was obviously desperate. He hurled himself at Noah, who battered him down again. This time Hemmings stayed on the floor.

Noah worked methodically, emptying the bottles onto the towels. When the terry cloth was soaked with benzene and alcohol, he used the burners to light them, then flung them around the room. Finally, he extinguished the flames on all but one of the burners but left the jets on.

As Hemmings watched what he was doing, the researcher gasped. "Are you crazy? The gas will explode."

"That's the idea."

"You can't leave me here."

"You were perfectly willing to kill Olivia if I hadn't gotten to her in time. You just watched."

"I didn't have a choice."

"You'll have a chance to get out—after we do."

The smoke from the burning towels was already making Olivia cough.

Noah whirled toward her. "Go into the bedroom. I'll be right there."

But she wasn't going to leave him alone with Hemmings.

As the flames leaped higher, the doctor made a desperate grab for Noah, and she shot him in the shoulder.

He screamed as he fell backward into the flames, then screamed again as his clothing caught fire.

Hemmings begged for help.

Shocked at her own actions and her unfeeling reaction, Olivia ignored him.

"We'd better split," Noah ordered, "before the gas blows."

They both turned and ran. Just as they stepped through the doorway, an alarm rang.

"Hurry," Noah shouted. "The guards are going to be here any minute."

THEalarm woke Jarred Bainbridge. For a moment, he couldn't figure out why a bell was ringing. Then the speaker beside his bed crackled.

"Sir, there's a fire in the laboratory."

His immediate reaction was anger. "How the hell did that happen?"

"The lab was vacant. We put it on an eight-minute surveillance cycle."

"You idiot," Jarred screamed. "Noah Fielding is next door. Get him out of there."

"Yes, sir."

"And keep me informed."

"Yes, sir."

The voice clicked off, and Jarred was left alone in his bedroom.

Struggling up, he started for the door, but the smell of smoke stopped him. Apparently it had gotten into the air ducts.

He pressed the communications panel again, but nothing happened, and fear clawed at his chest.

For years he'd always been in command, but somehow since he'd started stalking Noah Fielding, the situation had gotten out of his control. He'd thought he'd been so clever bringing Fielding here. Now he knew he'd made a bad mistake.

Smoke was filling the room, and in his weakened condition, he couldn't breathe.

Panic seized him and he struggled for calm.

The floor. You were supposed to get down on the floor to get away from the smoke.

He tried to crawl toward the door, but he wavered on unsteady arms and knees.

"Help. Someone help me," he called out, his voice barely carrying across the room.

No one came.

The last conscious thought he had was a curse.

NOAHran for the access panel. Just as they reached the bathroom, the door burst open, and two armed guards pounded in.

"Go," he shouted to Olivia. "There's a shaft about twenty feet down the tunnel. Start climbing up."

She gave him a desperate look.

"Go," he shouted again as he fired at the guards. Neither one of them had expected him to be armed, and he was able to take both of them out. Leaping forward, he grabbed an automatic weapon from one of the bodies and headed for the panel.

Earlier it had been dark inside. Now he saw emergency lighting along the interior of the shaft. Maybe the alarm had triggered the lights.

Olivia had already disappeared inside, and he heard her gasp.

"How far down is it if I fall?" she asked.

"Don't look down. Keep going up. I'll be under you."

He climbed in, just as another guard charged into the room. He dropped the guy the way he'd taken out the others, then slung the gun's strap over his shoulder so he could climb.

His right shoulder still hurt, but it was getting better. He could feel the slug working its way out, the foreign object being rejected from his body the way he knew it would.

Below him, another guard had crawled into the tunnel and started firing upward.

Noah cursed under his breath as he paused on the ladder, turned and fired back.

Bullets whizzed past him, and he prayed that one of them wasn't going to hit Olivia.

Then from below, a massive explosion shook the ladder. In the dim light, he saw Olivia waver on the rungs.

"Hold on. Just hold on tight," he called out, following his own advice.

His heart leaped into his throat as he watched her feet scramble for purchase, but finally she stabilized herself. When she was steady again, he ordered her to climb, praying they could get to the top before the whole structure collapsed around them.

She kept going, but he could hear her breathing hard, and the smoke was following them up the shaft.

They had another problem, too. Since the initial contact, he hadn't heard anything from the Light Street men. Were they really out there, or had something happened?

When Olivia reached the top, Noah breathed out a small sigh. There was a narrow platform and an access hatch. Olivia climbed off the ladder and onto the platform. Leaning back against the wall, she sagged to the side.

His heart stopped as she wavered toward the guardrail. Swiftly he reached for her, propping her against his side with one hand while he aimed the machine gun at the hatch with the other and fired a stream of bullets at the panel. The door flew off, letting blessed air into the shaft.

"Come on."

Olivia didn't move.

"Come on," he said again, lifting her up and heaving her through the opening.

She flopped limply onto the surface above, and Noah scrambled out after her.

In the distance, he could see the small house with the entrance to the elevator shaft, and he knew they were on the same plateau where he'd landed yesterday. Or maybe it was the day before.

He looked back at the escape hatch, thinking that if someone came through, he and Olivia were too exposed.

"Olivia?"

She made a small sound, but she didn't move.

"We have to get away from here."

Gritting his teeth, he lifted her in his arms. His shoulder still hurt after the long climb up the ladder. Carrying Olivia several yards away, he rounded an outcropping of rock and set her down gently on the ground.

Desperation clawed at him as he scanned the sky. They were out of the underground facility, but where were the Light Street guys?

While that question circled in his mind, he felt the ground quake below him, and knew that another explosion had shaken the complex.

Was the whole top of the mountain going to blow? With them on it? That might solve the Noah Fielding problem once and for all.

"Please, Lord. Not now," he whispered. "Not when I've found Olivia."

But even if, by some miracle, he got her out of this, would she stay with him?

Chapter Fourteen

Behind them, Noah heard a whooshing sound. Whirling, he was in time to see the building with the elevator burst into flames. So much for anybody inside using that escape route.

Unless someone came up the access shaft, it looked like everybody down there was done for. Including Bainbridge.

That realization gave Noah a moment's satisfaction as he crouched over Olivia. The unprincipled bastard

had been looking for a way to prolong his life—and he'd only succeeded in shortening it.

Nobody from inside the complex was coming after them. Unfortunately, he had the feeling they were sitting on a man-made volcano that was going to blow the top off the mountain.

Desperately, he shook Olivia's shoulder. "Wake up. You have to wake up."

She didn't respond, and he felt everything inside him twist and cramp. They had to get away from the mountaintop, but after climbing the shaft with a bullet in his shoulder, he knew that he couldn't carry her to safety.

Gently he tried to rouse her. When that didn't work, he grasped her arm and shook her.

"Olivia, we're still in danger. We have to get out of here. Sweetheart, I love you. If something happens to you because of me, I'll never forgive myself. Never. Please, wake up."

Centuries passed in those moments. When her eyes opened, he breathed out a grateful sigh.

She looked around, dazed.

"Sweetheart. Thank God."

She focused on him. "Where are we?"

"Outside."

A grin flickered on her lips. "We made it."

"Sort of. We can't stay here," he said, even when he didn't know where they were going.

When she pushed herself up and fell back, he grabbed her under the arms and steadied her.

"Are you okay?"

"Yes," she said, but her voice was weak.

He helped her to her feet, even when he knew that she was in no shape to walk.

From her standing position, she scanned the barren landscape, that ended in a drop-off in every direction. "Where are we going?"

"The Light Street Detective Agency is coming for us." I hope, he silently added.

Before the lab fire, he'd been in communication with Max Dakota. At this moment, there was no indication that anyone from the agency was still in the area. If they ever had been.

But he knew he and Olivia couldn't stay where they were. The dry brush around the elevator building had started burning, sending a cloud of smoke into the air. Before they had a repeat of the scene with Olivia tied to the stake, he urged her away.

"NOAHFielding? Can you hear me, Noah Fielding?"

There was no answer, and Jed Prentiss cursed under his breath.

"I still can't reestablish contact with him," Jed Prentiss said into his com unit. He was piloting a helicopter circling in the air near the mountain where Noah and his wife were being held.

"They're still jamming?" Hunter asked.

"Yeah."

Moments ago, an underground explosion had sent shock waves through the air around them. Now smoke from a brushfire on the mountaintop was pouring into the air, blocking their view.

"Noah Fielding," Jed tried again.

Once more he was met with silence.

"You think they're dead?" Max asked, voicing Jed's worst fear.

"Maybe they made it to that access shaft and got out," Hunter Kelley said.

"Even if they're out there, we could miss them in all that smoke if they can't tell us where they are."

While Jed circled into the haze, he and the other men in the chopper scanned the mountaintop, looking for the two escapees, but they spotted no one.

As he watched the fire and smoke, Jed knew the whole mountain could blow and blast the chopper out of the sky. But if they didn't get closer, they weren't going to spot the Fieldings—if they'd managed to get to the surface.

WHENNoah and Olivia reached the edge of the plateau, he stopped. They were hundreds of feet in the air—like in one of those TV commercials with a vehicle on top of a giant rock, and you had to wonder how it got there. Only in this case, the rock was big enough for a short landing strip. And the strip was on fire.

Noah stared at the ground so far below, wondering whether they really could climb down. But it seemed to be the only escape route. Damn, he wished he had a rope. He had some experience rock climbing, but Olivia probably didn't.

She swayed on the edge of the cliff. "That access shaft was bad enough. This is too wide open. I can't go down there."

"You have to."

When he walked to the very edge, she winced. Leaning over, he could see a ledge about six feet below them. He could get to it and help her down.

But then what? Would the wall of the cliff shield them from an explosion?

He had just swung his leg over the edge when a voice near his ear stopped him cold.

"Noah Fielding. Can you hear me, Noah Fielding?"

"Yes!" he shouted, although he knew the communication was only one way.

"If you can hear me, give me a sign. We're having trouble seeing you through the smoke."

Noah yanked off his shirt and swung it back and forth in the air. When he heard a noise in the distance, he pivoted in that direction and saw a helicopter.

Answering his unspoken question, the pilot said, "They jammed us when they went into emergency mode. They must have had an automatic interference system that kicked in."

Noah exhaled a breath and pointed to the rapidly approaching chopper. "That's the Light Street Detective Agency."

"But how?" Olivia breathed.

"After you were kidnapped, they set up a transmission link to me."

The helicopter swooped low, and Noah moved Olivia back from the cliff edge to make sure she wouldn't be blown off in the wash from the rotors.

The chopper didn't attempt to land. Instead, while it hovered in the air, Dakota came down on a ladder that swung back and forth in the wind.

Olivia bit her lip as he reached for her.

"Go!" Noah ordered.

When she was safely in the copter, he pulled on his shirt, then scrambled up the ladder and slid in beside her.

As soon as he was in his seat, they took off.

Just in time.

As they zoomed away, a tremendous explosion rocked the mountain behind them. When Noah twisted around in his seat, he saw the whole top of the plateau fly apart, spewing chunks of rock into the air.

The helicopter shook as shards of rock hurtled past the windows. Noah held his breath, praying that they wouldn't be knocked out of the sky, but the pilot kept the chopper on a steady course.

"So much for Bainbridge," Noah muttered, then glanced at Olivia. She was staring white-faced at the place where they'd been only a few minutes earlier, probably thinking that getting onto the ledge below the plateau wouldn't have done them a damn bit of good.

It was noisy in the machine, and they didn't have headsets like the rescue team, which meant he couldn't

say anything to her. When he reached out and squeezed her hand, she looked at him, then away, and he felt his stomach knot. Since he'd woken up after Bainbridge's twisted experiment, he'd ached to talk to her in private. He wanted to know where he stood with her. Would she stay with him? Or would she flee this hasty marriage as soon as she could get away?

That discussion would have to wait, but there was something else he wouldn't be able to put off. He needed to think about what he was going to tell the Light Street men who had come through for him and Olivia under heroic circumstances.

He'd made his decision by the time they landed in a clearing next to a lodge that he judged to be about fifty miles away. He thought they were somewhere in Arizona.

Olivia was still unsteady on her feet, and he helped her into the house.

"Thank you for getting us out of there," Noah told the men as soon as they were inside and away from the noise of the chopper blades.

"A pleasure," Max Dakota answered. "We researched Bainbridge. He was into some nasty stuff. He was born rich and made sure he got richer. His whole life seemed to have been lived for his own aggrandizement. He didn't care who he hurt or stepped on, so long as he got what he thought he wanted or needed."

"Nice guy."

A group of Light Street agents was waiting for them in the lodge. Besides the men Noah had met in the teleconference, there were two more on the team. Jed Prentiss, who had piloted the helicopter, and a guy named Thorn Devereaux. After the introductions, everybody settled down in the rustic but comfortable living room.

Noah sat next to Olivia, aching to be alone with her, yet dreading it, too. When she clasped her hands in her lap, he kept himself from reaching for her.

"So what, specifically, did Bainbridge want with you?" Sam Lassiter asked.

Noah had been steeling himself for this moment. For years, he'd kept himself safe by protecting his secret, but these men had pulled out all the stops for him and Olivia.

When he glanced at her, she was staring at him intently. Her expectant expression tipped him over the edge. When he spoke, it was as much for her sake as to enlighten the Light Street team.

"Bainbridge was dying of multiple myeloma and he was looking for a way to extend his life, so he was researching people who made miraculous escapes from death. I guess you know he found out that I'd survived a submarine accident off Grand Cayman," he said, knowing that the long explanation was really a stall.

"Yeah," Jed said. "That's why Carlson came to us."

Noah dragged in a breath and let it out. "Okay, here's the crux of it. I was born in the early fourteenth century. I have no idea why I've lived this long. Bainbridge wanted to find out and use my secret to save his life."

There were exclamations around the room.

Thorn Devereaux cut through the babble. "We knew there was something unusual about you. We didn't figure out what it was."

The matter-of-fact way he said it helped Noah relax a little. "I've made a habit of keeping it hidden."

"I can imagine," Jed answered.

"But I decided I owed your group the truth after what you did for me and Olivia."

"You don't have any clues to your longevity?" Sam Lassiter asked.

Noah shook his head. "And I have a state-of-the-art longevity research laboratory. I haven't been able to find any reason for my long life. I just know that I recover from injuries that would kill an ordinary man."

He lowered his gaze and spoke in a flat voice. "Once when I was chained in a prison, I cut off my left hand to get free."

Olivia gasped.

He held up his hand. "It grew back. I wasn't sure it would, but I took a chance and cut it off."

There was a buzz of excited talk around the room, until Thorn Devereaux began to speak again.

"The Light Street Foundation does some basic medical research. It's headed by Travis Stone. When he recovered from leukemia, he set up some endowments."

"I'd like to talk to him," Noah said.

"That can be arranged," Jed answered.

Thorn cleared his throat. "We have a lot of unusual men in our organization." He grinned at Noah. "I was part of an outer space exploration team that came to your world fifteen hundred years ago."

Noah's jaw dropped as he struggled to take that in. "You what?"

"You heard me right. But I haven't exactly lived as long as you. I was in suspended animation for most of the intervening years, until my wife rescued me. And I know what it's like to be hunted by a megalomaniac because he wants to use you."

While Noah was grappling with that, Jed said, "I was turned into a zombie by a voodoo priest." He laughed. "I don't know how it's affected my life span, though." He continued. "We also have Nick Vickers working for us. He's been around for over two hundred years. But then, he's, uh, a vampire. And then there's one of our technical guys, Luke McMillan, who's sharing his body with the spirit of an ancient warrior."

Noah tried to process all that. Apparently he'd gotten a lot more than he bargained for when he'd called up the Light Street group.

"I'd like to meet Vickers."

"Yeah." Max laughed. "You can talk about old times."

Noah glanced at Olivia, who was looking stunned. As for himself, he'd lucked out. He'd thought he was the only guy in the world with his unusual problem.

When Olivia began to speak, everyone turned toward her. "My husband's probably not going to tell you about it, but Bainbridge had an interesting way of testing Noah. He had me tied to a stake and set the room on fire. The only way to save me was for Noah to run through the flames and put out the fire." She swallowed hard. "He was horribly burned, and I thought he was dead."

"Nice guy," Max muttered.

To fill out the picture, Noah added, "I'd been corresponding for years with Sidney Hemmings. He invited me to a conference in Las Vegas, where we finally met. He scraped my hand with his ring and apparently took a cell sample. I think Bainbridge contacted him, and they got excited about testing me." He gave Olivia a pointed look. "He was at Bainbridge's headquarters and he died in the fire."

There was something else Noah needed to say. He kept his gaze on Olivia. "I didn't want to put anything else on you while we were in captivity. So I didn't tell you that Bainbridge killed your brother."

She nodded numbly.

Jed cleared his throat and looked at Olivia. "In case you don't know it, Ms. Stapler, your brother arranged to have you run over in Las Vegas so he could rope you into his...extortion scheme."

Her jaw dropped. "My brother is responsible for my accident? How do you know?"

"As soon as your husband hired us, we started researching all aspects of the case."

Olivia started to shake, and Noah put his arm around her and held her close. "I'm so sorry," he murmured.

She gave him a shattered look. "He was always jealous of me, always looking for ways to get even. I guess he thought he'd found the perfect scheme," she whispered. "He ruined my career. Then he thought he could control me."

"Only you proved he couldn't."

She huffed out a breath. "I tried. It took you to get me out of there."

Once again Noah wished they could be alone. He was wondering how to gracefully excuse themselves when a cell phone rang.

Max Dakota got up to answer it. He returned a few moments later, his expression serious.

"It's for you," he said, handing the phone to Noah.

"Hello?" he said.

"Noah, you're all right!" It was Thomas.

"Yes."

"The Light Street Detective Agency contacted me when you were kidnapped. But I hadn't gotten a report in hours."

"I guess they were a little busy getting us away from a fiend named Jarred Bainbridge."

Thomas cleared his throat. "There's a situation here. I need you to come home."

"What's wrong?"

"I'd rather not say over the phone." He paused for a moment, then added, "You have to come here."

Noah knew Thomas well, and the tone of his friend's voice told him that something was badly wrong at his estate.

"I'll be there as soon as I can."

After signing off, Noah stood up. "There's a crisis at home. Thomas needs me." He looked at Max Dakota. "I'm hoping I can leave right away."

"We have a plane standing by."

"Thanks. And I'd like to have Olivia stay with you until I know it's safe."

When he started for the door, Olivia closed the space between them and put a hand on his arm. "You're not leaving me behind."

"I don't know what's going on at the ranch. I don't want anything to happen to you," he said, his tone rougher than he intended.

Her eyes narrowed. "Maybe you'd better get used to what being married means."

He felt his stomach drop. She had a point, but she'd picked a bad time to insist. Was she saying she was planning to stay with him—or did her decision depend onhis decision?

She had put him in an agonizing position.

Would she walk away if he gave her the wrong answer? Hoping he could negotiate, he said, "If you're coming, we'd better do this smart."

"I'm listening."

He managed to laugh. "Unfortunately, in this situation, I don't know what smart is." He ran a shaky hand through his hair, wishing he'd had more sleep. And wishing he knew what they'd be facing back home.

Jed Prentiss jumped into the conversation. "Perhaps we can discuss it on the way. It's an hour and a half flight to Santa Barbara."

"You're coming with us?"

"Why go it alone when you can have help?"

They all headed out of the house and got into an SUV which took them to an airstrip where a Gulfstream G500 waited.

"Nice plane," Noah said.

"We share it with Randolph Security. Our two companies are linked together," Sam said. "Actually, Jed and Thorn work for Randolph."

Jed headed for the copilot's seat, and after quick introductions to their pilot, Steve Claiborne, they took off.

The seats in the plane were grouped around a low table. Hunter broke out some sandwiches and soft drinks, and both Noah and Olivia ate and drank hungrily. He longed to get some sleep, but he couldn't afford that luxury.

Still, he leaned back and closed his eyes for a few moments. When he opened them again, Olivia was staring at him. "You look worn out," she said.

"You don't look so good yourself."

She touched her hair. "Thanks."

"We've got a fully equipped bathroom in the back," Jed said. "It's small, but it's got a shower. And we have a change of clothes for both of you, in the back cabin. Why don't both of you freshen up?"

"Good idea," Noah answered. He looked at Olivia, "You want to go first?"

"It will be the fastest shower on record." She got up and walked toward the back of the plane, then reappeared less than ten minutes later looking refreshed and wearing a very nicely cut pair of jeans and a knit shirt.

"How do you feel?" he asked.

"Energized." She sat beside him. "I can't stop thinking about it. What do you think is wrong at your house?"

Noah was facing another mess he didn't want to talk about. This was family business, but in this case, he had to clue them in.

"Thomas, my chief of staff, has a son, Simon, a paranoid schizophrenic who's been fixated on me for years. He shot me in the chest a few days before I came to Las Vegas."

"You've had a pretty eventful couple of weeks," Jed muttered.

"I could do without the excitement." He sighed. "We sent Simon to a private mental hospital. If I had to guess, I'd say he's escaped and is threatening the household."

Olivia's eyes were wide. "He knows he can't kill you."

"Maybe he thinks he's found a way to do it. Which makes me wonder what he's cooking up. And I wonder who else is going to get hurt."

"An explosion?" Jed suggested.

"That's one possibility."

Noah stood up. "I might as well think about it while I'm in the shower."

Like Olivia, he made it fast. When he came back, they were discussing the problem.

"I've got to get in there and find out what's going on," Noah said as he sat back down. He looked around the group. "There's a secret tunnel that leads into the compound."

"Odds are, he forced Thomas to tell him about it," Hunter said.

"I won't know until I get there."

"Untilwe get there," Olivia corrected.

Noah looked at her. "I want you safe."

"He'll know that, which will make me the wild card he's not expecting."

Noah wanted to argue. Unfortunately he knew she was right. The question was, why did she want to put herself in danger when she could stay out of this?

He ached to ask her, but her reasons would have to wait.

Although they made some tentative plans, Noah knew that it was impossible to get on top of the situation before they arrived. There were just too many variables. He needed to know how many people Simon was holding captive and where.

Or was it even Simon? He was the most obvious choice, but there was no way to know for sure.

In Santa Barbara a car was waiting at the airport for them, and they started north.

When they were within a couple of miles of the estate, Noah asked Jed to slow the car.

"Because Simon's probably using my long-range scanning system, we'd better stop here."

Jed nodded. "Where should I leave the car?"

"There's a grove of live oaks up ahead. Pull in there."

When they were out of the vehicle, they tested the communication equipment the Light Street men had brought. It was a lot more conventional than the capsule he'd swallowed the day before, and it allowed for two-way transmissions.

As they looked toward the house, Jed turned back to Noah. "Do you also have the monitors set to capture foot traffic?"

"It can be calibrated that way, but that takes some special adjustments."

"Can we get under it?"

He laughed. "Crawl for a mile? I don't think we're up to that kind of stress at the moment. We can walk until the last three hundred yards."

To minimize their exposure, they came in single file, with Noah in the lead. He took them to the front entrance and opened the locked gate, thankful he'd gotten Olivia to agree to go with the others. Hopefully, he'd be the only one in real danger when he went in through the tunnel.

Olivia made his throat constrict by asking, "What if we're in a tight spot, and you need to distract Simon?"

He had thought they were all set. Now she tried to upset the plan. "I don't want you calling attention to yourself."

She kept her gaze focused on him. "What signal would you give me if you need me to do something to get his attention?"

"Nothing."

"Don't say nothing. I want to agree on a signal—just in case you need my help. The way we worked it when we were escaping from that guy in the hospital. Only I don't want either one of us having to guess about what we're doing."

He sighed. "Okay. If I say..." He thought for a moment. "If I say 'Kiss my ass' to him, you can jump into action."

The men around him laughed, and he knew they assumed it was never going to happen.

It wasn't. But if having a signal made Olivia happy, fine.

"We'd better get going," Max said.

"Right."

Unable to keep his feelings to himself, he reached for Olivia, pulled her close and gave her a hard kiss.

"Take care of yourself," he whispered.

"You, too."

"We'll talk when this is over," he promised, then slipped along the wall toward the tunnel.

No one challenged him as he pushed aside the brush that hid the entrance to the tunnel and stepped inside.

His weapon at the ready, he hurried toward the main compound until a noise over the com unit stopped him cold. It sounded like Jed urgently calling his name.

He pressed the button. "Sorry, I can't understand you. Try again."

When the only answer he got was static, he knew something was wrong—either with the communications equipment, or they'd badly misjudged the situation inside the house.

He was trying to decide what to do, when a voice behind him gave a sharp order.

"Hold it right there, or your wife and your friends die."

Chapter Fifteen

Noah whirled around and stared at the man with the gun, trying to figure out if he was hallucinating.

"How did you get off the mountain?" he asked.

Pearson Stapler answered with a satisfied smile. "I guess I lead a charmed life. Your friend Dr. Hemmings wanted to find out more about you. He'd learned where you live, so he sprang me from Bainbridge's prison and sent me here."

"Bainbridge said he killed you."

Pearson shrugged. "He gave the order, but Hemmings made sure it wasn't carried out."

Too bad, Noah was thinking as he kept his gaze trained on the man. He'd helped himself to some clothing from Noah's closet—a pair of black slacks, a white dress shirt and a beige cashmere sweater.

"If you're thinking about jumping me, don't. Simon's got your friends, your wife and Thomas under his control. I made sure of that before I let you know I was behind you. And he can hear what we're saying. Understood?"

"Yes," he answered, trying to keep his voice unemotional when he wanted to scream in rage.

Stapler smiled in satisfaction. "When I got here, I found Simon had taken over the house. He was surprised to see me, but he realized I could be an asset because there are two ways into this place and each of us could cover one. He's a fount of information about you. And thanks for the change of clothing, by the way. I was a little the worse for wear after that cell on the mountain."

"If you trust Simon, you're making a big mistake," Noah answered, punching out the words.

"The way I see it, he's a very logical guy. You're going to pay us a lot to get us out of your life."

Oh sure, Noah thought. I just bet you're going to volunteer to get out of my life. What he said was, "All right."

"Thomas spilled the beans about the Light Street Detective Agency. Simon figured you'd take the more dangerous route in here and send in the main party through the front door. He was waiting for them there."

Noah bit back a string of curses. Instead, he kept his voice even when he said, "Let the rest of them go."

"We can't do that. You'd jump us. Because Simon's sure you can't be killed, the others are our hold on you." As he spoke, Stapler clicked the microphone clipped to his collar. "I'm bringing Fielding around. If you don't continue to hear from me, eliminate the others."

"Is Thomas all right?" Noah asked.

"I guess you'll find out."

Noah fought the sick feeling rising in his throat. He wanted to shout that Simon was crazy and trusting him was like playing Russian roulette. But if he said any of that, Simon would hear. Which was also dangerous.

His mind scrambled for a way out as he walked ahead of Olivia's brother. He expected to go to the main house. Instead, they headed for one of the old buildings that he used for storage.

As they walked, he kept scanning the grounds. Nobody else was around. So was his staff dead?

He struggled to keep his fear for them under control. A lot of people could have gotten hurt, and it was his own damn fault.

When he stepped into the storage building, he found Olivia and Thomas sitting on wooden packing crates against the wall. They were handcuffed, and Thomas appeared to have been beaten.

Olivia's gaze shot to him. "Are you all right?"

"Are you?"

"Shut up," Simon growled.

Dread leaped inside Noah. "Where are the men who came with me?"

Simon shrugged.

Unable to control himself, Noah bellowed, "Dammit! Tell me where they are."

Thomas's son gave him a satisfied look. "They're in a separate storeroom. We don't need them for this meeting. This is an executive session."

Were they still alive? There was no way to know. If they were, maybe they could free themselves. Still, he couldn't count on that.

While he considered all the angles, Noah struggled for calm. He had to get control of this situation somehow. The logical place to start was an evaluation of Simon. His hair was neatly combed, his clothing clean and well-fitting, his face smoothly shaven. If Noah had met him on the street, he'd have thought he was normal, except for the bulky jacket he was wearing and the gun in his hand. What was with that jacket?

Noah's attention darted back to Olivia as he heard her gasp. Apparently her brother had stayed beyond the doorway to make a dramatic entrance.

"Pearson?" She stared in disbelief at him. "I thought you were dead."

He smiled at her. "I keep coming back like a bad penny, don't I?"

"How...how did you get away?"

"Like I told your husband, Dr. Hemmings knew I could be of use to him. He freed me and sent me here."

"That's enough chatting," Simon said. "Good work. You can put down your gun now."

"I'd rather keep it."

"I'm the only one who can have a gun in this hostage situation," Simon said, with an edge in his voice.

"Okay." Looking reluctant, Pearson set down his weapon, then said, "We should get the money and get going."

As he picked up the weapon and pocketed it, Simon shook his head. "That's not the plan."

"You said—"

"Shut up!"

Pearson clamped his lips together, his face going from smug to panicked. Maybe he was just now realizing that he was dealing with a man who was as predictable as a hurricane.

Simon pulled out another set of handcuffs. "Put these on and join your sister."

"But—"

"Do it!"

When Olivia's brother still hesitated, Simon shot at the floor in front of his feet, barely missing his running shoes.

With a shriek, Pearson jumped back. "Stop. Okay, stop."

"Put on the cuffs and sit down."

He clicked the handcuffs onto his wrists, then sat on one of the boxes.

"Just so we get everything straight," Simon said in a conversational voice, "I want you to know that I'm wearing one of those vests like the suicide bombers use. So if anyone in here tries anything funny, I'll blow myself up." He giggled, and the sound scraped against Noah's nerve endings.

The blood drained from Olivia's face.

"I'm sorry," Thomas said.

"Shut up, Father dear. I brought you here as a hostage, not to give your opinion. Well, maybe later we can have a family confab, but right now I have to deal with Fielding."

Thomas closed his mouth again.

Simon pulled out another pair of handcuffs, which he kicked toward Noah. "Put them on, then join the peanut gallery." He pointed to another packing crate about ten feet away from the other prisoners.

Silently raging against the helpless feeling in his gut, Noah clicked on the cuffs and sat.

Simon's attention was still on him. "So now you're finally going to tell us all the truth," Simon said, "or I start shooting my father and your wife. And I don't mean shoot to kill. I'll start with stuff like knee caps. And I don't think they're going to regenerate the way you do."

Noah ground his teeth together.

"My father's been keeping your secret all his life," Simon said. "But I figured it out. When I was a kid, I used to poke around here and in your other storerooms. I found stuff. You weren't just an antique collector. You saved a lot of personal things from your past lives, didn't you?"

"Yes."

"How old are you?" Simon asked suddenly.

Noah sighed. He'd given away that secret a couple of times already in the past few days. "I was born in the fourteenth century," he said.

"I thought so!"

Noah doubted that Simon had been that precise, but he wasn't going to argue about it.

"And when did you kill your first man?"

Noah glanced at Olivia, then away. "In Italy. When I was exporting antiquities to England in the fourteenth century. I was suspicious of one of my employees and followed him to my warehouse. He was robbing the place. When I confronted him, he went after me with a knife, and I turned it on him."

"So you say."

"Why would I lie?"

"To make yourself look better to your wife," Simon spat out, and Noah heard the hatred in his voice.

"She knows exactly what I am," he said.

"How many women have you raped over the years?" Simon suddenly asked.

"None."

"I don't believe you. You're completely immoral."

"Suit yourself."

"You've kept my father in bondage his whole life."

"No!" Thomas protested. "He was always fair with me!"

Simon swung the gun toward him. "One more outburst like that and you're dead."

The way Simon said it and the tone of his voice sent a chill skittering up Noah's spine. Simon was teetering on the edge of control and he might not last much longer. If he went berserk, he could kill Olivia and Thomas, no matter what Noah did. And Pearson would be collateral damage. Too bad for him that he hadn't had the sense to get out while he could. The prospect of acquiring some of Noah Fielding's wealth had been too tempting.

"How many men have you killed?" Simon asked Noah.

"As few as possible." He stared at Simon, who was also sitting on one of the packing crates. For the first time, Noah looked at the words written on the side and realized with a jolt that it contained stone blocks from a garden wall he'd built in France. He'd loved that garden and he'd wanted to take part of it with him when he had to leave.

Perhaps those blocks gave him an option. If Simon was on the floor on the other side of the box, the stone might be thick enough to shield the other people in the room if Simon set off the explosives he was wearing. Or was the thick jacket just a bluff? That was a possibility, of course. But Noah couldn't risk Thomas's and Olivia's lives on that assumption.

Noah calculated the distance between himself and Simon. How fast could he spring across those eight feet?

His gaze flicked to the captives. Thomas looked angry, Pearson looked like he was about to wet himself and Olivia clenched her hands in her lap, her shoulders rigid. When he looked at her, she looked back, her gaze boring into him, and he knew that she was trying to remind him of their earlier agreement.

He'd wanted to keep her out of this, but she was smack in the middle of the action. But just maybe she was the key to neutralizing Simon.

"I want to know how many men you've killed. You must have kept count," Simon prodded, relentless. "Answer me, you bastard, or you'll be sorry. And don't you dare lie, or your wife is going to get it in the knee!"

Knowing it could all go wrong in the next instant, Noah glared at Simon and growled, "Kiss my ass."

Olivia made a strangled sound as she stood up. "Leave us alone," she shouted. "You're the bastard. We haven't done anything to you so leave us alone."

She started to scream at the top of her lungs, and Simon turned his gun on her.

Noah made his move, leaping across the eight feet that separated him from Simon. The gun swung back toward him, but Noah was already there, grabbing for Simon's hands as he shoved the man over the box and onto the cement floor, where he landed with a thud.

For a moment Noah thought he was home free—that the suicide bomber's vest was just a bluff.

Beneath him, Simon struggled to move his arm. The explosion came seconds later, and Noah was engulfed by searing pain. Maybe this was it.

Finally.

The end of Noah Fielding.

Chapter Sixteen

Noah woke up the way he always did—probably because the bulletproof vest under his clothing had saved him from the worst of the blast. He'd objected to wearing it when the Light Street men had given it to him. Now he was glad he'd listened to them.

Still, his chest hurt like a son of a bitch. And he knew from the pain in the lower part of his body that he'd suffered some damage to his legs.

When his eyes blinked open, he saw that he was lying on his own bed and that Olivia was in a chair beside him.

"You're awake," she said softly.

"We have to stop meeting this way," he managed to say.

When she burst into tears, he groped for her hand and held it tightly. "I'm sorry," he got out.

"For saving my life?"

He could see her struggling for control. "No. Not that. Never that."

"For what?"

He might have said, for being alive. But he was glad to be here, more glad than he had been in a long time.

"For putting you in danger again."

She swiped her hand across her eyes and gave him a direct look. "You didn'tput me in danger. I volunteered."

"And you were very brave to pull Simon's attention toward you."

"I think it was the only way."

"Are you all right?"

"I got hit by some debris. No big deal." Still needing to know the exact situation, he asked, "What happened to Thomas and the Light Street guys?"

"The Light Street men are all right. Like Simon told you, they were in another building. We freed them."

She laughed. "They were embarrassed at being caught at the front gate."

"Better embarrassed than dead. I can identify with that."

"Nobody expected my brother to have both entrances covered."

"How is Thomas?" Noah asked, anxious for word of his old friend.

"He took a few hits the way I did, but I pulled him behind the crate with me when you made your move." She heaved in a breath and let it out. "Simon's dead. And so is Pearson. Instead of ducking for shelter, he ran for the door, and some serious pieces of debris caught him in the back."

"I…"

"Don't say you're sorry again. He was rotten. I never knew how rotten until Jed told me about his arranging that accident in the parking lot."

"Yeah. It's hard to believe he could do that to you."

"I still have trouble wrapping my mind around it." She kept her hand in his, which seemed like a good sign for the two of them.

"Thomas is waiting to speak to you. Will it upset you to see him?"

"No. Send him in."

She jumped up and went to the door. Moments later, Thomas was standing by the bed.

"Sir, I'm so sorry."

"Yeah, everybody's sorry," Noah said, trying not to sound weary. "But it worked out."

"I caused you a lot of trouble."

Noah shook his head. "Not you. Simon. He had a real talent for breaking out of that hospital."

Thomas nodded. "This time he used bribes. He'd told some of the staff that he could make them very rich."

"I assume they've been fired?"

"Yes, sir."

The mention of staff made Noah think about his own people. "What about everyone else here? Are they all right?"

"Some, like Pablo, were bound and gagged. Simon forced me to tell the others that there was a threat here, and they had to clear out."

Noah sighed. "I hope we can get them back."

"Margarita is already in the kitchen fixing you chicken soup. And some of the others are on the compound, too."

"Good. We'll have to give everybody who comes back a nice fat bonus."

"An excellent idea."

He could see Thomas needed more time with him.

"Do you want me to leave?" Olivia asked.

"No. Please stay," they both said.

She hovered near the door while Noah and Thomas talked.

"Are you planning to stay here—at this estate?" the chief of staff asked.

Noah glanced at Olivia, then back at his old friend. "I believe everyone who knew my secret is dead. Well, except the Light Street men, and I trust them implicitly. I believe it's safe to stay here while we evaluate our options."

"Your options," Thomas said.

"Both of us. I'd never discount your counsel."

Thomas nodded gravely. Then Noah asked to see the Light Street men.

Jed and Thorn came in, looking sheepish. "Sorry we got scooped up," Jed said.

"We're not used to getting caught with our pants down," Thorn added.

"We were all in a hurry," Noah answered. "If I hadn't rushed you into danger, we would have had time to figure out the situation."

They spoke for a few more minutes, with Noah doing his best to assure the men that nobody could have done any better.

Finally, he told them he was worn out and needed to rest.

"Come here," Noah said to Olivia when they were alone together.

She took her seat again. "You made them feel okay about what happened."

"Itwas okay."

"But you always know the right thing to say to people."

"Everyone but you," he said in a gritty voice. "Now that we're finally able to talk, tell me why you insisted on putting yourself in danger."

"I guess I was testing myself—to see if I have what it takes."

"For what?"

"To be the woman you deserve." She looked down at her hands. "Well, that's impossible, of course."

He felt like a great weight had settled on his chest. "I have a lot of experience with women. I knew right away that you were the right one for me."

"Except for the fundamental problem that I'm going to grow old and die and you'll still be young. There's nothing we can do about that."

"We can try," he said softly. "Medical science is making new discoveries every day. Remember what the Light Street men told us about the foundation that's run by Travis Stone? I want to talk to him about putting a major amount of money into longevity research. I'll submit to any test they can think of, if they want to study me. Except running through fire."

"Oh Lord." Her voice hitched. "That was horrible."

Pushing himself up, he reached for her. When she came into his arms and nestled against him, he let out the breath he'd been holding. "I love you. I'll do everything I can to make you happy."

"I love you." Raising her head, she looked him in the eye. "I had a lot of time to think about what your life must have been like. I know how lonely you've been and I hope I can make you happy."

His heart swelled, but he knew they still needed to work some things out. "I wasn't thinking about what you needed when I brought you here. Well, beyond keeping you safe. Really, I was being selfish about wanting you in my life."

When she started to speak, he held up his hand. "Let me finish. I know that puttering around in the kitchen and decorating the house aren't going to keep you busy and happy. Do you have any better suggestions?"

"I'd want to visit my father."

"Of course." He stroked his hand up and down her arm. "If you want to bring him out here, we could have round-the-clock nurses for him."

Her eyes shone. "That would be wonderful! If he's up to it."

"Anything I can do for you or your father, I will."

"It's just sinking in—how much my life has changed," she whispered. Raising up, she met his eyes. "Money's really no object."

"Well, unless you want something like a flight to the moon. And maybe even that could be arranged."

"Nothing so out of the ordinary. I used to dream of having a dance studio. Would you mind if I had a studio in Santa Barbara? I can't dance professionally but I can still teach kids the skills I love."

"Of course."

She sighed. "I was afraid you wouldn't want me going into town every day."

"Maybe we can compromise on four times a week," he answered.

"That gives me an excuse for limiting my hours. I can say my husband wants me home." She tightened her hold on him. "Yes, I definitely think my husband and I need a lot of quality time together."

"You could start by locking the door."

She raised her head and grinned at him, then looked uncertain. "We still have guests in the house. The Light Street men."

"I'm sure Thomas is making them comfortable. We'll come out and join them in a few hours. But they know we're just married. They probably figure we want to be alone for a while."

"Just married," she murmured, her eyes warm. "You made me an offer I couldn't refuse. I just didn't understand what the two of us would mean to each other."

She hugged him, then climbed off the bed, walked to the door and clicked the lock. She was magnificent looking, so tall and straight with a dancer's grace. He watched her possessively. His wife. He marveled again that they had met and that he'd had the sense to make her part of his life.

"You could have left me after that stunt Bainbridge pulled," he said in a thick voice. "I'm so thankful you gave me a chance."

"You proved how much you loved me when you saved me. I just had to figure out how I was going to cope."

"I—"

She put her fingers against his lips to silence him.

Then she leaned over and replaced her fingers with her mouth, giving him a long, passionate kiss.

Noah wrapped her in his embrace and brought her down beside him on the bed.

For long moments he simply held her. When he needed more assurance, his hands began to move urgently over her. As he cupped her breasts and began to play with the tight buds of her nipples, she arched into the caress—then suddenly pulled away.

"What?"

She raised her head and met his questioning gaze. "I want you to know how much I love you. Do you have any objections to a woman in charge?"

"Of course not," he answered, wondering what she had in mind, but sure he was going to like it.

"Then lie back and relax."

He plumped one pillow behind his head, then stretched out, his gaze never leaving her.

When he'd gotten comfortable, she knelt beside him on the bed and stroked his shoulders, pushing the covers down so that her fingers could comb through the hair on his chest before finding his nipples and playing with them.

When he exhaled sharply, she grinned in satisfaction, then slowly rolled down the covers farther, exposing him from the knees up.

As she reached to cup her hand over the erection straining at the front of his briefs, he couldn't hold back a heartfelt exclamation. But why hold back? He wanted her to know how much he was enjoying this.

"I see you love getting a rise out of me," he murmured, unable to keep the grin out of his voice.

"Oh yeah. Help me out a little. Raise your hips."

He did as she asked, and she slid his briefs down his legs, exposing him to her hungry gaze and touch. Slowly, she stroked his ribs, then his abdomen. His muscles jumped under her fingers. When she bypassed his erection and ran her nails down one of his thighs to his knees, he made a pleading sound.

"Maybe I'd better get comfortable," she murmured.

Smiling at him, she stood and unbuttoned her shirt, tossing it to the floor. Then she slowly unhooked her bra and flung it after the shirt, standing proud to give him a view of her magnificent breasts.

It was all he could do to keep from surging off the bed and grabbing her. But he ordered himself to stay where he was and let her torture him.

He'd obviously married a very talented woman and he wanted to find out how she would finish this, if he didn't go crazy first.

As he watched in appreciation, she unzipped her pants and slicked them down her legs, along with her panties.

Unable to stop himself, he reached toward her. "Come here," he begged.

She shook her head and tortured him some more by playing with the blond hair at the juncture of her legs.

"Have mercy," he whispered.

Arching her back, she lifted her hair off her shoulders, then let it fall again, smiling as his gaze followed every move she made.

Finally, to his vast relief, she slid back onto the bed. Reaching out, she delicately glided one finger along his swollen length. To keep from grabbing for her, he caught two handfuls of the sheets.

"Look at what you're doing to me," he breathed.

"To me, too," she said, continuing to stroke him with one finger, before closing her fist around him.

He gasped, then moaned as she lowered her head, replacing the hand with her mouth as she swirled her

beautiful hair against his chest.

The feel of her lips and tongue on him was exquisite, pushing him toward what he knew was going to be a rocketing climax.

"Not like this," he pleaded. "I want you with me. All the way."

"Oh, yes."

In one quick motion, she straddled him, bringing him inside her.

He struggled to wait for her, but he found he didn't need to. As she leaned forward and moved frantically above him, he felt her contract around him, heard her cry out in satisfaction.

Seconds later, he followed her over the edge.

When she collapsed on top of him, he gathered her close, kissing her and stroking her back and hips.

"I love you," he said.

"I love you—for as long as I can have you."

"I think we've found a love that defies the ages," he answered, clasping her to him.

She slid to the surface of the bed and nestled beside him. For a few moments, she seemed relaxed, until he felt tension gather in her.

"What is it?"

When she raised her head, her eyes were uncertain, but she kept them focused on his face. "You said you couldn't have children, right?"

"Yes. I'm sorry."

She pressed her fingers over his lips. "I should have gotten my period. I'm always right on time. And now...now I feel different. I was saying something to Margarita—not anything, you know, revealing. But she's pretty smart. And she had one of those early pregnancy tests..."

He raised his head, staring at her. "Are you trying to tell me you...you're pregnant?" he asked in a strangled voice.

"Yes."

"Oh Lord!"

Her eyes clouded. "You hate the idea? Or you don't think it's yours?"

"Of course I think it's mine!" He sat up and raked his hand through his hair. "I mean, I know you..." He stopped and started again more softly, "This is a miracle."

"Maybe it means something important," she murmured.

"Yes." He gathered her to him. "Children. I've had so many in my life, but never one of my own. Finally. After all these years."

She stroked his cheek with her lips. "I'm so happy that I could give you something nobody else ever has."

"Something precious."

They held each other for long moments.

"I want to savor this, but we should see to our guests," she murmured.

"Right. The sooner we go thank them again, the sooner we can be alone for some quality snuggling."

She laughed. "You're being devious."

"Only in a good cause," he answered, his heart overflowing with love for this woman and all the gifts she had given him.

ISBN: 978-1-4268-3822-4

MORE THAN A MAN

Copyright © 2009 by Ruth Glick

All rights reserved. Except for use in any review, the reproduction or utilization of this work in whole or in part in any form by any electronic, mechanical or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including xerography, photocopying and recording, or in any information storage or retrieval system, is forbidden without the written permission of the publisher, Harlequin Enterprises Limited, 225 Duncan Mill Road, Don Mills, Ontario, Canada M3B 3K9.

This is a work of fiction. Names, characters, places and incidents are either the product of the author's imagination or are used fictitiously, and any resemblance to actual persons, living or dead, business establishments, events or locales is entirely coincidental.

This edition published by arrangement with Harlequin Books S.A.

® and TM are trademarks of the publisher. Trademarks indicated with ® are registered in the United States Patent and Trademark Office, the Canadian Trade Marks Office and in other countries.

www.eHarlequin.com